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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL

Adverse Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Byblos Bank SAL (the “Bank™) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of compreheunsive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matters discussed in the “Basis for Adverse Opinion”
section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present fairly the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Adverse Opinion

1. Asdisclosed in Note 49.2 to the consclidated financiai statements, the Group holds assets with the Central
Bank of Lebanon, a portfolic of Lebanese government debt securities, a portfolio of loans to the private
sector and other assets concentrated in Lebanon. As disclosed in Note 1, the accompanying consclidated
financial statements do not include [FRS 9 adjustments to the carrying amounts of these assets and related
disclosures that would result from the resolution of the uncertainties disclosed therein and the future
effects of the economic crisis and the restructuring plan. In addition, as disclosed in Note 48, these
consolidated financial statements do not include IFRS 13 fair value disclosures for these financial assets
and other financial instruments concenirated in Lebanon. Had such adjustments and disclosures been
made, many elements and related disclosures in the accompanying consclidated financial statements
would have been materially affected. The effects on these consolidated financial statements have not been
determined.

2. As disclosed in Note 48 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group holds unquoted equity
instruments measured using unobservable data amounting to LL 65,712 million. It is not possible to
determine the future effects that the economic crisis described in Note | would have on the carrying
amounts of these assets. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments should
have been recorded on these amounts.

3. The events and conditions described in Note 1 and the matters described in paragraph 1 above, affect the
liquidity, solvency and profitability of the Group and represent events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. We were unable 10 obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and the
accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include an adequate disclosure of management’s
plan to deal with the events and conditions giving rise to the material uncertainty. In addition, as disclosed
in Notes 1 and 53 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not comply with Central Bank
of Lebanon Intermediary Circular 534 towards maintaining the minimum capital adequacy ratio levels as
at 31 December 2015.
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Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)

4. Asdisclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, due to regulatory requirements enacted
since 2016, the Group carried excess provisions of LL 155,494 million (the “excess provisions™) as at
31 December 2018. This caused us to qualify our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
relating o previous years affected by these regulatory requirements as these transactions constitute a
departure from International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). During 2019, the Group wrote-
back an amount of LL 16,507 million from the excess provisions which was recorded under “Other
operating income” in the consolidated income statement.

Accordingly, “Loss for the year” ended 31 December 2019 is understated by LL 16,507 million (2018:
“Profit for the year” is overstated by LL 8,274 million), and *“Other liabilities” are overstated and “Total
equity” is understated by LL 138,987 million as at 31 Decernber 2019 (2018: LL 155,494 million).

We conducted cur audit in accordance with [nternational Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Fingncial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in Lebanon, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. Except for the matters
described in the “Basis for Adverse Opinion” section of our report, we have determined that there are no
other key audit matters to communicate in our report.

Other Information Included in the Group’s 2019 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2019 Annual Report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Management is responsible for the other
information. The Group’s 2019 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this
auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicabie, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are (o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

s Identify and assess the risks of material misstaternent of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conelude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the conselidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audif evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findirgs, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safepuards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
preciudes public disclosure about the matter or when, in exiremely rare circumstances, we determing that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Emst & Young { g BDO »@/aan Gholam &

30 June 2020
Beirut, Lebanon




Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2019

MNotes

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Interest and similar income 6
[nterest and similar expense 7

NET INTEREST INCOME

Fee and commission income 8
Fee and commission expensc 8§

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Nel gain from financial asscts at fair value ihrough profil or loss 9
Net gain {loss) from derccognition of financial assets sl amorlised cost 10
Non-interest revenues from financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income 25
Other operaling income L1

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME
Net impairment loss on financial asscts 12

NET OPERATING INCOME

Personnel expenscs 13
Other operating expenses 14
Depreciation of property, equipment and right-of-use assets 26
Amoriisation of intangible assets 27

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

OPERATING (LOSS) PROFIT

Nel gain from disposal of property, equipmeni and night-o[Fuse assets

(1.0SS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income Lax expense 15
(LOSS) PROFTT AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 16

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:

Equity halders of the parent
fl.oss) profit for the year from continuing operafions
Loss for the year from discontinued operations

Non-~controlling interests
Profit for the year from coniwuing operations
Loss for the year from discontirued operations

(1.0ss) carnings per share
Equity holders of the parent:
Basic (loss) eamings per share 17
Diluted (loss) camings per share 17
(1.oss) earnings per share from continuing operations
Equity holders of the parcnt:
Basic (loss) earnings per sharg from continuing operations
Diluted (loss) camings per share {rom conlinuing operaifons

The attached notes 1 to 55 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

2019 2018
LI mitlion LI mulfion
2,394 344 2,038,692
2,032,819) (1,513,946)
361,525 494 746
157,205 157,483
(13,161) (12,420)
144,044 T 145,063
17,620 16,451
11,631 (3,119)
2,634 5,569
79,700 42,539
617,154 701,249
(422,891) (14,170)
194,263 687,079
(186,975) (211,334)
{127,760) (148 435)
(23,577) (16,905)
(4,302) (3.164)
(342,614) (379,838)
(148,351) 307,241
2,234 120
(146,117 307,361
(37,065) (57.495)
(183,182 249,866
- (2.472)
(183,182 247303
(183,553) 238,940
(183,553) 241,099
- (2.159)

a7 8454

371 8,767

- (313}
(183,182) 247304
LL LL
(326.42) 338,14
(230.72) 31875
(326.42) 34158
(230.72) 321.92
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Note

(Loss) profit for the year from continuing operations
Loss for the year from discontinued operations

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Items to be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent periods:

Net unrealized loss from debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Income tax effect

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations

Net other comprehensive loss to be reclassified to the income
statement in subsequent periods

ftems not to be reclassified to the income statement in subseguent

periods:

Net unrealized gain (loss) from equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Income tax effect

Re-measurement gains on defined benefii plans 35(a)

Net other comprehensive income nof to be reclassified to the income
statement in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

The aflached notes | to 55 form part of these consolidated financizal statements.

2019 2018
LL mitlion LL million
(183,182) 249,866
- (2,472)
(183,182) 247,394
(30,557) (1,225)
4,129 269
(26,428) (956)
(2,237) (7,363)
(28,665) (8,319)
202 (14,626)

29) 1,956

173 (12,670)

1,839 15,975
2,012 3,305
(26,653) (5,014)
(209,835) 242,380
(208,453) 235,104
(1,382) 7,276
(209,835) 242,380
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Notes LL mittlon LL million
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 18 14,941,646 16,324,122
Due from banks and financial institotions 19 2,545,288 3,854,751
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchass agreements 20 356,710 363,633
Derivative finaneial instruments 21 703 1,899
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 83,551 90,450
Net loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 23 6,713,825 8,178229
Net toans and advances to related parties at amortised cost 44 24,556 24,931
Debtors by acceptances 154,860 362,091
Financial asseis at amonised cost 24 7,422,536 7,716,276
Funancial assets at fair value through other cormprehensive income 25 242,984 228,429
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets 26 337,006 271,963
Intangible assets 27 19,840 17,727
Non-cwrent assets held for sale 28 71,682 51,405
QOther assets 29 125,608 141,882
TOTAL ASSETS 33,040,795 37,697,828
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabllities
Due to central banks 30 1,528,796 3,870,523
Due to banks and financial institutions 31 1,239,392 1,266,070
Derivative financial instruments 21 908 1,802
Customers’ deposits at amortised cost 2 25,968,431 27,418,142
Deposits from relaied parties ai amortised cost 44 225,634 421,172
Dbt issued and other borrowed funds 33 441,828 451,30}
Engagements by acceptances 155,119 362,091
Other liabilities 34 356,800 354,777
Provisions for risks and charges 35 183,307 230,423
Subordinated debt 36 429,792 426 418
TOTAL LIABILITIES 30,530,007 34,802,719
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital — commoa shares 37 684,273 684 273
Share capital — preferred shares 37 4,340 4,840
Share premium — common shares 37 229,014 229014
Share premium — preferred sharcs LX) 591,083 591,083
Non-distributable reserves ag 1,026,565 982,040
Dustributable reserves g 124,998 115,652
Treasury shares 40 (8,967) (7,108)
Retained eamings 96,728 77,050
Revaloation resecve of real estate 41 5,689 5,689
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 42 {39,909) {15,462)
Net results of the financizl period (183,553) 238,940
Fareign currency translation reserve (52,918) (50,603)
2,477,343 2,856,411
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 32,945 38,698
TOTAL EQUITY 1,510,788 2,895,109
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 33,040,795 37,697,828

The consotidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors
on 30 June 2020 by:

Bk

Sem _I_(Ba(fsnﬂy Ziad El Zoghbi
Chaz'ra]" and General Manager Head of Finance and Administration

The attached notes | to 55 form part of these consclidated financial statements.
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 3] December 2019

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
{Loss) profit beflore tax from continuing opcrations
Loss before tax from discontinucd operations

{Loss) prafit before tax

Adjustments 10 reconctile prolil belore tax 1o net cash flows
Depreciation and amorusation
Net impaument loss on [inancial assets
Gam on dispesal of property, equipment and right-of-use assets
Gain on disposal of non-current assets held for sale
Pravigions for rnisks and charges, net
Unreaiized fair value losses on financial wstcuments gt Tair value theough profit or loss
Realized gains from Ninancial assels
Loss an dispasal of discontinued opetations
Foreign curmency Uranslation logses on disposal of subsidiary, net
Deerivabve financial instrments

Operzting profii before working capital changes

Changes in operating assels and Listilives
Nue fram central banks
Due o ceniral banks
Due from banks and financia) institutions
Finaacial assels a1 fair value through profit or Joss
Due to banks and financial sastietions
Net loans and advances to cusipmers and related partics
Non-currem assets held for sale
Proceeds from sale af non-current assels held lor sale
Other assets
Customers’ and related parties’ deposus
Other habilives

Cash (used ) ftom operations
Provisions for risks and charges pawl
Taxalen paid

Net cash (used in) from operating activitles

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Financial assels al amorlised cost

Financial assets a1 fair value through other cormprehens ive income

Loans to banks and hinancial ingtitulions and reverse repucchase agreements
Purchase of progerty, equipment and right-ol—use agsels

Purchase of intangible assets

Procceds from sale of property, equipment and right-of-use assets

Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations

Net cash from Investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Debl issued and other bortowed (unds
Subordmated debt

Treasury shares

Divigends paid Lo equity bolders of the parent
Dwidends paid to nan-controtling inleresis
Lease habihity payments

Net cash wsed in financing activities

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Net foreign exchange difference m respect of cash and cash cquivalents
Cash and cash equivalenis at | fanuary

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER
Operational cash flows from interest and dividends

Interest pind

[nterest received
Dividend recerved

2019 2018

MNaies LEL million LI mdtion
(146,117} 367,361

- {2472}

(146,117) 304,389

26 & 27 278719 20,009
12 422,89 14,170
(2,23) (120

I (817N (45)
(42,575) (17,787

397 7,044

(271,918) (17,239

- 2,472

- (4,350)

302 {831

232,108 A08.212

1,375,294 {3,740.210)

(2,354,373) 2,987 821

(3,023) (36,490

22,829 183237

79,776 124 456

1,374,882 (22,851)

28 (20,563) (8,203)
803 1,736

16,274 (40,136)

(1,645,241 T2 430

(29,204) (18,581)

(950,444) 421,460

35 (4,393 (28,095}
15 (54,335) (31,828}
(1,009,174) 361,543

172,51 396,744

(18,699} (124,502)

41,824 {85,019

24 (57,497T) (30,573)
27 (6,419) (8011
8,945 3098

16 - 12,060
140,324 163,797

(9,473) (2.255)

3,314 3,423

(1,862) (1,103

54 (167,833) {187,908)
(4371) {4,164)

{6,203) -

(186,368) {172,007)

(1,055,218) 353,333

(9,802) (7,269)

6,485,570 6,139,506

43 5,420,550 6485570
(2,042,065} {1,497 607)

2,333,662 1,958,437

2,768 3323

The attached notes 1 to 55 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Byblos Bank SAL (the “Bank™), a Lebanese joint stock company, was incorporated in 1961 and registered under
No 14150 at the commercial registry of Beirut and under No 39 on the banks’ list published by the Ceniral Bank
of Lebanon, The Bank’s head office is located in Ashrafieh, Elias Sarkis Street, Beirut, Lebanon. The Bank’s
shares are listed on the Beirut Stock Exchange and London SEAQ.

The Bank, together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group™), provides a wide range of banking and
insurance services, through its headquarters and branches in Lebanon and its presence in Europe, Middle East and
Africa.

1.1 Macroeconomic environment

More than 90% of the Group’s operations during 2019 were in Lebanon that has been wimessing, since 17 Cctober
2019, severe events that have set off an interconnected fiscal, monetary and economic crises as well as deep
recession that have reached unprecedent levels.

Sovereign credit ratings have witnessed a series of downgrades by all major rating agencies and reached the level
of default when, on 7 March 2020, the Lebanese Republic announced that it will withhold payment on the bonds
due on 9 March 2020, which was followed by ancther announcement on 23 March 2020 for the discontinuation
of payments on all of its US Dollars denominated Eurobonds.

Throughout this sequence of events, the ability of the Lebanese Government and the banking sector in Lebanon
to borrow funds from international markets was significantly affected. Banks have imposed unofficial capital
controls, restricted transfers of foreign currencies outside Lebanon and significantly reduced credit lines to
companies and withdrawal of cash to private depositors, all of which added to the disruption of the country’s
gconomic activity, as the economic model of Lebanon relies mainly on imports and consumption. Businesses are
downsizing, closing or going bankrupt and unemployment and poverty are rising fast and have reached
unprecedent levels.

The difficulty in accessing foreign currencies led to the emergence of a parallel market to the peg whereby the
price to access foreign currencies has been increasing constantly, deviating significantly from the peg of 1,507.5
USS/LL. This has resulted in an uncentrolled tise in prices and the incessant de facto depreciation of the Lebanese
pound, intensely impacting the purchasing power of the Lebanese citizens, driving high inflation and rise in the
consumer price index.

The economy has been contracting at an accelerating pace since the last quarter of 2019 and the coronavirus
affecting Lebanon and the whole world is contributing to further deterioration of the economic environment,
disruption of businesses, rise of unemployment, and rise in poverty lines.

On 30 April 2020, the council of ministers approved the Lebanese Government’s Financial Recovery Plan {the
Plan). The Plan relies on nine central and interrelated pillars, namely reviewing the peg policy; a comprehensive
government debt restructuring; a comprehensive restructuring of the financial system addressing accumulated
foreign exchange mismatches, embedded losses and resizing the banking sector (see below); a strong phased fiscal
adjustment, focused on improving tax compliance, streamlining expenditure and reforming the public sector;
growth-enhancing reforms promoting a productive economy and enhancing the competitiveness of the Lebanese
economy; a social sector reform; ambitious anti-corruption strategy; environmental reform; and international
financial assistance 1o close the iarge extemal financing gap and finance the development of the infrastructures
that are necessary to support the growth of the econemy.

On 1 May 2020 the Lebanese Prime Minister and the l.ebanese Finance Minister signed a request for aid from the
International Monetary Fund. The Government beligves the Plan conveys good faith for negotiations with the
International Monetary Fund. Lebanon began detaited discussions with the IMF on 1 May 2020. Multilateral
intervention is expected to catalyze additional extenal support and unlock US$ 11 billion in pledges from
international donors made in 2018 in the “Conference Economique pour le Development par les Reformes et avec
les Entreprises” (CEDRE) as well as other external financial support to cover the net external financial needs for
a gradual economic recovery and successful restructuring of the Government’s foreign currency debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
1.1 Macroeconomic environment (continued)

Restructuring of the banking sector:

As per the Plan, the preliminary global estimation of losses will result from the restructuring of the Central Bank
of Lebanon and impairment of assets held at the Central Bank of Lebanon; the impact of the economic erisis and
the impairment of the banks® loans portfolio; and the govermment debt restructuring and impairment of the
government securities portfolio.

An Asset Quality Review will be conducted by an international institution to assess the impairment losses on the
private loans portfolio of the banking sector. The impact of losses and the recapitalization needs will be determined
on a bank by bank basis when a more granutar plan is drawn, and further measures related to bank deposits will
be determined. On a bank by bank basis, the Plan stipulates that large depositors could be offered voluntarily (for
part of their deposits):

s Conversion into their bank’s capital. New legal provisions will be needed

s Conversion into tradable equity stakes in a newly established special Recovery Fund that will receive the

proceeds of the ill-gotten assets tracking and recovery program
+ Conversion into long dated, subordinated bank obligation with no or limited interest

Banks will be asked 1o propose to the authorities and relevant supervisory bodies business plans and restructuring
/ recapitalization plans including mergers with or acquisitions by other domestic and foreign banks to address
their structural funding issues and generate synergies. The new capital base will be rebuilt via capital raising in
the market and a conversion of some deposits into shares. Fresh liquidity will be provided to the reorganized
banking sector,

Conducting a full restructuring of the banking sector will require new legal powers for the government and the
relevant supervisory bodies.

1.2 Regulatory environment
Throughout this peried and up to the date of the approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Central
Bank of Lebanon has issued several circulars 1o address the situations, mainly:

e Intermediary Circular 532 issued on 4 November 2019 requiring Lebanese banks not to distribute dividends
from the profits of the financial year 2019, and increase the regulatory capital by 20% of the Cormmon Equity
Tier I capital as at 31 December 2018 through cash contributions in US Dollars, in two phases: 10% by 31
December 2019 and another 10% by 30 June 2020.

¢ Intermediary Circular 534 issued on 19 November 2019 extending the deadline for reaching the 25% ratio
of “net loans granted in LL / net deposits in LL” from 31 December 2019 to 31 December 2020, Banks that
expect to be unable to reach said ratio within the set time limit may refer to the Central Bank of Lebanon
Central Council before 31 December 2020,

» [ntermediary Circular 536 issued on 4 December 2019 stating that the Central Bank of Lebanon will settle
the interest on the banks’ term deposits and certificates of deposits in US Dotllars 50% in US Doltars and
50% in LL. As for the deposits received or renewed after 4 December 2019, banks have to compiy with the
following interest rates:

~ 5 % for deposits in foreign currencies; and

- 8.5 % for deposits in LL
As for the deposits received before the menticned date, which conditions are maintained, banks have to pay
interests divided as follows: 50 % in the account’s currency and 30 % in LL. This decision is applicable until
4 June 2020 (6 months from the circular's issuing date).

s Intermediary Circular 542 issued on 3 February 2020 requiring that the ratios of expected credit losses for
the years 2019 and 2020 on LL and foreign currency-denominated investrment portfolio at the Central Bank
of Lebanon, including certificates of deposits and investments in Lebanese treasury bills denominated in
LL and foreign currency, not to exceed the regulatory expected credit losses ratios calculated as per the
Central Bank of Lebanon Basic Circular no. 44 related to the "Capital Adequacy Ratio".
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Regulatory environment {continued)
Intermediary Circular 543 issued on 3 February 2020, increasing the regulatory expected credit losses on
foreign currency exposures to Lebanese Sovereign and Central Bank of Lebanon and exposures to resident
corporates, retail and SMEs. The circular increased risk weights to be applied on exposures 10 the Central
Bank of Lebanon in foreign currencies and lowered the minimum required capital adequacy ratios. The
circular also imposed maximum expected credit losses on exposures to Lebanese Sovereign and Central
Bank of Lebanon to be recorded in the banks' financial statements as per the table below:

Type of financial instrument Maximuam loss rate
Exposures to Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign currencies Upto 1.89 %
Expesures to Central Bank of Lebanon in Lebanese Pounds 0%
Lebanese government securities in foreign currencies Uptle 945 %
Lebanese government securities in Lebanese Pounds 0%

Intermediary Circular 544 issued on 13 February 2020 requiring banks to abide with the maximum ceilings
of interest rates on new or renewed deposits, as follows:
- deposits in foreign currencies: 2% for 1-month deposits, 3% for 6 months deposits and 4% on
deposits for a year and above
- deposits in LL: 5.5% on deposits for one month, 6.5 % for 6 months and 7.5% on deposits for one
year and above.

Banks are required to calculate the BRR based on the above creditor interest rates. This decision is applicable
until 13 August 2020 (6 months from the circular's issuing date).

Basic Circular 148 issued on 3 April 2020 requesting banks to allow clients with small accounts to withdraw
cash paid n LL by first calculating the equivalent of the account balance in US Dollars at the official
exchange rate, then paying an amount of cash in LU equal to the counter value of the calculated amount as
per the market exchange rate. US Dollars amounts resulting of these operations should be sold to the Central
Bank of Lebanon as per the market exchange rate.

Basic Circular 149 issued on 3 April 2020 announcing the creation of a special unit at the Central Bank of
Lebanon to conduct foreign exchange operations as per the market rate. Money dealers (of "type A") may
adhere to this unit, upon Central Bank of Lebanon’s discretion. An electronic platform will be created
encompassing the Central Bank of Lebanon, banks and money dealers for foreign exchange operations.
Abrogating the article 18 which was introduced by Intermediary Circular 546 to basic circular no. 3 related
to Money Dealers.

Basic Circular [51 issued on 21 April 2020 concerning the clients that are not tackled in Basic Circular 148
who wish to withdraw amounts of cash from their foreign currencies accounts, banks should settle, with the
client's consent, the equivalent of those amounts in LL as per the market exchange rate. The resulting foreign
currencies should be sold to the Central Bank of Lebanon. The exchange rate specified by the Central Bank
of Lebanon in its transactions with banks will remain applicable to all other operations in US Dollars. Banks
should disclose daily their adepted market exchange rate.

Intermediary Circular 552 issued on 22 April 2020 requesting banks to grant loans against the settlement of
facilities and instalments due during the months of March, April, May and June for the clients who are not
able to pay their dues, due to current economic situation as assessed by the Group. The new loans are (o be
granted up to 5 years starting 30 June 2020 and on condition, among others, that these are granted to repay
the above months settlements or, if the client is an establishment or corporation, to pay the staff or the
production and operational fees, with no commissions or fees and zero interest rate. The Central Bank of
Lebanon will grant the banks loans with zero interest rate against the said loans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

1.3 Particular situation of the Group

As indicated in Note 2.5, assets and liabilities in foreign currency as of 31 December 2016 were valued at the
official exchange rate of 1,507.5 USS / LL. However, several exchange rates have emerged since the last quarter
of 2019 that vary significantly among each other and from the official exchange rate: parallel exchange markets
with high volatility, recently issued Central Bank of Lebanon circulars, estimation exchange rates detailed in the
Plan, in addition to a wide range of exchange rates adopted for commercial transactions currently undertaken in
the Lebanese territory. These consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments from any future change
in the official exchange rate. The impact of the valuation of the assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at a
different rate is expected to be significant and will be recognized in these consolidated financial statements once
the revamping of the peg is implemented by the Lebanese Government. Foreign exchange currency mismatch is
detailed in Note 49.4 to these consolidated financial statements.

Loss allowances on assets held at the Central Bank of Lebanon and the portfolio of Lebanese government
securities held at amortized cost are recorded in these consolidated financial statements based on the guidelines
issued on 4 February 2020 by the Central Bank of Lebanon in its intermediary circular 543 (refer to above).
Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments of the carrying amount of these
assets to their recoverable amounts based on International Financial Reporting Standards and an expected credit
iosses model. The impact is expected to be pervasive and will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements
once the debt restructuring has been defined conclusively by the Government and all uncertainties and constraints
are resolved and the mechanism for allocating losses by asset class and currency is clear and conclusive. Maximum
exposures to the credit risk of the Central Bank of Lebanon and the Lebanese government and the recognized loss
allowances, as well as their staging are detailed in Note 49.2 1o these consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the negative economic conditions and the deepening of the recession, the credit quality of the private
loans portfolio concentrated in Lebanon has significantly deteriorated since the last quarter of 2019, Management
is undergoing massive deleveraging by reducing these assets’ size and has set up a centralized and speciatized
remedial function to proactively review and manage the quality of these assets. Loss allowances on the portfolio
of these private loans have been estimated and recorded based on the best available information at the reporting
date, aboul past events, current conditions and forecasts of economic conditions combined with expert judgements.
The exercise being carried out by the management is expected to reveal additional embedded losses in its private
loans portfolios. The impact is expected to be pervasive and will be reflected in the consclidated financial
statements once the results of the exercise undertaken by the management are measurable and determinable.
Maximum exposures to the credit risk of Group's portfolio of private loans and the recognized loss allowances,
as well as their staging are detailed in Note 49.2 to these consolidated financial statements.

Management has significant concerns about the effects that the above matters will have on the equity of the Group
and the recapitalization needs that will arise once the necessary adjustments are determined and recorded.

In line with the comments issued by the Association of Banks in Lebanon on | May 2020, management has
determined the following uncertainties in relation to the assumptions of the Plan which might have an impact on
the figures and estimations provided therein:
- Ability to successfully secure sufficient external financing (from the IMF, from CEDRE and from other
international donors unspecified in the Plan)
- Ability to revamp the peg at the detailed estimated rates
- Parameters of the restructuring of the Central Bank of Lebancn and restructuring of the government debt
in foreign currencies
- Ability of issuing new laws with the constraints in the legal framework and the L.ebanese constitution
- Finalization of the Asset Quality Review and determination of losses and recapitalization needs of the
banks
- Ability to claw back sums which have unlawfully escaped the country
- Ability to claw back dividend and /or interest distributed over the last years

Besides, on 20 May 2020, the Association of Banks in Lebanon submitted an alternative approach in response to
the present economic crisis that Lebanon, and particularly the banking sectox, is experiencing. [t rests on
addressing the external financing needs, while avoiding an internal debt default; and the launch of long-overdue
structural reforms to promote sustainable and inclusive growth as the result of economic diversification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

1.3 Particular situation of the Group (continued)

Until the above uncertainties are resolved and a plan is implemented, the Group will continug its operations as
performed since 17 October 2019 and in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. Unofficial capital
controls and inability to transfer foreign cwrrencies to correspondent banks outside Lebanon are exposing the
Group to litigations that are dealt with on a case by case basis when they occur. Meanwhile, the Group is exerting
extended efforts to review the quality of its private loans portfolio and deleveraging it as appropriate, to reduce
its commitments and contingencies to correspondent banks outside Lebanon and to secure its liquidity needs
through mainly borrowing from the Central Bank of Lebanon at the available rates.

Once the above uncertainties are resolved, a pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position of the Group
will be prepared which will include the effects of the revaluation of the assets and labilities in foreign currencies,
the effects of the restructuring of the government debt securities, the effects of the restructuring of the Central
Bank of Lebanon, and the effects on its private loan portfolio.

As disclosed in Note 53 to these consolidated financial statements, the Group’s capital adequacy ratio as at 31
December 2019 was calcuiated based on the recorded figures and does not take into consideration the adjusiments
that will result from the resolution of the uncertainties reflected above. The Group did not comply with Central
Bank of Lebanon Intermediary Circular 532 towards increasing its regulatory capital by 10% by 31 December
2019. In addition, the Group did not comply with Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediary Circular 334 towards
maintaining the minimum capital adequacy ratio levels as at 31 December 2019. The management is currently
assessing and developing restructuring and recapitalization plans based on the various available scenarios.
However, a reasonable and credible plan can only be achieved ence the above uncertainties are resalved and the
amount of recapitalization needs is accurately determinable.

The General Assembly of the Association of Noteholders held on 19 June 2020 of Notes due on 2021 and issued
by the Group during 2011 resolved, with majority of the votes, to medify the terms and conditions of the Notes
as set out in the Trust Deed and in the summary of terms and ¢onditions signed by the initial subscribers for the
purposes of providing early redemption of the Notes in June 2020 and to modify the payment terms. Accordingly,
the Group settled the outstanding balance of these Notes on 29 June 2020 (Note 33).

On 17 June 2020, in light of the developments in the Lebanese Republic, the Group announced that it will not
make the interest payments on the subordinated debt which is due on 30 June 2020 (Note 36).

The Bank’s Board of Directors meeting dated 17 June 2020 resolved to apply for the cancellation of the listing of its
GDR shares from the official list of the UK Financial Conduct Authority and the cancellation of the admission to
trading of its GDR shares from the London Stock Exchange with effect from 30 July 2020 (Note 37).

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for: a) the restatement
of certain tangible real estate properties in Lebanon according to the provisions of law No 282 dated 30 December
1993, and b) the measurement at fair value of derivative financial instruments, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira (LL) and all values are rounded to the nearest
LL million except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the regulations of the
Central Bank of Lebanon and the Banking Contrel Commission (“BCC™).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Presentation of financial statements

The Group presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery
or seftlement within one year after the statement of financial position date (current) and more than one year after
the statement of financial position date (non-current) is presented in the notes.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally reported gross in the consolidated statement of financial
position. They are offset and the net amount is reported only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis — or to realise the assets and settle the liability
simultaneously — in all of the following circumstances: a) the normal course of business, b) the event of default,
and ¢) the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and/or its counterparties. Only gross settlement
mechanisms with features that eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk and that process
receivables and payables in a single settlement process or cycle would be, in effect, equivalent to net settlement.
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, therefore the related assets and liabilities are
presented gross in the consolidated statement of financial position. Income and expenses will not be offset in the
consolidated income statement unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, as
specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group. The effects of netting arrangements are disclosed
in Notes 18 and 30.

2.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial staterments of Byblos Bank SAL and its subsidiaries
as at 31 December 2019. Details of the principal subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 3.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable retums from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group
controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

¥ Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee),

» Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

% The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. However, under individual
circumstances, the Group may stil! exercise control with less than 50% shareholding or may not be able to exercise
control even with ownership over 50% of an entity’s shares. When assessing whether it has power over an investee
and therefore controls the variability of its returns, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances,
including:

¥ The purpose and design of the investee,

¥ The relevant activities and how decisions about those activities are made and whether the Group can
direct those activities,

» Contractual arrangements such as call rights, put rights and liquidation rights, and

»  Whether the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee,
and has the power to affect the variability of such returns

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consclidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses countrol of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between mermbers of the Group are eliminated in full on conselidation.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, non-controlling interests and other components of equity, while any resuitant gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of control.

Where the Group loses control of a subsidiary but retains an interest in it, then such interest is measured at fair
value at the date that control is lost with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. Subsequently,
it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investes or in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
financial instruments depending on the level of influence retained, In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. As such, amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to the consolidated income statement.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned by the
Group. The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interests in acquirees at the proportionate share of
each acquiree's identifiable net assets. Interests in the equity of subsidiaries not aftributable to the Group are
reported in consolidated equity as non-controlling interests.

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the Parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controiling interests having a deficit balance.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity holders of the Group. For
purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

2.3 New and Amended Standards and [nterpretations
The Group applied for the first time certain amendments to the standards, which are effective for annual periods
begiuning on or after 1 January 2019. The nature and the impact of each amendment is described below:

fFRS 16 Leases

Effective from | January 2019, the Group adopted /FRS 16 Leases, which supersedes /AS 77 Leases, IFRIC 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disciosure of leases and requires lessees to account for most
leases on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 s substantially unchanged from [AS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases
as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in [AS 17, Therefore, IFRS 16 did not have an
impact for leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial
application of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application. The Group elected to use the
transition practical expedient to not reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at | January 2019. Instead,
the Group applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and
IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application.

The Group has lease contracts for various branches and other assets. Before the adoption of I[FRS 16, the Group
classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as either a finance lease or an operating lease. Refer
to Note 2.5 for the accounting policy prior to 1 January 2019.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 New and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continted)

The Group also elected to use the recognition exemptions for lease contracts that, at the commencement date,
have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option {‘short-term leases’), and lease
contracts for which the underlying asset is of Jow value (*low-value assets’). Refer to Note 2.5 for the accounting
policy beginning 1 January 2019. The standard provides specific transition requirements and practical expedients,
which have been applied by the Group.

Leases previously classified as finance leases

The Group did not change the initial carrying amounts of recognised assets and liabilities at the date of initial
application for leases previously classified as finance leases (i.€., the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities equal
the lease assets and liabilities recognised under IAS 17). The requirements of IFRS 16 were applied to these leases
from 1 Janvary 2019.

Leases previously accounted for as operating leases

The Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously classified as operating
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The right-of-use assets for most leases were
recognised based on the carrying amount as if the standard had always been applied, apart from the use of
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. In some leases, the right-of-use assets were recoghised
based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted for any related prepaid and accrued lease payments
previously recognised. Lease liabilities were recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.

The Group also applied the available practical expedients wherein it:
-~ Used a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
~  Relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial application;
- Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application; and
- Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate
the lease.

The effect of adoption IFRS 16 as at | January 2019 (increase/{decrease)) is as follows:

31 December 2018 Impact of IFRS 16 I January 2019

LL million LL million LL million
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets - 31,227 31,227
Other assets - (6,424) (6,424)
Other lizbilities - (24,803) (24,803)

Effect on net assets and liabilities - - -

Net impact on equity -

Based on the above, as at 1 January 2019, the adoption of IFRS 16 resulted in LL. 24,803 million increase in total
assets and LL 24,803 million increase in total liabilities. There was no impact on the Group’s equity from the
adoption of [FRS 16.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 New and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)
The lease liabilities as at | January 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as of 31 December
2018 as follows:

LL milfion
Total undiscounted operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 42,510
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (3,969)
38,541

Effect of discounting using incremental borrowing rates as at 1 January 2019 (5.00%-
5.23%) (8,860)
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 29,681

Amendments fo IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardiess of an event or
circumstance that causes the early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives
reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract. These amendments do not have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

The IASB issued amendments to the guidance in IAS 19, Employee Benefits, in connection with accounting for
plan amendments, curtailments and settlements. These amendments do not have any significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment

IFRIC 23 clarifies the application of IAS 12 to accounting for income tax treatments that have yet to be accepted
by tax authorities, in scenarios where it may be unclear how tax law applies to a particular transaction or
circumstance, or whether a taxation authority will accept an entity's tax treatment. This interpretation does not
have any significant impact on the Group’s consotidated financial statements.

Annaal Improvements to {FRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycie

Effective | January 2019, the Group adopted Annual Improvements to [FRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle, which
resulted in amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, [AS 12, [ncome Taxes,
and IAS 23, Borrowing Costs. These improvements do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 Standards Issued but not Yet Effective

Certain new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2019, with the Group not opting for early adoption. These have therefore not been applied in
preparing these consclidated financial statements. The most significant of these new standards, amendments and
interpretations are as follows:

Amendments fo IFRS 3: Definition of a Business

In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to the definition of a business in IFRS 3 Business Combinations
to help entities determine whether an acquired set of activities and assets is a business or not. They clarify the
minimum requirements for a business, remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of
replacing any missing elements, add guidance to help entities assess whether an acquired process is substantive,
narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs, and introduce an optional fair value concentration test.

Since the amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other events that occur on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to IAS I and IAS 8: Definition of Material

In October 2018, the [ASB issued amendments to /4AS / Presentation of Financial Statements and [4S &
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to align the definition of ‘material’ across the
standards and to clarify certain aspects of the definition. The new definition states that, *Information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial
information about a specific reporting entity.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

On 26 September 2019, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB or the Board) published ‘Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform, Amendments to [FRS 9, TAS 39 and IFRS 7’ (the “amendments”). This concludes phase
one of the IASB’s work to respond to the effects of Interbank Offered Rates (IBOR) reform on financial reporting,
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of
uncertainty before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an altemative nearly risk-free
interest rate (an “RFR™),

The effective date of the amendments is for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with early
application permitted. These amendments do not have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies

Business Combinations and Goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition {s measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group measures the non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs
incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group makes an acquisition meeting the definition of a business under IFRS 3, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual
terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivalives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the consolidated income
statement. It is then considered in the determination of goodwill.

Any contingenl consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date- Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS . Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9
is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired i{s in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. [f the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisiticn date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) or group
of CGUs, which are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Each unit 10 which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest leve! within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, and is not
larger than an operating segment in accordance with IFRS & “Operating Segments”.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of| the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira (LL) which is alse the Group’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the step-by-step method of
consolidation.
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2.5 Summary of significant aecounting policies (continued)
Fareign currencies (continued)

(i} Transactions and Balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the
date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate
of exchange at the date of the statement of financial position. All differences are taken to “Net gain on financial
assets at fair value through profit or less” in the consoclidated income statement, except for monetary items that
are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation. These are recognised in
OCT until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in OCI.

Non-mounetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

(#} Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries and overseas branches are translated into the Group’s
presentation currency at the rate of exchange as at the reporting date, and their income statements are translated
at the monthly average exchange rates for the year. Exchenge differences arising on transiation are recognised in
OCI. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in OCI relating to that particular
foreign operation is reclassified to the consolidated income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operations and translated at the exchange rate on the reporting date.

The table below presents the exchange rates of the currencies used to translate assets, liabilities and income
statement items of foreign branches and subsidiaries:

2619 2018
Yeor-end rate Average rate Year-end rate Average rate
LL LL LL L
US Dollar 15075 1507.5 1,507.5 1,507.5
Euro 1,686.89 1,687.43 1,724.73 1,778.82
Armenian Deam 3.20 il4 302 32
Iragqr Dinar 127 1.27 127 1.27
Syrian Pound 146 346 3.46 346

Financial Instruments - Initial recognition

(i) Date of recognition

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the settlement date. This includes “regular way trades™:
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

(] Initial measurement of financlal instruments

Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value, plus or minus, in the case of a financial instrument
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
the financial instrument. In the ¢ase of a financial instrument measured at fair vatue, with the change in fair value
being recognised in profit or loss, the transaction costs are recognised as revenue or expense when the instrument
is initially recognised.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial Instruments — [nitial recognition {continued)

{ii) Initial measurement of financial instruments (continued)
When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the transaction price, the Group
accounts for the Day | profit or loss, as described below.

{iii) Day 1 Profit or Loss

When the transaction price differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a valuation
technique using only observable inputs in market transactions, the Group immediately recognises the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1™ profit or loss) in the consolidated income statement. In
cases where fair value is based on models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between
the transaction price and the fair value is deferred and is only recognised in the consolidated income statement
when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

Financial Assets —~ Classification and Measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as measured al: amortised cost, fair value through other

comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss on the basis of two criteria:

(i) The business model within which financial assets are measured; and

(ii) Their contractual cash flow characteristics (whether the cash flows represent “solely payments of
principal and interest” (SPPI)).

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
assets to collect contractual cash flows, and their contractual cash flows represent SPPIL.

Financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if they are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and their
contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

All other financial assets are classifted as measured at fair value through profit or loss.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis.

On initial recognition, the Group may rrevocably designate & financial asset as measured at fair value through
profit or loss if doing so climinates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
{sometimes referred to as an “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group is required to disclose such
financial assets separately from those mandatorily measured at fair value.

Business Model

The Group determines its business modei at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets
to achieve its business objective. Generally, a business mode! is a matter of fact which can be evidenced by the
way business is managed and the information provided to management.

The Group's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:
- How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business mode! are
evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel
- The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed
- How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the
fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected)
- The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Group’s assessment

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or 'stress
case’ scenarios into account.
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial Assets — Classification and Measurement (continued)

Business Model (continued)
The Group's business model can be to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows even when sales of
financial assets ocour. However, if more than an infrequent number of sales are made out of a portfolio, the Group
needs to assess whether and how such sales are consistent with an objective of collecting contractual cash flows.
If the objective of the Group’s business model for managing those financial assets changes, the Group is required
to reclassify financial assets.

The SPPI Test
As asecond step of its classification process the Group assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to identify
whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and
may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation
of the premium/discount),

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time
value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Group applies judgement and considers relevant
factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate
is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that infroduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is
required to be measured at fair value though profit and loss.

Financial Assets at Amortised Cos?

Balances with Central Banks, Due from Banks and Financial Institwtions, Loans to Banks and Financial
Institutions and Reverse Repurchase Agreements, Loans and Advances to Customers and Related Parties at
Amortised Cost, and Financial Assets at Amortised Cost,

These financial assets are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investment. All transaction costs directly attributed to the acquisition are also included in the
cost of investment. Afier inftial measurement, these are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR,
less expected credit losses. Amortised cost is caleulated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The amortisation is included in “Interest and
similar income™ in the consolidated income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in “Net impainment loss on financial assets”. Gains and losses arising frem the
derccognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost are reflected under “Net gain (loss) on derecognition
of financial assets at amortised cost” in the consolidated income statement.

Financlal Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

Debt instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

These financial asscts are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the investment. All transaction costs directly attributed to the acquisition are also included in the
cost of investment. After initial measurement, these are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising due to changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income. Interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortized cost. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive
income are reclassified from cther comprehensive income to profit or loss.

Equity Instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably some of its investments in equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income when they are not held for trading. Such classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
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2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial Assets — Classification and Measurement (continued)

Financlal Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (continued)

Equity Instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive fncome (continued)

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured
at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to the consolidated income
statement on disposal of the investments.

Dividends on these investments are recognised under “Non-interest revenues from financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income” in the consolidated income statement when the Group’s right to receive
payment of dividend is established in accordance with [FRS 15: “Revenue from coniracts with customers”, unless
the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Equity instruments at fair valve
through other comprehensive income are not subject to an impairment assessment.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Included in this category are those debt instruments that do not meet the conditions in “Financial assets at
amortised cost” and “ Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ™ above, debt instruments
designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition, and equity instruments at fair value through
profit or loss. Management only designates a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss upon initial
recognition when the designation eliminates, significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring assets or recognising gains and losses on them on a different basis.

Debt Instruments at Fair Value through Profil or Loss

These financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Transaction
costs directly atiributable to the acquisition of the instrument are recognised as revenue or expeuse when the
instrument is initially recognised. Changes in fair value and interest income are recorded under “Net gain from
financial assets at fair vatue through profit or loss™ in the consolidated income statement. Gains and losses arising
from the derecognition of debt instruments and other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
reflected under “Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” in the consolidated income
statement, showing separately those related to financial assets designated at fair value upon initial recognition
from those mandatorily measured at fair value.

Equity Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Investments in equity instruments are classified at fair value through profit or loss, unless the Group designates at
initial recognition an invesmment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.
These financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in
fair value and dividend income are recorded under “Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss™ in the consolidated income statement. Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of equity instruments
at fair value through profit or loss are also reflected under “Net gain from financial assets at fair value through
profit or 1oss™ in the consolidated income statement.

Financial Liabilities (other than finuncial puarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments) —
Classification and Measurement

Liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial liability not at fair value through profit
or loss, particular transaction costs. Liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value.

The Group classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method, except for:
Financial labilities at fair value through profit or loss (including derivatives);
Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies;
Contingent consideration recognised in a business combination in accordance with [FRS 3.
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2.5 Suommary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial Liabilities {(other than financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments) —

Classification and Measurement (continued)

The Group may, at initizl recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability as measured at fair value through

profit or loss when:
Doing so results in more relevant information, because it either eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as “an zccounting mismatch™) that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different
bases; or

- A group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the Group's Key Management Personnel;
or

- A group of financial liabilities contains one or more ¢embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly
modify the cash flows that would otherwise be required by contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis
when a similar instrument is first considered that separation of the embedded derivatives is prohibited.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in
fair value of liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss due to changes in the Group’s own credit
risk. Such changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income, unless such recognition would
create an accounting mismatch in the consolidated income statement. Changes in fair value attributable to changes
in credit risk do not get recycled to the consalidated income statement.

Interest incurred on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss is accrued in interest expense
using the EIR, taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying transaction cosis being an iniegral part
of instrument.

Debt issued and Other Borrowed Funds

Financial instruments issued by the Group, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are
classified under “Debt issued and other borrowed funds™ where the substance of the contractual arrangement
results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financizl asset to the holder, or to satisfy
the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number
of own equity shares.

Afer initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method.

A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated at the issue
date. A portion of the net proceeds of the instrument is allocated to the debt component on the date of issue based
on its fair value (which is generally determined based on the quoted market prices for similar debt instruments).
The equity component is assigned the residual amount after deducting from the fair value of the instrument as a
whole the amount separately determined for the debt component. The value of any derivative features (such as a
call option) embedded in the ¢compound financial instrument other than the equity component is included in the
debi component.

Due to Central Banks, Banks and Financial institutions and Customers' and Related Parties’ Deposits

After initial measurement, due to central banks, banks and financial institutions, bonds under repurchase
agreements, customers’ and related parties' deposits are measured at amortised cost less amounts repaid using the
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking inta account any discount or premium on the
issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method. Customer deposits which are linked
to the performance of indices or commaodities are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Derivatives Recorded at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

a) Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the
coniract (aka the “underlying™).

b) It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for
other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response 1o changes in market factors.

¢) Itis settled at a future date,

The Group enters into derivative transactions with varicus counterparties. These include currency swaps and
forward foreign exchange centracts.

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when
their fair value is negative, The notional amount and fair value of such derivatives are disclosed separately in the
notes. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in “Net gain on financizl assets at fair value through
profit or loss” in the consolidated income statement, unless hedge accounting is applied, which is discussed in
under “hedge accounting policy” below.

Embedded Derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract
with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in & way similar to a stand-alone
derivative. An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the
contract to be modified according to a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the case of
a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract. A derivative that is attached to a financial
instrument, but is contractually transferable independently of that instrument, or has a different counterparty from
that instrument, is not an embedded derivative, but a separate financial instrument.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:
(a) The hybrid contract contains a host that is not an asset within the scope of [FRS 9;
(b) The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host;
(c) A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and
(d) The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss,

Financial Guarantees, Letters of Credit and Undrawn Loan Commitments

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being the
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the
higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and an expected credit losses ECL provision. The premium received is recognised in the income
statement in “Net fees and comrmission income” on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
commitment, the Group is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial
guarantee contracts, these contracts are in the scope of ECL requirements.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credil and undrawn loan commitments are not
recorded in the statement of financial position. The nominal values of these instruments together with the
corresponding ECLs are disclosed in the notes.

26



Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Reclassification of Financial Assets

The Group reclassifies financial assets if the objective of the business model for managing those financial assets
changes. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and are determined by the Group’s Senior Management
as a result of external or internal changes when significant to the Group’s operations and demonstrable to external
parties.

If financial assets are reclassified, the reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date, which
is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in the
reclassification of financial assets. Any previously recognised gains, losses or interest are not restated.

If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured at fair value, its fair value is determined at the
reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous carrying amount and fair
value is recognised in profit or loss. If a financial asset is reclassified so that it is measured at amortised cost, its
fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new carrying amount.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets

) Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash
flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is
derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees
received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

- fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent

reimbursement of ¢ligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and
- other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the ohjective of the modification is
usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with
substantially different terms. If the Group plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness
of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification
takes place (see below).

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income does not result in derecognition of the financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in prefit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross
carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified
financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is
presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate method,

(i) Derecognition other than for substantial modification

A financial asset (or where applicable, & part of a financial asset or patt of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Group also
derecognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for
derecognition.
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued)
Financial Assets (continued)

(ii) Derecognition other than for substantial modification (continued)
The Group has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:
» The Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset; or
¥ The Group retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement-

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Group retains the contractual rights to receive the cash
flows of a financial asset (the ‘original asset’), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one
or more entities (the 'eventual recipients’), when all of the following three conditions are met:
¥ The Group has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent
amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the
amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates;
¥ The Group cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients;
¥ The Group has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material
delay. In addition, the Group is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash
or cash equivalents including interest eamed, during the period between the collection date and the date
of required remittance to the eventual recipients.

A transfer onty qualifies for derecognition if either:
¥ The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
¥ The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

The Group considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset
in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing
additional restrictions on the transfer.

When the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained control
of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement, in
which case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Group could be required
to pay.

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both} on the transferred asset, the
continuing involvement is measured at the value the Group would be required to pay upon repurchase. In the case
of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing involvement
is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial Liabilities

A financial Liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying
value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, as “Other operating income™ ot “Other operating expenses”.
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Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued)

Financial Linbilities (continued)

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the
liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective
interest rate on the instrument.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognised from the
consolidated statement of financial position as the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership. The corresponding consideration received (cash collateral provided) is recognised in the consclidated
statement of financial position as an asset with a corresponding obligation to retum it, including accrued interest
as a liability, reflecting the transaction’s economic substances as a loan to the Group. The difference between the
sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the
EIR. When the counterparty has the right to sell or repledge the securities, the Group properly discloses this fact
in the notes.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at 2 specified future date are not recognised in the
consolidated statemnent of financial position. The consideration paid {cash collateral provided), including accrued
interest is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position within “Loans to banks and financial
institutions and reverse repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the
Group. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in “Net interest income™ and is accrued
over the life of the agreement using the EIR. If securities purchased under agreement to resell are subsequently
sold to third parties, the obligation to return the securities is recorded as a short sale within “Financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss” and measured at fair value with any gains or losses inciuded in “Net gain on
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of Financial Assets

(i) Overview of the ECL Principles

The Group records allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other financial assets not held at fair
valug through profit or loss, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all
referred to as “financial instruments”. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under I[FRS 9.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected 1o arise over the life of the asset {the lifetime expected
credit loss), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which cases, the
allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL is the portion of lifetime
ECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrurnent that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date.

(ii) Measurement of ECLS
The Group measures ECLs based on three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls,
discounted at an approximation to the EIR as follows:
¥ Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive);
» Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;
¥ Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive;
and
¥ Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amount that the Group
expects to recover.
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2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of Financial Assets (continued)

{ii) Measarement of ECLs (continued)
They key inputs into the measurements of ECL are:

»  PD: The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelthood of default over a given time horizon. A
default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously
derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

¥ EAD: The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date. taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, and expected drawdowns on committed facilities.

» LGD: The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a
given time. [t is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group
would expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a
percentage of the EAD.

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. Forward looking
information are incorporated in ECL, measurements.

The Group measures ECLs using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
origination:
¥ Stage 1 — Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (8ICR) since initial recognition of a
financial! instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit
loss is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For these instruments
with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, probability of default corvesponding to remaining term to
maturity is used.
¥ Stage 2 - When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered
to be impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the
probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.
» Stage 3 — Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage, the allowance
for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses, similar to Stage 2.

fiii) Forborne and modified lpans

The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difficultics, rather than taking possession or otherwise enforcing colleetion of collateral. The
Group considers a loan forborme when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the borrower’s
present or expected financial difficulties and the Group would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been
financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on covenants, or significant concerns raised
by the Credit Risk Departrnent. Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement
of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original
EIR as calculated before the modification of terms. It is the Group’s policy to monitor forbome loans to help
ensure that future payments continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and classification between
Stage 2 and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis. 1f these procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan,
it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forbome asset until {t is collected or written off.

When the loan has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognised, the Group also reassesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Group also considers whether the assets should be classified as
Stage 3. Once an asset has been classified as forbome, it will remain forborne for a minimum 12-month probation
period. In crder for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the
following criteria:

- At least a 12-month probaticn period has passed,

- Three consecutive payments under the new repayment schedule have been made,

- The borrower has no past dues under any obligation to the Group,

- All the terms and conditions agreed to as part of the restructuring have been met.

If modifications are substantial, the loan is derecognised, as explained above.
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Impairment of Financial Assets (continued)

{iv) Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial
assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income, and finance lease receivables are credit-impaired
(referred to as “Stage 3 financial assets™). A financial asset is “credit impaired™ when one or more events that have
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable information:

- Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer,;

- A breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

- The restructuring of a lean or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider

otherwise,
- Itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
- The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

v) Write Offs

Financial assets are written off ¢ither partially or in their entirety only when the Group has stopped pursuing the
recovery. [f the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first
treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent
recoveries are credited to “Net impairment loss on financial assets”.

{vi} Debt Instruments at Fair Vulae through Other Comprehensive Income

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income do not reduce the
carrying amount of these financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, which remains at fair
value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is
recognised in other comprehensive income as an accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge
to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the profit and loss
upon derecognition of the assets.

(viij Collateral repossessed

The Group cccasionzlly acquires properties in settlement of loans and advances. Upon initial recognition, those
assets are measured at fair value as approved by the regulatory authorities. Subsequently, these properties are
measured at the lower of carrying value or net realisable value.

Upon sale of repossessed assets, any gain or loss realised is recognised in the consolidated income statement under
“Other operating income™ or “Other operating expenses”. Gains resulting from the sale of repossessed assets are
transferred to “Reserves appropriated for capital increase™ in the following financial year.

Fair vzlue measurement

The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivatives, and non-financial assets, namely land and building
and building improvements, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Also, fair values of financial instruments
measured at amortised cost are disclosed in the notes.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 2 liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place gither:

> In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
¥ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or 2
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
econonic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use._

The Group uses vatuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial staternents are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

» Level | — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

» Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that {s significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

e Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation {based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring and non-recurring fair value measurement.
At each reporting date, management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are
required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, management
verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation
to contracts and other relevant documents.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hicrarchy as explained
above.

Hedge accounting

In order to manage particular risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet the specified
criteria. The Group makes use of derivative instruments to manage exposures to foreign currency risk and interest
rate fluctuations. The process starts with identifying the hedging instrument and hedged item and preparing hedge
documentation detailing the risk management strategy and objective.

Setting the Risk Managemeni Strategy and Objectives

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge,
and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

The risk management strategy is established at the level of Executive Management and identifies the risks to
which the Group is exposed and whether and how the risk management activities should address those risks. The
strategy is typically maintained for a relatively long pericd of time. However, it may include some flexibility to
react to changes in circumstances. The risk management strategy is set out in general documentation and is
cascaded down through policies containing more specific guidelines.

The Group sets risk management objectives at the level of individual hedging relationships and defines how a
particular hedging instrument is designated to hedge a particular hedged item. As such, a risk management
strategy would usually be supported by many risk management objectives.
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Qualifving Hedging Relationships

The Group applies hedge accounting for qualifying hedging relationships. A hedging relationship gualifies for
hedge accounting conly if: (a) the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging instruments and eligible
hedged items; (b} at the inception of the hedging relationship there is formal designation and documentation of
the hedging relaticnship and the Group’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge; and
(c) the hedging relationship meets all of the hedge effectiveness requirements.

At each hedge effectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be expected to be highly effective on a
prospective basis in order to qualify for hedge accounting. The effectiveness test can be performed qualitatively
or quantitatively. A formal assessment is undertaken to ensure the hedging instrument is expected 1o be highly
effective in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged item, both at inception and semi-annually on an ongoing
basis. A hedge is expected to be highly effective if:

» There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

%  The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship;
and

¥ The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship 15 the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged
item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually
uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item. However, that designation shall not reflect an imbalance
between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge
ineffectiveness that could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose
of hedge accounting.

Hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in the consolidated income statement in “Net gain on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss”.

When the Group separates the intrinsic value and time value of an option coutract and designates as the hedging
instrument only the change in intrinsic value of the option, it shall account for the time value of the option as
follows:

(a) An entity shall distinguish the time value of options by the type of hedged item that the option hedges:

(i) A transaction related hedged item; or

(ii) A time-period related hedged item.

(b) The change in fair value of the time value shall be recognised in other comprehensive income 1o the
extent that it relates to the hedged item and shall be accumulated in a separate component of equity. The
cumulative change in fair value shall be accounted for as follows:

(1) If the hedged item subsequently results in the recognitien of a non-financial asset or a non-
financial liability, or a firm commitment for a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability for
which fair value hedge accounting is applied, the entity shall remove the amount from the
separate component of equity and include it directly in the initial cost or other carrying amount
of the asset or the liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment and hence does not affect
other comprehensive income;

(ii} For hedging relaticnships other than those covered by (1), the amount shall be reclassified from
the separate component of equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same
period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss;

(iii) However, if all or a portion of that amount is not expected 10 be recovered in one or more future
perieds, the amount that is not expected to be recovered shall be immediately reclassified into
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

{c) The change in fair value of the time value of an option that hedges 2 time-period related hedged item
shall be amortised on a systematic and rational basis over the period during which the hedge adjustment
for the option’s intrinsic value could affect profit or loss (or other comprehensive income, if the hedged
item is an equity instrument for which an entity bas ¢lected to present changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income). However, if hedge accounting is discontinued for the hedging relationship that
includes the change in intrinsic value of the option as the hedging instrument, the net amount (i.e.
including cumuiative amortisation) that has been accumulated in the separate component of equity shall
be immediately reclassified into profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment (see TAS 1).
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Hedge accounting (continued)

When the Group separates the forward element and the spot element of a forward contract and designates as the
hedging instrument only the change in the value of the spot glement of the forward contract, or when an entity
separates the foreign currency basis spread from a financial instrument and excludes it from the designation of
that financial instrument as the hedging instrument, the entity may account for the forward element of the forward
contract or for the foreign currency basis spread in the same manner as for the time value of an opticn,

(9 Fair Value Hedges

For qualifying fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the consclidated
tncome statement under “Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. Hedging gain or loss on
the hedged item adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item and is recognised in the consolidated income
statement also under “Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss™.

[f the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting, or the Group decides to voluntarily discontinug the hedging relationship, the hedge
relationship is discontinued prospectively. [f the relationship does not meet the hedge effectiveness criteria, the
Group discontinues hedge accounting from the last date on which compliance with hedge effectiveness was
demonstrated. If the hedge accounting relationship is terminated for an item recorded at amortised cost, the
accumulated fair value hedge adjustment to the carmrying amount of the hedged item is amortised over the
remaining term of the original hedge by recalculating the EIR. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised
fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

For fair value hedge relationships where the hedged item is not measured at amortised cost, such as debt
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, changes in fair value that were recorded in the
consolidated income statement whilst hedge accounting was in place are amortised in a similar way to amortised
cost instruments using the EIR method. However, as these instruments are measured at their fair values in the
consolidated statement of financial position, the fair value hedge adjustments are transferred from the consolidated
income statement to other comprehensive income.

(i) Cash Flow Hedges
For qualifying cash flow hedge, a separate component of equity associated with the hedged item (cash flow hedge
reserve} is adjusted to the lower of the following (in absolute amounts):

a)  The cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument from inception of the hedge; and
b)  The cumulative change in fair value (present value) of the hedged item from inception of the hedge.

The portion eof the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge (the pertion
that is oftset by the change in the cash flow hedge reserve described above) shall be recognised in other
comprehensive income. Any remaining gain or loss on the hedging instrument is hedge ineffectiveness that shall
be recognised in the consolidated income statement. The amount that has been accumulated in the cash flow hedge
reserve and associated with the hedged item s treated as follows:

a) Ifa hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, the Group removes that amount from the cash flow hedge reserve and includes it directly
in the initial cost or other camying amount of the asset or the liability without affecting other
comprehensive income.

b) For cash flow hedges other than those covered by a), that amount is reclassified from the cash flow hedge
reserve to profit or loss as a reclassification adjusiment in the same period or periods during which the
hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss. However, if that amount is & loss and the Group
expects that all or a portion of that loss will not be recovered in one or more future periods, it immediately
reclassifies the amount that is not expected to be recovered into profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment.
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i) Cash Flow Hedges (continued)

When & hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income at that
time remains in other comprehensive income and is recognised when the hedged forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in the consolidated income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive income is immediately transferred to the
consolidated income statement.

{iii) Hedge of Net Investments

Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as
part of the net investment, are accounted for in & way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
while any gains or losses relating 1o the ineffective portion are recognised in the consolidated income statement.
On disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recognised
directly in the foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to the consolidated income statement as a
reclassification adjustment.

Leases (Policy applicable from 1 January 2019)
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a Lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement apptoach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

{i) Right-of-use assels

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The right-of-use assets ar¢ presented within “Property, equipment and right-of-use assets” on the consolidated
financial statements and are subject to impairment in line with the Group’s policy as described under Impairment
of non-financial assets.

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets presented within “Depreciation of property, equipment and right-of-
use assets” on the consolidated financial statements,

(it} Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments alse include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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(i) Lease liabilities {continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included under “Other liabilities”. Moreover, the interest charge on lease
liabilities is presented within “Interest and similar expenses”™ from financial insttuments measured at amortized
cost in consolidated financial statements.

{iif} Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have & lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain & purchase option. It also applies the lease of low-value
assets recognition exemption fo leases that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a siraight-line basis over the lease term.

Other rental expenses (including non-lease components paid to landlords) presented within other operating
EXPENses.

Group as a Lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

ELeases (Policy applicable before 1 January 2019)

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or it contains a lease, is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that asset is not explicitly
specified in an arrangement.

Group as a Lessee

Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantizlly all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the
leased items are operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rental payables are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Group as a Lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the pericd in which they are earned.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised.
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Revenue Recognition (continued)

(i) Interest and similar income and expense

The effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement applying the EIR method for all financial
instruments measured at amortised cost, financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss and
interest bearing financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of
a financial liability. When calculating the EIR for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit
impaired, an entity shall take into account all the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses. For purchased
or originated credit impaired financial assets, a credit adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated
future cash flows and expected credit losses.

The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts.

Interest income and interest expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or a financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of the
financial asset or financial liability. In determining interest income and expense, the EIR is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset (unless the asset is credit-impaired) or the amortized cost of a financial
liability. The effective intcrest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate
instruments 1o reflect movements in market rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also revised for fair value
hedge adjustments at the date amortisation of the hedge adjustment begins.

The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts, unless the financial
instrument is measured at fair value, with the change in fair value being recognised in profit or loss. In those cases,
the fees are recognised as revenue or expense when the instrument is initially recognised.

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired after initial recognition, interest income is determined by applying
EIR to the net amortized cost of the instrument. [f the financial asset cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the
Group reverts back to calculating interest income on a gross basis. Furthermore, for {inancial assets that were
credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest is determined by applying a credit-adjusted EIR to the amortized
cost of the instrument. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of
the asset improves.

Presentation
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the consolidated income statement
includes:

- interest on financial assets at amortised cost; and

- interest on debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Interest expense presented in the consolidated income statement includes financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost.

Interest income and expense on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss are presented
under “Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss™ in the consolidated income statement.
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue Recognition (continued)

(il Fee and commission income
The Group eams fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee
income can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee income Earned from Services That Are Provided over a Certain Period of Time
Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include
commission income and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees.

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred
(together with any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the EIR on the loan. When it is unlikely
that a loan be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognised as revenues on expiry.

Fee Income from Providing Transaction Services

Fee arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are recognised
on completion of the underlying transaction. Fee or components of fee that are linked to a certain performarce are
recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria.

{iti) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right Lo receive the payment {3 established.

{fv Net gain from financial instruments of fuir value through profit or loss

Net income from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss comprises gains and losses related to
trading assets and liabilities, non-trading derivatives held for risk management purposes that do not form part of
qualifying hedging relationships, financial assets and financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit
or loss and, also non-trading assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or losgs. The line item includes
fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences.

fv) Insurance revenue

For the insurance subsidiaries, net premiurms and accessories (gross premiums) are taken to income over the terms
of the policies to which they relate using the prorate temporise method for non-marine business and 25% of gross
premiums for marine business. Unearned premiums reserve represents the portion of the gross premiums written
relating to the unexpired period of coverage.

If the unearmed premiums reserve is not considered adequate to cover future claims arising on these premiums a
premium deficiency reserve is created.

Cash and cash equivalents

“Cash and cash equivalents” as referred to in the cash flow statement comprises balances with original maturities of
a period of three months or less including cash and balances with central banks, deposits with banks and financial
institutions, deposits due to banks and financial institutions, and repurchase and reverse repurchased agreements.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation
and accurnulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment
if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the
equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the
decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria
for a provision are met.
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)
Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the depreciation period or method, as appropriate
and treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of property and equipment to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years

Office equipment and furniture 6.66 — 12.5 years
Computer equipment and software 3.33 -5 years
General installations S years

Vehicles 4 years

Property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in “Net gain from disposal of property and equipment
and right-of-use assets” in the year the asset is derecognised.

The assets’ residual lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted
prospectively if applicable.

Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected
future economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the Group. The Group’s intangible assets include
the value of software development and key money.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite of indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are amortised over the useful economic life. The amortisation period and the amortisation methed for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life
or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by
changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are freated as changes in accounting estimates.
The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the conselidated income statement.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite
to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognized.

The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite economic life.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

*  Software development 5 years
s Kegy money 10-15 years
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontfinued operations

Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use, This condition is regarded as
met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its
present condition, Management has committed to the sale, and the sale is expected to have been completed within
one year from the date of classification.

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is ¢lassified as held for
sale, and: a) represents a separate major ling of business or geographical area of operations; b) is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate ruajor line of business or geographical area of operations; or ¢} is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

In the consolidated income statement of the reporting period, and of the comparable period of the previcus year,
income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from
continuing operations, down to the level of profii after taxes, even when the Group retains a non-controlling
interest in the subsidiary after the loss of conircl. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported separately in
the income statement,

Impairment of non-linancial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impaitment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value
less costs to sell and its valug in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independeut of those from other assets or groups of assets.
Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions
can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by vatuation
multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. [f such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previcusly recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount,
nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
uniess the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated, These budgets and forecast
calculations penerally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project
future cash flows after the fifth year

Impairment losses of centinuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for properties previously revalued with the revaluation
taken to other comprehensive income. For such properties, the impairment is recognised in other comprehensive
income up to the amount of any previcus revaluation.
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of
CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU s less than its carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. Impalrment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a vesult of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the effect of the time value
of money is material, the Group determines the level of provision by discounting the expected cash flows at a pre-
tax rate reflecting the current rates specific to the liability. The expense relating to any provision is presented in
the conselidated income statement net of any reimbursement.

The Group operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of litigation
risk inherent to ils operations. As a result, it is involved in varicus litigation, arbitration and regulatory
investigations and proceedings both in Lebanon and in other jurisdictions, arising in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business.

When the Group can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a specific case and considers
such outflows to be probable, the Group records a provision against the case. Where the probability of outflow is
considered to be remote, or probable, but a reliable estimate cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed.
However, when the Group is of the opinion that disclosing these estimates on a case-by-case basis would prejudice
their outcome, then the Group does not include detailed, case-specific disclosures in its financial statements.

Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and amount of losses, the Group takes into
account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence from similar
incidents.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The Group prevides retirement benefits obligation to its employees under defined benefit plans, which requires
contributions to be made to separately administered funds. The cost of providing these benefits is determined
using the projected unit credit method which involves making actuarial assumptions about discount rates and
future salary increases. Those assumptions are unbiased and mutually compatible,

Re-measurements, comprising of actvarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding net interest
and the returm on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they oceur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:
»  The date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
s  The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group

recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under “Personnel expenses” in consolidated

statement of income:

*  Service costs comprising current service costs, past service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-
routine seftlements.

»  Net interest experse or income,
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxes

Taxes are provided for in accordance with regulations and laws that are effective in the countries where the Group
operates.

(i) Current Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that arg enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and
generates {axable income.

Current income tax relating to iterns recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement
of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject.{o interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

{ii) Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the statement of financial position date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities ard their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

»  Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

* In respect of taxable temperary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised
except:

s  Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

» Inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each statement of financial
position date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and lizbilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income are also
recognised in other comprehensive income and not in the consolidated income statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilitics and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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Taxes (continued)

(i) Deferred tax (continued)

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at
that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment
is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does no! exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the
measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

Dividends on Common Shares

Dividends on common shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by
the Group’s shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the
discretion of the Group. Dividends for the year that are approved after the repotting date are disclosed as an event
after the reporting date,

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments of the Group which are acquired by it or by any of its subsidiaries (Treasury shares) are
deducted from equity and accounted for at weighted average cost. Consideration paid or received on the purchase
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

When the Group holds own equity instruments on behaif of its clients, these holdings are not included in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

Contracts on own shares that require physical settlement of a fixed number of own shares for a fixed consideration
are classified as equity and added to or deducted from equity. Contracts on own shares that require net cash
settlement or provide a choice of settlement are classified as trading instruments and changes in the fair value are
reported in the consolidated income statement.

Assets under management and assets held in custody and under administration

The Group provides custody and administration services that result in the holding or investing of assets on behalf
of its clients. Assets held in trust, under management or under custody or under administration, are not treated as
assets of the Group and, accordingly, are recorded as off-balance sheet items.

Customers’ acceptances

Customers' acceptances represent term documentary credits which the Group has committed to settle on behalf
of its clients against commitments by those clients (acceptances). The commitments resulting from these
acceptances are stated as a liability in the statement of financial position for the same amount.

Segment reporting
The Group’s segmental reporting is based on the following operating segments; corporate and commercial
banking, retail and personal banking, treasury and capital markets and group functions and head office.

2.6 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Group’s conseclidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities
affected in future periods.
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2.6 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most sighificant effect in the amounts recognised in the
conselidated financial statements:

Business model
In determining whether its business model for managing financial assets is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, the Group considers:
- Management's stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice;
- How management evaluates the performance of the portfolie;
- Whether management’s strategy focuses on eamning contractual interest revenues;
- The degree of frequency of any expected asset sales;
- The reason for any asset seles; and
- Whether assets that are sold are held for an extended period of time relative to their contractual maturity.

Coniractual cash flows of financial assets

The Group exercises judgment in determining whether the contractual terms of financial assets it originates or
acquires give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
putstanding, and so may qualify for amortised cost measurement. In making the assessment, the Group considers
all contractual terms, including any prepayment terms or provisions to extend the maturity of the assets, terms that
change the amount and timing of cash flows and whether the contractual terms contain leverage.

Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised. Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, together with
future tax planning strategies.

Going concern

Notwithstanding the events and conditions disclosed in Note 1, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared based on the going concern assumpticn. The Board of Directors believes that they are taking all the
measures available to maintain the viability of the Group and continue its operations in the current business and
economic environment.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not (o exercise the option to renew or terminate
the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant
event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the
option to renew or to terminate (e.g., a change in business strategy).

The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of head office and branches due to the
significance of these assets to its operations. These leases have a short non-cancellable period (i.e., three to five
years) and there wil! be a significant negative effect on the Group’s operations if a replacement is not readily
available. The renewal options for leases of motor vehicles (or other assets) were not included as part of the lease
term because the Group has a policy of leasing motor vehicles (or other assets) for not more than five years and,
hence, not exercising any renewal options, Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are included
as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised,
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Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and lizbilities within
the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consoclidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions
about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the
control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they oceur,

Fuir value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include
the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where
possible, but where observable market data is not available, estimation is required to establish fair values. The
Jjudgments and estimates include considerations of liquidity and model {nputs such as credit risk (both own and
counterparty) funding value adjustments, correlation and volatility.

Impairment Losses on Financial Instruments
The measurement of impairment losses across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular,
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. The Group's ECL calculations are outputs of
complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs. Elements of
the ECL. models that are considered accounting judgements and estimates include:
- The Group’s internal credit rating model;
- The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk;
- The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;
- Development of ECL models, inciuding the various formulas and the choice of inputs;
- Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs and their impact
on ECL calculation; and
- Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability of oceurrence, to derive the
ECL models

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust
when necessary.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposa! and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based
on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five vears and do not include
restructuring activities that the Group is not yet commiited to or significant future investments thal will enhance
the asset’s performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used
for the DCF model, as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.
These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives recognised by the
Group.

Pensions Obligation

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan is determined using an actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation
involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are highly
sensitive to changes in these assumptions.

45



Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

3 GROUP INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of Byblos Bank SAL and
the following subsidiaries:

Percentage Principal Country of
Subsicheary of ownership actvity incorperation
2019 2048
% %
Byblos Bank Eurppe SA 99.95 9995  Commerciat Banking Belgium
Adonis Insurance and Reinsurance
Co. (ADIR) SAL 63.95 6395  Insurance Lebanon
Adonis Brokerage House SAL 100.00  100.00 Insurance brokcrage Lehanon
Byblos Invest Bank SAL 99.9% 99.99  Investment banking Lebanon
Byblos Bank Armenia CiSC 10000 10000 Commercial Banking Armenia
Adonis Insurance and Reinsurance
{ADIR) Syria 76.00 76.00 Insurance Syria
4 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Financial information of the subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests are provided below:

Proportion of equity interests held by non-controlling interests:

2019 2018
% %

Name
Adonis [nsurance and Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL 36.05 36.05

The summarized financial information of this subsidiary are provided below. This information is based on
amounts before inter-company eliminations:

Summarized income statement for the year ended 31 December:
Adonis fasurance and
Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL

2019 2018

LL million LL miltion

Net interest income 16,519 14,133
Net fee and commission income 5,646 5.031
Net loss from Anancial assets at fair value through profit or loss (1,087) {59)
Other operating income 21,322 19,404
Nel impairment loss on financial assets (25,468) -
Toial operating expenses (14,691) (12,972)
Income tax expense (1,486) {1,540)
Profit for the year 758 -_23,_@
Altributable to non-controlling interests 272 8,651
Dividends paid to non-controlling inlerests 4,371 T 4,086
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Summarized statement of financial position as at 31 December:

Adonis Insurance and
Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL

2619 2018

LL mitlion LL million

Cash and balances with ceniral banks 1,015 39
Due from banks and financial institutions 23,143 29,569
Balances with Parent and Group enbibies 214,791 206,575
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 31,233 26,940
Nel loans and advances at armonised cosi 7,752 6,921
Financial assets at amortised cost 154,137 183,787
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 6,485 14,380
Praperty, equipment and right-of-use assels 22,021 2,067
Other assels 67,452 83,946
Deposits al amoriised cost (306,749) (297,222}
Other liabilitics (22,476) {20,845)
Provisions for risks and charges (114,643) (135,807)
Total equity 84,161 100,350
Adtributable to nen-controlling interests 30,340 36,176

Summarized cash flow information for the year ended 31 December:

Adonts Insurance and
Reinsurance Co. (ADIR) SAL

2019 2018

LL mitlion LL million

Operating 27,972 29,828
Investing (3,983) 16,751
Financing {10,036) (7,203)
Nel increase in cash and cash equivalents 13,953 _—_39,31?6

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segments are evaluated based on information relating to
net operating income and financial position. Income taxes and operating expenses are managed on a group basis
and are not allocated to operating segments.

Interest income is reported net, since Management monitors net interest income as & performance measure and
not the gross income and expense amounts. Net interest incorne is allocated to the business segment based on the
assumption that all positions are funded or invested via a central funding unit. An internal Funds Transfer Pricing
(FTP) mechanism was implemented between operating segments. Transfer prices between operating segments are
on an arm’s length basis in 2 manner similar to transactions with third parties.

The assets and liabilities that are reported in the segments are net from inter-segments’ assets and liabilities since
they constitute the basis of management’s measures of the segments’ assets and liabilities and the basis of the
allocation of resources between segments.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

A)  Business Segments

The Group operates in four main business segments which are Corporate and Commercial Banking, Retail and
Personal Banking, Treasury and Capital Markets, and Group Functions and Head Office.

Corporate and Commercial Banking

Retail and Personal Banking

Treasury and Capital Markets

Group Functions and Head Office

Provides diverse products and services to corporate and commercial
customers including loans, deposits, trade finance, exchange of
foreign currencies, as well as all regular corporate and commercial
banking activities.

Provides individual customers’ deposits and consumer loans,
overdrafls, credit cards, and funds transfer facilities, as well as all
regular retail and private banking activities.

Provides Treasury services including transactions in money and
capital markets for the Group’s customers, manages investment and
trading transactions (locally and intemationally), and manages
liquidity and market risks. This segment also offers investment
banking and brokerage services, and manages the Group’s own
portfolio of stocks, bonds, and other financial instruments.

Consists of capital and strategic investments, exceptional profits and
losses, as well as operating resulis of subsidiaries which offer non-
banking services.

The following tables present net operating income information and financial position information in respect of

the Group’s reportable segments.

i) Net Operating Income Information

Net interest income (expense)

Mei fee and commission income

Net gain from financial assels al fair value
through profil or loss

Net gain from derecognition of [inancial assets at
amortised cosl

Non-interest revenues {rom (inancial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive
incomg

Other operating income

MNet impairment loss on financial asscts

Net operating income

2019
Corperate Treasury Group
and Retail und Functions
Commercial  and Personal Capitat and Head
Ranking Banking Moarkets Gffice Total
LL miltion LL mitlion LE mililon LL mitlion LL mitHon
159,005 264,724 (62,204) - 361,525
61,393 70,018 2,812 9,821 144,044
- - 17,620 - 17,620
- - 11,631 - 11,631
- - 2,634 - 2,634
- - - 79,700 79,700
{48,879) (40,803 (333,209) - {422,891)

171,519 293,939 (360,716) 89,521 194,263
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

A)  Business Segments (continued)

i} Net Operating Income Information (continued)

2018
Corporate Treasury Group
and Retaid and Fupctions
Commercial ~ and Personal Capital and Head
Banging Banking Markels Office Total
LL miftion £4. mitlion LL midlion LL mitlion LL million
Nel interest income 130,279 224,231 138,442 1,794 494,746
Net fee and commission income 63,593 68,987 4,643 7,840 145,063
Net gain from financial asseis at fair value
Ihrough profit or loss - - 16,451 - 16,451
Net loss from derecognition of financial assets a1
amortised cost - - (3,119) - (3,119
Non-interest revenues from linancial assels at
fair value through other comprehensive
income - - 5,569 - 5,569
Other aperating income - - - 42,539 42,539
Nel impatrmeni (loss) gain on financial assets (27,192 {6,648) 19,670 - (14,170)
Net operaiing income 166,680 286,570 181,656 52,173 687,079
i) Financial position information
2019
Corporate Treasury Group
and Retail and Functions
Commerclal  and Personal Capital and Head
Banking Banking Markets Office Toral
L1 miillon LL miflion LL ngttion LL milfion LL milfion
Total assets 4,292,361 2,600,581 25,593,419 554,134 33,040,795
Total ligbilities 1,229,012 24,965,053 3,640,716 695,226 30,530,007
2018
Corparaie Treasury Group
and Retoif and Funcitons
Commerciaf and Personal Capal and Head
Banking Banking Morkets Office Toial
LE mllion LE mutlion LL milfion Lf. miltion LE mdfion
Total asseis 5,567,040 2,968,211 28,649,601 482,976 37,697,828
Total liabilities 413633 26425680 6,016,115 947,291  34,802.719
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)

A) Business Segments (continued)

i) Financial position information (continued)

Interest and similar income from exposure to the Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign amounted to
[.L 1,629,387 million (2018: LL 1,353,323 million) arising from time deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon

and financial instruments held by the Group. The breakdown of interest and similar income from exposure to the
Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese sovereign is as follows:

2019 2018
LL mililon LL mitlion

Interest and similar income
Central Bank of Lebanon 1,324,454 1,032,873
Lebanese sovereign 304,933 320450
1,629,387 1,353,323

B) Geographical Segments

The Group operates in three geographical segments, Lebanon, Europe and other countries and as such, is subject
to different risks and returns. The following tables show the distribution of the Groups’ net external operating
income, assets and liabilities allocated based on the location of the subsidiaries reporting the results or advancing
the funds. Transactions between segments are carried at market prices and within pure trading conditions.

2019
Lebanon Europe Other Total
LL million LL million LEL million LL million
Total operating income 522,696 63,399 31,059 617,154
Net impairment loss on financial assets (413,856) (6,447) (2,588) (422,891)
Net operating income! 108,840 56,952 28471 194,263
Non-current assets? 358,007 30,747 39,774 428,528
2018
Lebanon Europe Other Total
LL million LL miflion LEL million LL mittion
Total operating income 612,691 61,267 27,291 701,249
Net impairment toss on financial assets (6,998) {2,617) (4,555) (14,170)
Net operating income' 605,693 58,650 T 22736 687,079
Non-current assets? 299,355 T 10281 31,459 341,095

! Net operating income (5 attribuded 10 the gengraphical segment on the basis of the focaton of the branch / subsidiary responsible for reporting the veswlts or
advancing the funds,

! Non-currest assets consist of property, equipment and right-af-use assels, intangible assets, and cerlain other assels (other thon financiol mstruments ond
defarved taxes) expected to be recovered in more than twelve momthy affer the reporing dare,
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6 INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

Interest and similar income

Balances with central banks
Due from banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost

Loans and advances to related parties at amortised cost (note 44)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Debt instruments at fair velue through other comprehensive income

Tax on interest

Balances with central banks
Financial assets at amortized cost
Others

Interest und similar income, net of tax

7 INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

Due to central banks

Due to banks and financial institutions

Customers’ deposits at amortised cost

Deposits from related parties at amortised cost (note 44)
Debt issued and other borrowed funds

Subordinated debt

Lease ligbilities (note 34)

2019 2018

LL million LI, million
1,227,574 885,333
101,184 73,198
12,250 22,813
648,544 587,603
1,596 1,543
520,828 542,882
14,759 18,411
2,526,735 2,131,983
(102,261) f64,920)
(30,130) (27,538)

- (833)
(132,391) (93,291)
2,394,344 2,038,692
2619 2018

LL million Li million
108,137 57,881
45,922 31,574
1,796,430 1,369,487
16,947 21,360
31,799 31,796
32,259 31,848
1,325 -
2,032,819 1,543,946
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8 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Fee and commission income

Loans and advances
Letters of guarantee
Acceptances

Letiers of credit

Credit cards

Domiciled bills

Checks for collection
Maintenance of accounts
Transfers

Safe rental

Portfolio commission
Commission on insurance related activities
Refund of banking services
Other commissions

Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

9 NET GAIN FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Interest and similar income from debt instruments
- Lebanese treasury bills

(Loss) guin from sale of debt instruments

- Lebanese treasury bills

- Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon
- Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions

{nrealized loss from revaluation of debt instruments
- Lebanese treasury bills

Net (loss) gain from debt instruments
Equity instruments

- Loss from sale

- Unrealized gain (loss) from revaluation

- Dividend income

Net gain (loss) from equity instruments

Foreign exchange (*)

2019 2018
LL million LL miltion
22,766 26,086
12,565 13,338
8,925 8,360
20,466 23,235
25,243 22,455
2,342 2,411
3,771 2,906
16,684 16,654
11,592 10,290
1,136 1,138
2,659 2,845
11,387 11,111
12,598 13,085
5,071 3,569
157,205 157,483
(13,161) (12,420)
144,044 145,063
2019 2018
LL million  LL million
1,861 3,710
(888) (1,568)
231 -
106 36
(551) (1,532)
(9,373) (1,636)
(8,063) 542
(210) (14)
8,405 (5,408)
134 88
8,329 (5,334)
17,354 21,243
17,620 16,451

(*) Foreign exchange income includes gains and losses from spot and forward contracts, other currency derivatives

and the revaluation of the daily open trading position.
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10 NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

COST

The Group derecognises some debt instruments classified at amortised cost due to the following reasons:

Deterioration of the credil rating below the ceiling allowed in the Group’s investment policy;

Liquidity gap and yield management;

Exchange of certificates of deposit by the Central Bank of Lebanon; or
Currency risk management as a result of change in the currency base of deposits.

The schedule below details the gains and losses arising from the derecognition of these financial assets:

Lebanese treasury bills
Placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon

Lebanese treasury bills
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon

11 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Write back of provisions for risks and charges (note 35 (b))
[ncome from insurance related activities

Write-back of deferred revenues (note 34)

Rental income from non-current assets held for sale

Net gain from sale of non-current assets held for sale
Claims approved by reinsurers (note 29)

Others

2019
Gains Losses Net
LL million LI miltion LL million
- (1,202) (1,202)
12,833 - 12,833
12,833 (1,202) 11,631
2018
Gains Losses Net
LL million LL million LL million
- (2,558) (2,558)
- {561) (561)
: (3,119) (3,119)
2019 2018
LL mitlion LL million
37,723 8,274
18,554 16,485
16,507 -
654 371
517 45
- 10,553
5,745 6.611
79,700 42,539
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12 NET IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

New and increased impairment allowances:

Financizl assets at amortised cost

Balances with central banks

Leans and advances to customers at amortised cost

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Due from banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements
Loans and advances to related parties at amortised cost

Financial guarantees and other commitments

Bad debts written off

Recoveries:

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost

Balances with central banks

Due from banks and financial institutions

Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements
Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial guarantees and other commitments

13 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries and other related beuefits

Social security contributions

Bonuses

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (note 35 (a))

2019 2018
LE million LL million
192,801 1,787
139,162 7,390
123,855 63,244
4,144 284
987 2,897

179 105

114 15

111 889

56 -
461,409 76,611
(34,128) (30,266)
(2,353) (29,024)
(1,961) (78)
(76) (25)

- (3,006)

- (42)
(38,518) (62,441)
422,891 14,170
2619 2018

LL million LL million
160,405 160,137
21,250 20,412
1,391 20,733
3,929 10,052
186,975 211,334
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14 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Taxes on interest

Taxes and duties

Contribution t¢ deposits guarantee fund
Rent and related charges under operating leases
Professional fees

Telecommunications and postage expenses
Board of Directors’ attendance fees
Maintenance and repairs

Electricity and fuel

Travel and entertainment

Publicity and advertising

Subscriptions

Legal expenses

Insurance

Guarding fees

Printings and stationery

Donations

Provisicns for risks and charges (note 35 (b))
Others

15 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Current income tax expense
Other taxes

2019 2018
LL million Li million
5,601 4,648
10,081 8,262
13,965 13,350
2,822 7016
11,274 10,013
7,260 6,978
1,003 1,340
17,910 17,459
5,555 5,140
2,347 2,186
10,151 14,401
4,832 4,459
2,498 2,499
1,066 1,013
2,639 2,348
2,527 2,506
2,053 2,936
13,772 27,971
10,404 13,307
127,760 148,435
2019 2018
LL miflion LL million
33,901 51,136
3,164 359
37,065 57,495
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15 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The components of operating profit before tax, and the differences between income tax expense reflected in the
consolidated financial statements and the amounts calculated at the Lebanese tax rate, are shown in the table
below:

2019 2018
LL mitlion LL million
(Loss) profit before income tax (146,117) 307,361
Less: Results of the subsidiary insurance company located in Lebanon (2,241) (25,537)
Accounting (loss) profit before tax (148,358) 281,824
Add:
Non-tax deductible provisions 397,501 6,680
Other non-tax deductible charges 39,169 70,887
288,312 359,391
Less:
4% of a subsidiary's capital eligible to be tax deductible (1,200) (1,200)
Release of provisions previously subject to income tax (84,042) (18,704)
Other non-taxable income (3,655) {(3,392)
Taxable profit 199,415 336,095
Income tax expensc in the consolidated income statement 33,901 57,136

The tax rates applicable to the parent and subsidiaries vary from 0% to 40% in accordance with the income tax
laws of the countries where the Group operates. For the purpose of determining the taxable results of the
subsidiaries for the year, the accounting results have been adjusted for tax purposes. Such adjustments include
items relating to both income and expense and are based on the current understanding of the existing tax laws and
regulations and tax practices.

The movement of current tax liabilities during the year is as follows:

2019 2018

LL millian LL million

Balance at 1 January 57,402 31,735
Add: Charge for the year 37,065 57,495
Less: Paid during the year (54,335) {31,828)
Balance at 31 December (note 34 (a)) 40,1_35 i 57,402

Deferred taxes recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position result from the following items:

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabifities
2019 2018 2019 2018
LL mitlion LL mitlion LL milfion LL miflion

Fair value of financial instruments 6,388 882 4,735 3,169
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16  LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED QOPERATIONS

During 2018, the Group fully disposed of its investment in Byblos Bank RDC SARL to third parties for a total
consideration of USD § million (equivalent to LL 12,060 millign).

The disposal of this subsidiary resulted in 2 loss from discontinued operations amounting to L.L 2,472 million
representing the loss on interest disposed of, and which was recorded under “Loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax™ in the consolidated income statement.

The net (losses) income from discontinued operations are as follows:

2019 2018

LL mitiion LL million

Interest and similar income - 54
Fee and commission income - 134
Other operating income - 544
Total operating income - 732
Net impairment loss on financial assets - (28)
Net operating income - 704
Total operating expenses - (1,642)
Operating loss - (938)
Loss on derecognition of discontinued cperations - (1,534)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations ~ (2,472)

Cash inflow from sale:

Total consideration received - 12,060
LL LL

Earnings per share:

Basic earnings per share - (3.84)

Diluted earnings per share - (317

The net cash flows from discontinued operations are as follows:

2019 2018

LL miflion LL million

Operating activities - 3,439
Investing activities - 63
Financing activities - {94)
Net cash inflows - 3,408

17 (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss) eamnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted {loss) earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit atiributable 1o ordinary equity holders of
the Group (after adjusting for interest on the convertible instruments net of tax) by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would
have been issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential shares into ordinary shares.
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17 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
The following table shows the {loss) income and share data used in the basic (loss) earnings per share calculation:

2019 2018

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year (*) 562,318,325 563,252,414

2019 2018
LL milfion LL million

Net (loss) profit attributable to equity holders of the parent (183,553) 238,940
(Less): proposed dividends to preferred shares - (48,480)
Net (loss) profit attributable to equity holders of the parent (183,553) 190,460
Basic (loss) eamings per share in LL (326.42) 338.14

(*) The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted for the computation of basic (loss) earnings per
share takes into account the weighted average number of treasury shares.

Diluted (loss) earnings per share
The following table shows the (less) income and share data used in the diluted (loss) earnings per share calculation:

2019 2018
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 562,318,325 563252414
Effect of dilution:

Convertible subordinated debt 117,200,000 117,200,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect . )

of dilutien 679,518,325 680,452,414

2019 2018

LL million LL million

Net (loss) profit attributable 10 equity holders of the parent (183,553) 190,460

Interest on convertible debt 32,259 31,848

Less: income tax (5,484) (5,414
Net (loss) profit attributable to equity holders of the parent adjusted for the

effect of convertible debt (156,778) 216,894

Diluted (loss) earnings per share in LL (230.72) 318.75

There were no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and

the date of the completion of these consolidated financial statements which would require the restatement of (loss)
earnings per share.
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18 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

2019 208

LL million LL million

Cash on hand 189,004 342,744
Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon: - o
- Current accounts 404,426 367,179
- Time deposits (a) 13,876,025 15,132,903
14,280,451 15,500,082

Balances with Central Banks in other countries:

- Current accounts 395,197 327.519
- Time deposits 544 468
395,741 327,987

Accrued interest receivable 248,208 189,637
15,113,404 16,360,450
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (note 49.2) (171,758) (36,328)
14,941,646 16,324,122

The table for the movement in allowances for expected credit losses on balances with central banks under IFRS 9
is presented in the Credit Risk section (Note 49.2).

Obligatory reserves:

- Inaccordance with the Central Bank of Lebanon’s rules and regulations, banks operating in Lebanon are required
to deposit with the Central Bank of Lebanon an obligatory reserve calculated on the basis of 25% of sight
commitments and 15% of tenm commitments denominated in Lebanese Lira. This is not applicable for
investment banks which are exempted from obligatory reserve requirements on commitments denominated in
Lebanese Lira. Additionally, all banks operating in Lebanon are required to deposit with the Central Bank of
Lebanon interest-bearing placements representing 15% of total deposits in foreign currencies regardless of
nature. Obligatory reserve requirements for banks operating in Lebanon and the related covering time deposits
and current accounts with the Central Bank of Lebanon amounted to LL 2,861,045 million and LL 2,893,172
million respectively as at 31 December 2019 (2018: LL 2,920,277 million and LL 2,972,575 million
respectively).

Subsidiary banks and branches operating in foreign countries are also subject to obligatory reserve requirements
determined based on the banking rules and regulations of the countries in which they operate. As of 31 December
2019, obligatory reserve requirements for banks operating in foreign countries and the related covering time
deposits, current accounts and cash on hand amounted to LL 99,293 million (2018: LL 93,674 million).

Allowance for expected credit losses includes an amtount of LL 640 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018: LLL 2,562
million) against balances held with the Central Bank of [raq — Kurdistan.

(a) During 2019, the Group and the Central Bank of Lebanon signed a netting agreement for specified financial
assets and liabilities that qualify for netting under the requirements of 1AS 32. Accordingly, as at 31
December 2019, time deposits with the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon amounting to LL 4,570,557 million and
term borrowings from the Central Bank of Lebanon (Note 30) are reported on a net basis on the statement
of financial position. At 31 December 2018, time deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon amounting 1o
LL 2,334,095 million and maturing betwecn 2022 and 2033 were blocked against term borrowings granted
by the Central Bank of L.ebanon with the same value and maturities (Note 30).
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19 DUE FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2019 2018

LL miflion LL million

Current accounts 1,625,018 991,732
Time deposits 922,501 2,874,064
Accrued interest receivable 1,572 4,428
2,549,091 3,870,224

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (note 49.2) (3,803) {5,473)
2,545,288 3,864,751

Doubtful balances with banks and financial institutions and the related provisions and unrealized interest which
fulfill certain requirements have been transferred to off financial position accounts. The gross amount of these

balances amounted to LL 2,422 million as of 31 December 2019 (2018: LL 2,409 million).

20 LOANS TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND REVERSE REPURCHASE

AGREEMENTS
2019 2048
LL million LL mitlion
Loans to banks and financial institutions 122,600 178,490
Accrued interest receivable 563 1,160
T 123,163 179,650
Discounted acceptances 214,356 169,260
Interest received in advance (1,975) (2,723)
212,381 166,537
Reverse repurchase agreements 21,377 17,597
Accrued interest receivable 23 17
21,400 17,614
356,944 363,801
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (note 49.2) (234) (168)
356,710 363,633

The Group purchased Armenian Treasury bills under a2 commitment to resell them (reverse repurchase
agreements). The securities are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position as the Group does
not acquire the risks and rewards of ownership. Consideration paid (or cash collateral provided) is accounted for
as a loan and amounted to LL 21,400 million at 31 December 2019, including accrued interest (2018: LL 17,614

million).
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21 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group enters into derivatives for trading and for risk management purposes. The table below shows the fair
values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities together with their notional amounts.
The notional amount, recorded gross, is the quantity of the derivative contracts’ underlying instrument (being an
equity instrument, commodity product, reference rate or index, etc.). The notional amounts indicate the volume
of transactions outstanding at year-end and are not indicative of either the market risk or credit risk.

Forwards and Futures

Forwards and futures contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial instrument at a
specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market.
Futures contracts are transacted in standardised amounts on regulated exchanges and arc subject to daily cash
margin requirements.

Options

Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser either to buy or
to sell a specific amount of a financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed {uture date or at any time within
a specified period.

Swaps

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange streams of payments over time based on
specified notional amounts, in relation to movements in a specified undertying index such as an interest rate,
foreign currency rate, commodity index or equity index.

Interest rate swaps relate to contracts taken out by the Group with other counterparties (customers and financial
institutions) in which the Group either receives or pays a fleating rate of interest, respectively, in return for paying
or receiving a fixed rate of interest. The payment flows are usually netted against each other, with the difference
being paid by one party to the other.

In a currency swap, the Group pays a specified amount in one currency and receives a specified amount in another
currency. Currency swaps are mostly gross-settled.

2019 2018
Notional Noftional
Assets  Liabilities amount Assets  Liabilities amount
LL million  LL million LL mitlion LL million Lf miflion LL million

Held for trading
Currency swaps 341 400 143,943 444 391 180,051
Forward foreign exchange contracts 362 508 184,723 1,455 1,411 154,210

703 908 328,666 1,899 1,802 334,261
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22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018
LL million LL miliion

Lebanese sovereign and Central Bank of Lebanon
Treasury bills 1,508 1,990
Eurobonds 13,135 29,624
15,043 31,614
Private sector and other securities b
Equity securities and funds 68,508 58,876
83,551 90,490

23 NET LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTISED COST

2019 2018

LL miliion LL miflion

Commercial loans 4,414,477 5,400,376
Consumer loans 2,685,038 3,088,798
7,099,515 8,489,174

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (note 49.2) (385,690) {310,945)
6,713,825 8,178,229

The table for the movement in allowances for expected credil losses on loans and advances to custorers at
amortized cost under [FRS 9 is presented in the Credit Risk section (Note 45.2).

Bad loans and related provisions and unrealized interest which fulfil] certain requirements have been transferred to
off financial position accounts. The gross balance of these loans amounted to LL 260,812 million as 0of 31 December
2019 (2018: LL 238,775 million).
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24 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

2019 2018
LL million LL million
Lebanese sovereign and Central Bank of Lebanon
Certificates of deposits 3,037,376 3,042,170
Treasury bills (a) 2,665,192 2,696,857
Eurcbonds 1,882,616 1,973,028
7,585,184 7,712,055
Other sovereign
Foreign governmental debt securities 53,178 85,617
Private sector and other securities E—
Certificates of deposit issued by banks and financial institutions 3,051 3,051
Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions 775 776
3,826 ' 3,827
7,642,188 7,801,499
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (note 49.2) (219,652) (25,223)
7,422,536 7,776,276

The table for the movement in allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets at amortized cost under
IFRS 9 is presented in the Credit Risk section (Note 49.2).

(a) Asat 3] December 2019, Lebanese treasury bills amounting to LL 1,242,249 million were pledged against

subsidized loans and term borrowings granted by the Central Bank of Lebanon with the same value (2018:
LL 1,236,320 million) (Note 30).

25 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2019 2018
LL million LL million

Lebanese sovercign and Centrel Bank of Lebanon
Eurobonds 42,948 42919
Other sovereign -
Foreign governmental debt securities 101,607 90,884

Private sector and other securities

Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions 10,011 6,410
Equity securities 88,418 88,216
98,429 94,626
242,984 228,429
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25 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(continued)

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income:
The Group classified the following instruments in private sector securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income as it holds them for strategic reasons. The tables below list those equity instruments,
dividends received, and the changes in fair value net of applicable taxes:

2019 2048
Curmulative Cumulative
Carrying  fairvalue  Dividend Carrying  falr value  Dividend
amount changes income anmount changes income

LL million LI million LL miltion LL miliion  LL miltion LL million

Unguoted shares:

RBangque de I’Habitat SAL 23,092 17,903 - 20,336 15,147 571

Intra [nvestment Company SAL 17,591 4,567 - 17.591 4,567 583

Interbank Payment Network (IPN) SAL 1,456 453 51 1411 408 50

Arab Trade Financing Program 2,118 626 28 2,118 626 -

Others 2,117 302 - 2,096 282

Quoted shares:

Jordan Ahli Bank 42,044 (38,370) 2,555 44,664  (33,750) 2,031
88,418 (14,519) 2,634 8,216 (14,7200 3,235

Dividend income amounted to LL 2,634 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2018: LL 3,235 million)
and resulted from equity instruments held at year end (2018: the same).

Geain from disposal of debt instruments held at fair value through other comprehensive income amounted to
LL 2,334 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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26 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Furniture Right
Motor and af Advance
Bulldings vehicles equipmeznt use assefs Deposits  paymenis Tatal
LL miflion  LL million LL mitlian LL mittion LL miflien LL million LL million
Cost:
At | January 2019 288,569 2,860 232,187 - 145 5497 532,861
Impact of adopting IFRS 16 at
1 January 2019 - - - 31.227 - - 31,227
Additions 39,922 A2 16,552 - 4 1,377 57,897
Transfers - - 1,122 - - (1,122) -
Disposals 913 (80} (2.101) - - - (3,096)
Wrile-olfs - - {2,473 - - - {2.473)
Foreign exchanpge dilference 109 3 {42) - 3 - 67
At 31 Decemher 2019 327,685 2,825- 245,243 31,227 749 8,752 616481
Depreciation: T
Al 1 January 2019 69,109 2,307 189,432 - - - 260,898
Depreciation during the year 1,947 294 14,343 3,993 - - 23,377
Related to disposals 437 (35 {2,025) - - - {2,500y
Relaied to wrile-of(s - - {2,444y - - - (2,444}
Foreign exchange dilference 19 2 (77 - - - (56)
At 31 December 2019 73,638 2,565 199,279 3.993 - S 219478
Net earrying value: b C T ' B T
At 31 December 2019 254,047 260 45,964 27,234 749 8,752 337,006
Furniture
Moitor and Advance
Buddings vehicles equipment Deposits pavments Toial
LL milfion LE muthon LL milfion LE miltion LEL mithon LE mullion
Cosl:
Al | January 2018 278,950 3,006 216,900 707 7.680 507,243
Additions 12,358 30 14,775 41 3.369 30,573
Transfers - - 2,552 - {2,552) -
Disposals (2,747 - {463) - - {3,212y
Foreign exchange difference 10 - {314) - - {304)
Disposal of a subsidiary - {178) (1,263 - - {1,439)
AL 3] December 2018 288,569 2,860 232,187 748 8.497 532,381
Depreciation: - .
Al 1 January 2018 64,329 2,158 179,947 - - 246,434
Depreciation during the year 4,778 295 11,832 - - 16,905
Relaled to disposals - - {4607 - - {4600
Foreign exchange difference 2 - {574) - - {572)
Disposal of a subsidiary - (146) (1.263) - - (1.409)
AL31 December 2018 69,109 2307 189,482 : - 260,898
Mel carrying value:
Al 31 December 2018 219,460 353 42.705 7438 8497 271,963
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26 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Set out below is the breakdown of the carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during

the period:

As at | January 2019
Depreciation expense

Asx at 31 December 2019

Branches Other Total
LL million LL million LI million
27,375 3,852 31,227
(3,455) (338) (3,993)
23,920 3314 27,234

The cost of buildings at 31 December 2019 and 2018 include the revaluation differences of properties valued during
prior years in accordance with law 282 dated 30 Decernber 1993 and approved by the Central Committes of the
Central Bank of Lebanon. Revaluation differences on property and equipment reflected as revaluation reserve of
real estate in equity amounted to LL 5,689 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018: the same) (Note 41).

27 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost

At | January 2019
Additions

Disposals

Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December 2019

Amortization

At ] January 2019

Charge for the year

Related to disposals

Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December 2019

Net carrying value
At 31 December 2019

Software
Key money development Total
LL miilion LL million LL mitlion
2,303 48,085 50,388
. 6,419 6,419
- (7 (D
(25) (25)
2,303 54,472 56,775
2,150 30,511 32,661
75 4,227 4,302
- (N N
- (21) (21)
2,225 34,710 36,935
78 19,762 19,840
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27 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Cost

At 1 January 2018
Additions

Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December 2018

Amortization

At ] January 2018

Charge for the year

Foreign exchange difference

At 31 December 2018

Net carrying value
At 31 December 2018

Software
Key money development Total
LL million LL mitlion LL million
2,303 40,139 42.442
- 8,011 8,011
- (65) (65)
2,303 48,085 50,388
2,036 27,511 29,547
114 3,050 3,164
- (50) (50)
2,150 30,511 32,661
153 17,574 17,727

28 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The Group occasionally takes possession of assets in settlement of loans and advances, The Group is in the process
of selling these assets which are, as such, included in non-current assets held for sale. Gains or losses on disposal
are recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year.

Cost:

At ] January
Additions
Disposals
Transfers

At 3] December

Impairment:
At 1 January and 31 December

Net carrying value:
At 31 December

2019 2018

LL million LL million
56,564 50,050
20,563 8,205
(286) (284)

- (1,407

76,841 56,564
(5,159) {5.159)
71,682 51,405
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29 OTHER ASSETS

2019 2018

LL million LL million

Obligatory deposits (a) 2,250 2,250
Prepaid expenses 4,117 4,296
Prepaid insurance 6,015 1,739
Prepaid maintenance 2,618 2,339
Printings and stationery 3,852 4,533
Electronic cards and regularization accounts 19,027 18,050
Insurance premiums receivable 2,835 6,547
Deferred tax assets (note 15) 6,388 882
Reinsurers’ share of technical reserves of subsidiary insurance companies 53,615 69,149
Hospitalization and medical care under collection 14,951 12,894
Receivable balance related to approved claims by reinsurers (note 11) - 10,553
Other debit balances 9,940 8.650
125,608 141,882

a) Obligatory deposits consist of deposits as a percentage of the share capital of subsidiary banks that were
blocked at incorporation as a guarantee with the authorities. These deposits shall be returned to the subsidiary
banks without any interest upon liquidation of their activities.

30 DUE TO CENTRAL BANKS

2019 2018
LL miltion LL million

Central Bank of Lebanon
Current accounts - 436
Subsidized loans 483,976 496,756
Term borrowings under leverage arrangements 1,013,862 3,348,028
Accrued interest payable 28,618 16,332
1,526,456 3,861,572

Other central banks

Current accounts 117 119
Term loans 2,190 3,204
Time deposits - 3,567
Accrued interest payable 33 61
2,340 8,951
1,528,796 3,870,523

Subsidised Loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon
- The Group signed a credit agreement with the Central Bank of Lebanon based on the provisions of
Decision no. 6116 dated 7 March 1996 relating to the facilities which can be granted by the Central Bank
of Lebanon to banks. The balance amounted to LL 307,011 millien as of 31 December 2019 (2018: LL
332,608 million).
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30 DUE TO CENTRAL BANKS (continued)

Subsidised Loans from the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon (continued)
- During 2010, the Group obtained 3 loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon te finance customers affected
by July 2006 war. These loans were originally granted in the arnount of LI 8,810 million, out of which
LL 1,895 million matured during 2013 and LL 5,528 million matured during 2015. These loans are
secured by the pledge of Lebanese treasury bills amounting to LL 1,387 million included under financizal
assets et amortised cost as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Note 24).

- The Group obtained 3 loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon to finance the merger of the assets and
liabilities of Banque Pharaon & Chiha SAL. These loans were originally granted in the amount of LL
227,000 million netted by a discount of LL 51,422 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018: LL 221,000
million netted by a discount of LL 58,239 million) and are secured by the pledge of Lebanese treasury
bills amounting to LL 227,000 millicn included under financial assets at amortiscd cost as of 31
December 2019 (2018: LL 221,000 million) (Note 24),

Term borrowings under leverage arrangementis

Term borrowings under leverage arrangements with the Central Bank of Lebanon represent term borrowings
denominated in Lebanese Lira, bearing an interest rate of 2% per annum and having maturities ranging between
2022 and 2035, futly invested in pledged Lebanese treasury bills and blocked term placements with the Central
Bank of Lebanon in Lebanese Lira earming coupon rates ranging between 6.5% per annum and 10.3%.
Simultaneously the Group has further deposited with the Central Bank of Lebanon term placements in foreign
currencies at 6.5% per annum and in Lebanese Lira at 10.5% per annum carrying the same maturities. During
20189, the Group and the Central Bank of Lebanon signed a netting agreement covering only leverage arrangements
that were invested in blocked term placements with the Central Bank of Lebancn in Lebanese Lira. This agreement
gualifies for netting under the requirements of IAS 32.

The below table summarises the leverage arrangements and related financial assets subject to offsetting, and
enforceable similar agreements, and whether offset is achieved in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The table identifies the amounts that have been offset in the consolidated statement of financizal position and also
those amounts that are covered by enforceable netting arrangements (financial collateral) but do not qualify for
netting under the requirements of JTAS 32 described in the accounting policies:

2019 2018
LL million LL million

Leverage arrangements

Gross amounts 5,584,419 3,348,028
Amounts offset against (¥

Placements with the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon (note 18) (4,570,557) -
Net amounts reported on the consolidated statement of financial position 1,013,862 3,348,028

Financial collateral
Lebanese treasury bills (note 24) 1,013,862 1,013,933
Placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon (note 18) - 2,334,095

1,013,862 3,348,028

(1 Represents amounts that can be offset under IAS 32. Placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon have also
been reported in the consolidated statement of financial position net of the amounts above.
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31 DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Current accounts

Term loans

Time deposits

Cash marging

Accrued interest payable

a2 CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS AT AMORTISED COST

Current accounts

Term deposits

Cash margins

Accrued interest payable

33 DEBT ISSUED AND OTHER BORROWED FUNDS

Interest
Maturity rate
%

Notes (*)
issue 2011
Accrued interest payable

24/06/2021 7.00

Debt issued
Issue 2017
Accrued interest payable

1970172021 7.50

2019 2018

LL million LL million
114,033 173,235
576,425 507,127
486,545 415,886
54,256 163,374
8,133 6,448
1,239,392 1,266,070
2019 2018

LL million LL million
4,465,961 3,564,335
20,272,009 22,387,664
1,021,601 1,285,137
208,860 181,006
25,968,431 27,418,142
2019 2018

LL million LL million
431,488 441,125
616 616
432,104 T 441,741
9,517 9,358

207 202

9,724 9,560
441,828 451,301

(*) The Group has undertaken not to use any of the proceeds of the issue in Sudan, Syria or Democratic Republic
of Congo. The Group shall pay interest on the notes without deduction or withholding for taxes. The notes are
redeemable, in whole or in part, at the option of the Group at any time after the first anniversary cof the issue date,
in the event of changes in the Lebanese tax law that will result in taxes on interest on the notes in excess of the

current applicable tax rate.

The General Assembly of the Association of Noteholders held on 19 June 2020 of Notes due on 2021 and issued
by the Group during 2011 resolved, with majority of the votes, to modify the terms and conditions of the Notes
as set out in the Trust Deed and in the summary of terms and conditions signed by the initial subscribers for the
purpeses of providing early redemption of the Notes in June 2020 and to medify the payment terms. Accordingly,

the Group settled the outstanding balance of these Notes on 29 June 2020.
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34 OTHER LIABILITIES

2019 2018

LL million LL million

Lease liabilities 24,803 -
Accrued expenses 33,822 43,263
Fixed assets suppliers 174 182
Unearned commission and interest 6,486 6,198
Cash margins related to companies under establishment 1,526 1,432
Insurance premiums received in advance 2,504 2,908
Payables to the National Social Security Fund 2,388 2,237
Advance payments linked to non-current assets held for sale 47 375
Current tax liability (a) 65,307 75,780
Deferred tax liability (note 15) 4,735 3,165
Put options on non-controlling interests 4,791 4,791
Deferred provision for Banque Pharaon & Chiha SAL loans portfolio 9,905 10,723
Escrow account upon acquisition of Banque Pharaon & Chiha SAL - 4,776
Deferred revenues (b) 138,987 155,494
Other creditors 61,325 43 449
356,800 354,777

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year ended 31 December
2019:

2019

LL million

Balance at 1 January 29,681

Interest expense (note 7) 1,325

Paid during the year (6,203)

Balance at 31 December 24,803
(a) Current tax liability

2019 2018

LL million LL million

Income tax due {note 15) 40,132 57,402

Withholding tax on szlaries 2,546 2,343

Withholding tax on interest earned by customers 18,585 12,117

Value added tax 164 503

Other taxes 3,880 3415

65,307 75,780
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3 OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Deferred revenues

During 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued Intermediate Circular number 446 dated 30 December 2016
relating to the gain realized by banks from certain financial transactions with the Central Bank of Lebanon,
consisting of the sale of financial instruments denominated in Lebanese Lira and the purchase of financial
instruments denominated in US Dollars. in accordance with the provisions of this circular, banks should recognize
in the income statement, only part of the gain net of tax, caped to the extent of the losses recorded to comply with
receni regulatory provisioning requirements, the impairment losses on subsidiaries and goodwill recorded in
accordance with [AS 36 and IFRS 3 respectively and the shortage needed to comply with the capital adequacy
requirements. Lebanese banks may further recognize up to 70% of the remaining balance of the gain realized net of
tax in the income statement as non-distributable profits to be appropriated 10 reserves for capital increase, qualifying
for inclusion within regulatory Common Equity Tier One.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group carried an amount of LL 155,494 million (net of tax) in gains realized from
certain financial transactions with the Central Bank of Lebanon that it did not recognize in the consolidated income
statement in previous years. During 2019, the Group wrote-back an amount of LL 16,507 million from this balance
which was recorded under “Other operating income™ in the conselidated income statement (Note 11). The amount
recorded as “Deferred revenues” qualifies for inclusion within regulatory Tier 2 Capital in zecordance with the
provisions of the circular,

35 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS ANDY CHARGES

2019 2018

LL million LI million

Technical reserves of insurance subsidiarics 112,544 132,260
Employees’ end of service benefits (a) 36,323 38,655
Other provisions (b) 34,440 59,508
183,307 230,423

{0} Employees’ end of service benefils

The Group has two defined benefit plans covering substantially all of its employees. The first requires
contributions to be made to the National Social Security Fund. The entitlement to and level of these end of service
benefits provided depends on the employees’ length of service, the employees’ salaries, contributions paid to the
National Social Security Fund and other requirements outlined in the Lebanese Labor Law. Under the second
plan, no contributions are required to be made, however 2 fixed end of service lump sum amount should be paid
for long service employees. The entitlement to and level of these end of service benefits provided depends on the
employees’ length of service, the employees’ salaties and other requirements outlined in the Workers’ Collective
Agreement. End-of-service benefits for employees at foreign branches and subsidiaries are accrued for in
accordance with the laws and regulations of the respective countries in which the branches and subsidiaries are
located.
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35 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued)
(a) Employees' end of service benefits (continued)

Movement in the provision for employees’ end of service benefits during the year was as follows:

2019 2018
LL miliion LL million
Balance at 1 January 38,655 48,864
Costs charged to the income statement (note 13):
Service costs 1,537 6,877
Net interest 2,392 3,175
3,929 10,052
Re-measurement gains in other comprehensive income;
Experience adjustments (1,839) (15,875)
Disposal of a subsidiary - (381)
End of service benefits paid during the year (4,393) (3,843)
Foreign exchange 29 (62)
Balance at 31 December 36,323 38,655

Defined benefit plans in Lebanon constitute more than 95% of the Group’s retirement obligation. The principal
assumptions used in determining the end of service benefit obligations of these plans are shown below:

2019 2018
Economic assumptions
Discount rate 9.5% 8.0%
Salary increase 3.0% 3.0%
Expected annual rate of retum on NSSF
contributions 5.0% 5.0%
Treatment of bonus Last 2-years average Last 2-years average
as a % of basic as a % of basic
Demographic assumptions
Retirement age Earliest of 64 or completion  Earliest of 64 or completion
of 20 contribution years of 20 contribution years
Pre-termination mortality rate None None
Pre-termination turnover rates (age related with 2.0% for NSSF and 4.0% 2.0% for NSSF and 4.0% for
average of) for WCA WCA

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for the significant assumptions is shown below:

DHscount rafe Future salary increase
Increase decrease increase decrease
LL million LL million LL millinn LL million
Irnpact on net detined benefit obligations
2019 (790} 841 1,750 (1,557
2018 {930} 995 2,21 {2,158)

The sensitivity anelysis above was determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the defined
benefit obligation as a result of 50 basis point changes in key assurnptions occurring at the end of the reporting
period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions
constant. The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation
as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation from one another,
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35 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued)

(h)  Other provisions

2019 2018
LL million LL million
Provisions for contingencies 24,712 30,213
Provisions for ECL on financial guarantees and commitments 5,690 5,289
Other 4,038 4,006
34,440 55,508

Movement in other provisions during the year was as follows:
2619 2018
LL mitlion LL million
At} January 59,508 194,012
Charge for the year (note 14) 13,772 27,971
Write back during the year (note 11) (37,723) (8,274)
Transfer to ECL allowances on financial assets - (65,394)
Provisions for ECL on financial guarantees and commitments 11 5,289
Transfer to “Deferred revenues™ - {68,812)
Paid during the year - (24,252)
Foreign exchange (1,228) (1,032)
At 31 December 34,440 59,508

36 SUBORDINATED DEBT

2019 2018
LL million LL million
Nominal value 441,514 441,678
Unamortised discount {12,049) (15,505)
Accrued interest payable 327 245
429,792 426,418

On 21 December 2012, the Group signed a US$ 300 million subordinated loan agreement with an international
financial institution, whereby the latter acted as an issuer of US$ 300 million subordinated notes convertible into
Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR's according to the following terms:

Number of notes: 30,000

Note’s issue price: US$ 10,600

Note's nominal value: US$ 10,000

Date of issue: 21 December 2012

Maturity: 21 December 2022, subject to the earlier conversion of these notes, in whole

or in part, into Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR’s at a price of US$ 2.5 per
share or US§ 125 per GDR

Interest rate; Contractual interest rate of 6.5% payable semi-gnnually.

Rights of holders: The noteholder has the right to convert all or portion of the subordinated notes
into Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR's at a conversion price of US$ 2.5 per
share or US§ 125 per GDR.
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36 SUBORDINATED DEBT (continued)

The convertible subordinated loan was recorded at issuance as follows:

2019

LL million

Nominal value of convertible bonds 452,250
Equity component (31,618)
Liability component 420,632

The equity component of the convertible subordinated loan is recorded in equity under “Non-distributable
reserves” (Note 38).

On 17 June 2020, in light of the developments in the Lebanese Republic, the Group announced that it will not
make the interest payments on the subordinated debt which is due on 30 June 2020.

37 SHARE CAPITAL

2018 2018
No of Share Share Noof Share Share
shares capital premium shares capital premium
LL mitlion  LL million LL million  LL milfion
Common shares 565,515,040 684,273 229,014 563,515,040 684,273 225,014

Preferred shares

- Series 2008 2,000,000 2,420 295,154 2,000,000 2,420 295,154
- Series 2009 2,000,000 2,420 295,929 2,000,000 2,420 295,929
4,000,000 4,840 591,083 4,000,000 4,840 591,083

The capital of the Bank is divided into 569,515,040 shares of LL 1,210 each fully paid (2018: the same).
Preferred shares
i) Series 2008 Preferred Shares

On 15 August 2008, and based on the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on 18 July 2008, the
Bank issued Series 2008 preferred shares, according to the following terms:

Number of shares: 2,000,000

Share’s issug price: US$ 100

Share’s nominal valve: LL 1,200

[ssue premium: US$ (000) 195,790 (equivalent to LL 295,154 million} calculaied in US$ as the

difference between the tofal issue of US$ (000) 200,000 and the total par value of the
issue amounting to LL 2,400 million and after deducting issuance commission for the
issue amounting to US$ (000) 2,618.

Benefits: Non-cumulative annual dividends of USS$ 8.00 per share, subject to the availability of
non-consolidated distributable net profits.
Repurchase right: Redecmable (at a daie subsequent to the approval of 2013 accounts by the general

assembly) at the Bank’s option at the issue price plus any declared but unpaid
distributions for all the years preceding the yvear of the call, with the condition that at
least 25% of the original number of the preferred shares are called each time.

In 2009, the par value of series 2008 preferred shares was increased from LL 1,200 to LL 1,210.
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37  SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Preferred shares (continued)
i) Series 2009 Preferred Shares

On 4 September 2009, and based on the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on | August 2009,
the Bank issued Series 2009 preferred shares according to the following terms:

Number of shares: 2,000,000

Share's issue price: USs 94

Share’s nominal value: LL 1,210

Issu¢ premium: US$ (000) 188,313 (equivalent 1o LL 283,881 million) caleulated in USS as the

difference beiween the total issue of USE (000} 192,000 and the total par value of the
issue amounting 1o LL 2,420 million and after deduciing issuance commissions of US$

(600) 2,082,

Benefits: Non-cumulative annual dividends of USS 8.00 per share, subjeci to the availability of
non-consolidated distributable net profits.

Repurchase right: Redeemable (at a date subsequent 1o the approval of 2014 accounts by the general

assembly) at the Bank’'s option at US$S 100 plus any declared but unpaid distributions for
all the years preceding the year of the call, with the condition that at Teast 25% of the
original number of the preferred shares are called cach time.

Listing of shares
As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank’s shares were listed as follows:

2019 2018

Stock exchange No of shares No of shares

Ordinary shares Beirut 502,278,190 502,237 540

Global depository receipts London SEAQ and Beirut 1,264,737 1,265,550
*)

Preferred shares Beirut 4,000,000 4,000,000

&) Global Depository Receipts (GDR’s) can be issued at a ratio of 50 Common Shares per one GDR.

The Bank’s Board of Directors meeting dated 17 June 2020 resolved to apply for the cancellation of the listing of its
GDR shares from the official list of the UK Financial Conduct Authority and the cancellation of the admission to
trading of its GDR shares from the London Stock Exchange with effect from 30 July 2020,

38 NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Equity
component  Reserve
of Jor

Reserves  convertible  general
Legal  General for capiial subordinated  banking Other

reserve reserve  Incredse debt risks  reserves Total
LL miflion LL million LL miflion  LL mithon LL million LL million LL million

Balance at 1 January 2019 333,324 326,116 124,291 31,618 - 166,691 982,040
Appropriations  from  relained

eamings 21,876 8,274 3.374 - - 11,011 44,523
Balance at 31 December 2019 355,200 334,390 127,665 31,618 - 177,692 1,026,565
Balance at 1 January 2018 311,098 - 117,984 31,618 298,583 165529 924,812
Appropriations  from  retained

eamings 23,226 - 6,307 - 19,241 9,454 57,228
Transfers - 326,116 - - (317.824) (8.292) -
Balance at 31 December 2018 333,324 326,116 124291 31,618 - 166,691 982,040
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38 NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES (continued)

Legal reserve

The Lebanese Commercial Law and the Bank’s articles of association stipulate that 10% of the net annual profits
be transferred to legal reserve. In addition, subsidiaries and branches are also subject to legal reserve requirements
based on the rules and regulations of the countries in which they operate. This reserve is not available for dividend
distribution.

During 2019, the Bank and different subsidiaries transferred to legal reserve an amount of LL 21,876 million
(2018: LL 22,226 million) as required by the laws applicable in the countries in which they operate.

Reserves for capital increase

During 2019, the Group transferred LL 3,374 million (2018: LL 6,307 million) to reserves appropriated for capital
increase. This amount represents the net gain on the disposal of fixed assets acquired in settlement of debt, in
addition to reserves on recovered provisions for doubtful loans and debts previously written off, whenever
recoveries exceed booked allowances.

General reserve

According to the Central Bank of Lebaron Main Circular 143, Banks in Lebancn are required to transfer to General
Reserves, the balance of Reserves for General Banking Risks and General Reserves for Loans and Advances
previously appropriated in line with the requirements of decision 7129 and decision 7776 respectively. This reserve
is part of the Group’s equity and is not available for distribution.

Other reserves
Other reserves consist of the following:

- During 2013, the Group transferred an amount of LL 31,077 million from retained earnings to other reserves
related to the subordinated debt.

- Non-distributable reserves of subsidiaries appropriated from retained earnings as required by the laws applicable
in the countries in which they operate. During 2019, the Group transferred an amount of LL 11,001 million from
retained eamings to other reserves in this respect (2018: LL 9,454 million).

- As0of 31 December 2019, “Other reserves” include reserves of LL 118,987 million maintained by the subsidiary
Byblos Bank Europe to meet several legal limits and requirements (2018: LL 110,406 million).

39 DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

2019 20i8

LL mitlion LL mitlion

General reserves 123,972 115,626
Other capital reserves 1,026 1,026
124,998 116,652
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39 DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES (continued)

General reserves

The Group appropriates general reserves from its retained eamings to strengthen its equity. The movement in

general reserves during the year was as follows:

At 1 January
Appropriation from retained earnings
Transfers to retained earnings

At 3] December

Other capital reserves

Premium on capital increase of Byblos Bank Armenia CISC

40 TREASURY SHARES

2019 2018

LL million  LL million
115,626 109,590
8,346 8,533

- (2,497)

123,972 115,626
2019 2018

LL mithion LL milfion

1,026 1,026

Movement of treasury shares recognised in the statement of financial position for the years 2019 and 2018 was as

follows:

Year ended 31 December 2019

ALl January 2019
Acquisitions of treasury shares

A131 December 2019

Total treasury shares in LL million

Year ended 31 December 2018

At | January 2018
Acquisitions of treasury shares
Sales of treasury shares

At 31 December 2018

Total ireasury shares in LL million

Common shares

Global Depository Receipts

No. of Amount
shares LS 3(060)
2,263,019 3,808
1,041,273 1,229
3,304,292 5,037

Common shares

Na. gf Amount
shares US5(0006)
11,172 206
85 5
11,257 911
8,967

Global Depository Receipts

No. of Amount
shares USS000)
1,853,105 3,225
446,014 634
{36,100) (51)
2,263,019 3,808

No. of Amount
shares L/S$(000)
5,191 757
2,021 152
(40} )
NG 906
7,105
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41 REVALUATION RESERVE OF REAL ESTATE

Revaluation reserve accepted in Tier 11 capital
Revaluation reserve not accepted in Tier II capital

2019 2018
LL million LL miflion
1,978 1,978
3,711 3,711
5,689 5,689

42 CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH QOTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Movement of the change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income during

the year was a3 follows:

At | January

Impact of adopting [FRS 9 at 1 January 2018
Net changes in fair values during the year
Net changes in deferred taxes

Difference on exchange

Balance at 31 December

43 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and balances with central banks
Due from banks and financial institutions
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements

Less: Due to central banks
Less: Due to banks and financial institutions

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

2019 2018

LL million LL million
(15,462) (4,538)

- 1,564

(28,524) (14,775)
4,100 2,225
23 62
(39,909) (15,462)
2019 2018

LL mitlion LL million
3,400,000 3,270,373
2,471,288 3,794 748
244,156 209,152
6,115,444 7,274,273
(36,861) (24,215)
(658,033) (764,488)
5,420,550 6.485,570

Parties are considered 1o be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one cther party controls both. The
definition includes subsidiaries, key management personnel and their close family members, as well as entities

controlled or jointly controlled by them,

A list of the Group’s principal subsidiaries is shown in Note 3. Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries
meet the definition of related party transactions. However, where these are eliminated on consolidation, they are not

disclosed in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the Directors and the Officers of the
Group.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one other party controls both. The
definition includes subsidiaries, key management personnel and their close family members, as well as entities
controlled or jointly controlled by them.,

Loans to related parties, (a) were made in the ordinary course of business, (b) were made on substantially the same
terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with
others and (c) did not involve more than a normal risk of collectability or present other unfavorable features.

Related party balances included in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position are as follows as of
31 December:

3F December 2019 3! December 2018

Key Key

management management
personnel Other Tota personpe! Other Fotal
LL miltion  LL miltion  LL million LL miltion  LL milion  LL miflion
Due from banks and financtal mstitutions - 7,267 7,267 - 155,623 155,623
Loans and advances 7,688 16,868 24,556 8,806 16,125 24,931
Due 10 baaks and financizl instilutions - 99,545 99,545 - 100,214 100,214
Deposits 24,669 130,965 215,634 114,999 306,173 421,172
Debl issued and othgr borrowed funds 606 11,045 11,651 887 10,449 11,336
Subordinated debt 34 4323 4,637 314 7,781 3,095
Guarantces received 6,963 14,993 21,956 8,245 5304 13,549
Guaranlees given 23 144 167 205 166 3N
Commnments (including acceptances) 2,135 1,912 4,047 3232 1,997 5,239

Related party transactions inclided in the Group’s consolidated income statement are as follows for the year ended
31 December:

3! December 2019 3 December 2018
Key Key
managgement mancgement
personnel Other Total personnel Oiher Towl
LI milllon  LL million  LL million LE miltion  LL million  LL millron
[ntergst income on dug from banks and
financial instituions - 194 194 - - -
Interest income on loans and advances 422 1,174 1,596 545 998 1,543
Lnterest expensc on deposits 7.620 9,327 16,947 6,609 14,751 21,360
Interest expense on dug io banks and
fimancial institutions - 3,969 3,969 - 3410 3,410
Interest expense on debt issued and other
borrowed funds 42 887 929 62 856 oI8
Interest expense on subordinated debt 20 278 298 20 500 520
Rent expense - 573 573 - G0o 600

in addition to the above, the Group entered into an agreement with the Interational Finance Corporation ([FC),
a shareholder, whereby the Jatter makes available a non-committed trade finance guarantee facility to the Group
up to US$ 50 million. As at 31 December 2019, guarantees issued by [FC amounted to LL 18,428 million (2018:
LL 45,085 million).

Compensation of the Key Management Personnel of the Group
2019 2018
LL miltion LL miilion

Short-term benefits’ 13,495 21,637

! Short-term benefits comprise of salaries, bonuses, profit-sharing, attendance fees and other shori-term benefils to key munagement
personnel.
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45 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

Credit-related commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group enters into various commitments, guarantees and other contingent liabilities which are mainly credit-
related instruments including both financial and non-financial guarantees and commitments to extend credit. Even
though these obligations may not be recognised on the statement of financial position, they do contain credit risk
and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Group. The table below discloses the nominal principal amounts
of credit-related commitments and contingent liabilities. Nominal principal amounts represent the amount at risk
should the contracts be fully drawn upon and clients’ default. As a significant portion of guarantees and
commitments is expected to expire without being withdrawn, the total of the nominal principal amount is not
indicative of future liquidity requirements.

2019
Banks Customers Total
LL million LL miltion LL mittion

Guarantees and contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees - 147,574 147,574
Other guarantees 125,716 710,835 836,551
125,716 858,409 984,125
Lommitments
Documentary credits 101,135 238,770 339,905
Loan commitments - 1,130,645 1,130,645
101,135 1,369,415 1,470,550
2018
Banks Customers Total
LL million LL million LL million
Guarantees and contingent liabilities
Financial guarantees - 238,700 238,700
Other guarantees 149,384 822,475 971,859
149384 1,061,175 1,210,559
Commitments -
Documentary credits 306,148 422,798 728,946
Loan commitments - 2,198,843 2,198,843
306,148 2,621,641 2,927,789

Guarantees (including standby letters of credit)
Guarantees are given as security to support the performance of a customer to third parties. The main types of
guarantees provided are:
- Financial guarantees given to banks and financial institutions on behalf of customers to secure loans,
overdrafts, and other banking facilities; and
- Other guarantees provided include mainly performance guarantees, advance payment guarantees and
tender guarantecs.

Documentary credits
Documentary credits commit the Group to make payments to third parties, on production of documents which are
usually reimbursed immediately by customers.
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45 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
{continued)

Credit-related commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)

Loan commitments
Loan commitments are defined amounts (unutilized credit lines or undrawn portions of credit lines) against which
clients can borrow money under defined terms and conditions,

Revocable loan commitments are those commitments that can be unconditionally cancelled at any time subject to
notice requirements according to their general terms and conditions. Irrevocable loan commitments result from
arrangemenis where the Group has no right to withdraw the loan commitment once communicated to the
beneficiary

Investment commitments

The Group invested in funds pursuant to the provisions of Decision no. 6116 dated 7 March 1996 of the Central
Bank of Lebanca. In accordance with this resolution, the Group can benefit from facilities granted by the Central
Bank of Lebanon to be invested in startup companies, incubators and accelerators whose objects are restricted to
supporting the development, success and growth of startup companics in Lebanon or companies whose objects
are restricted to investing venture capital in startup cempanies in Lebanon. These investments have resulted in
future commitments on the Group of LL 6,966 million as of 3| December 2019 (2018: LL 6,571 million).

Legal claims

Litigation is @ common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Group has an
established protocol for dealing with such legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and the
amount of damages reasonably estimated, the Group makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects which
the claims may have on its financial standing. At year-end, the Group had several unresolved legal claims
including those relating to the restrictive measures and capital controls in place. Based on advice from legal
counsel, and despite the novelty of the certain claims and the uncertainties inherent in their unique situation,
Management believes that legal claims will not result in any material financial loss to the Group, except as
provided for in Note 35,

Other Commitments and Contingencies

Certain areas of the Lebanese tax legislation and the tax legislations where the subsidiaries operate are subject to
different interpretations in respect of the taxability of certain types of financial transactions and activities. The
Bank’s books in Lebanon remain subject to the review of the tax authorities for the period from 1 January 2015
to 31 December 2019 and the review of the National Social Security Fund (NSSF) for the period from 1 Nevember
2014 to 31 December 2019. In addition, the subsidiaries” books and records are subject to review by the tax and
social security authorities in the countries in which they operate. Management believes that adequate provisions
were recorded against possible review results to the extent that they can be reliably estimated.

46 ASSETS HELD IN CUSTODY AND UNDER ADMINISTRATION

2619 2018
LL miltion LL million
Assets held in custody and under administration 1,790,341 2,569,033

Assets held in custody and under administration

Custody is the safekeeping and servicing of securities and other financial assets on behalf of clients.
Administration includes the provision of various support functions and activities including the valuation of
portfelios of securities and other financial assets on behalf of clients, which complements the custody business.

47 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

- Software development have been reclassified from “Property, equipment and right-of-use assets” to
“Intangible assets". Comparative amounts of LL 17,574 million have been reclassified accordingly.

- Amortization of software development have been reclassified from “Depreciation of property, equipment
and right-of-use assets™ to “Amortization of intangible assets”, Comparative amounts of LL 3,050 million
have been reclassified accordingly.
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48 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values in this note are stated ai a specific date and may be different from the amounts which will actually be
paid on the maturity or settlement dates of the instrument. In many cases, it would not be possiblie 1o realise immediately
the estimated fair values given the size of the portfolios measured. Accordingly, these fair values do not represent the
value of these instruments to the Group as a going concem. Financial assets and liabilities are classified according to a
hierarchy that reflects the significance of observable market inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are
defined below.

Quoted Muarket Prices - Level 1

Financial instruments are classified as Level 1 if their value is observable in an active market, Such instruments are valued
by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted price is readily
available, and the price represents actual and regularly cccurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. An active
market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide pricing information on an
cngoing basis.

Valuation Technique Using Observable Inputs — Level 2

Financial instruments classified as Level 2 have been valued using models whose most significant inputs are observable
in an active market. Such inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for
identical instruments in inactive markets, and observable inputs other than quoted prices such as interest rates and yield
curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads.

Valuation Technique Using Significant Unobservable Inputs — Level 3

Financial instruments are classified as Level 3 if their valuation incorporates significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs). A valuation input 1s considered observable if it can be directly observed
from transactions in an active market, or if there is compelling external evidence demonstrating an executable exit price.
Unobservable input levels are generally determined based on observable inputs of a similar nature, historical observations
or other analytical techniques.

Fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group™s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value:
2019
Vailuation techniques
Ouoted  Observable  Unobservable

market price inpuls inpults
Level I Level 2 Level 3 Total
LL milfion LL million LL million LL milfion

Assets:
Derivative financial instruments:

Currency swaps - 1 - M1

Forward foreign exchange contracts - 362 - 362
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Lebanese treasury bills 13,135 1,908 - 15,043

Equity securities and funds 49,170 - 19.338 68,508
Financial asscts at fair value through other comprehensive

income:

Lebanese treasury hilis 42,948 - - 42,948

Foreign governmental debt securitics 101,607 - - 101,607

Debt securilies issued by banks and {inancial institutions 10,011 - - 10,011

Equity securities 42,044 - 46,374 88,418
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instrurnents:

Currency swaps - 400 - 400

Forward foreign exchange contracts - 508 - 508
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48 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value {(continued):

2018
Valyation techniques

Quated  Observable  Unobservable

markef price inputs inputs
Levet | Level 2 Level 3 Tatal
LL million LL mitlion LL million LL miflion
Assels:
Derivative financial instruments:
Currency swaps - 444 - 444
Forward foreign exchange contracts - 1,455 - 1,455
Financial assets af fair value through profit or loss:
Lebanese treasury bills 29,624 1,990 - 31614
Equity securities and funds 39,637 - 19,239 58,876
Financial assets at fair valug through other comprehensive
income:
Lebanese treasury bills and funds 42919 - - 42919
Foreign governmental debt securities 50,884 - - 90,884
Debt securities issued by banks and financial institutions 6,410 - - 6,410
Equity securities 44,664 - 43,552 88,216
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instrumnents:
Currency swaps - K - 391
Forwand foreign exchange conlracts - 1,411 - 1,411

There were no transfers between levels during 2019 (2018: the same).
Assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Fundys and Equity Shares of Non-listed Entities

Units held in funds are measured based on their net asset value (NAV), taking into account redemption and/or other
restrictions. Classification between Level 2 and Level 3 is dependent on whether the NAV is observable or unobservable
(i.e. recent and published by the fund administrator or not).

Equity shares of non-listed entities are investments in private companies, for which there is no or ouly limited sufficient
recent information to determine fair value. The Group determined that cost adjusted to reflect the investee’s financial
position and results since injtial recognition represents the best estimate of fair value. Classification between Level 2
and Level 3 is based on whether the financial statements of the investee are recent and published or not. These
instruments are fair valued using third-party information (NAV or financial statements of non-listed entities), without
adjustment. Accordingly, quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs and sensitivity analysis cannot
be developed by the Group in accordance with [FRS 13.93 (d).
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48 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a valuation technigque with significant unobservable inputs (Level
3) (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurement of financial assets in unquoted equity shares:

2019 2048

LL million LL million

Balance at 1 January 43,552 54.425
Additions - 1,003
Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive income 2,822 {11,876)
46,374 43,552

Comparison of carrying and fair values for financial assets and liabilities not held at fair value:

Financial assets and liabilities concentrated in Lebanon

These assets and liabilities consist of balances with the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese Banks, Lebanese
government securities, loans and advances to customers and related parties, due to the Central Bank of Lebanon and
Lebanese Banks, customers and related parties deposits, and debt issued and other borrowed funds. These are illiquid
in nature and the measurement of their fair value is usually determined through discounted cash flow valuation models
using observable market inputs, comprising of interest rates and yield curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads.
Due to the situation described in Note 1 and the unprecedent levels of uncertainty surrounding the economic crisis that
Lebanon, and particularly the banking sector, is experiencing, management is unable to produce faithful estimation of
the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities.

Financial assets and liabilities not concentrated in Lebanon
These are not significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

49 RISK MANAGEMENT
49.1 INTRODUCTION

The Group is exposed to various types of risks, some of which are:

- Credit risk: the risk of default or deterioration in the ability of a borrower to repay a loan.

- Market risk: the risk of loss in balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions arising from movements in market
prices. Movements in market prices include changes in interest rates (including credit spreads), exchange rates
and equity prices.

- Liquidity risk: the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations when they come due in a timely
manner and at reasonable cost.

- Operational risk: the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, pecople and systems, or
from external events.

- Other risks faced by the Group include concentration risk, reputation risk, legal risk, political risk and
business/strategic risk.

Group risk management structure

The Board of Directors is primarily responsible for establishing / approving the Group’s strategic direction and
approving the nature and levels of risk the Group is willing to take. The Board has established four committees to assist
in carrying out its responsibilities:
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.1 INTRODUCTION (continued)

Group risk management struecture (continued)

Risk Committee. It is primarily responsible to formulate the risk appetite statement for the Group through establishing
a comprehensive set of internal risk limits and other qualitative risk statements that clearly define the amount of risks
the Board is willing to take and those risks the Board wishes to avoid, and monitors compliance with the risk appetite
statement. It provides oversight of Senior Management’s activities in managing capital adequacy, credit, market,
liquidity, interest rate and operational risks of the Group. It also oversees the process and outcome of the ICAAP
(Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process), [FRS 9 and Recovery Plan. It discusses and approves risk policies.

Anti-Money Laundering and Compliance Committee: It has been established according to BDL basic circular number
83 dated 18/05/2001. The mission of the committee is to ensure the Group’s compliance with anti-money laundering
laws (namely Law Number 318 dated 20 April 2001 and BDL circular number 83 dated 18 May 2001) and all
amendments thereto. The committee has an oversight responsibility over the Group’s compliance program (set of
policies, procedures, resources and systems) for detecting and preventing all forms of money laundering as well as
preventing any of the Group’s entities from being misused by individuals or organizations to circumvent or violate local
and international sanctions, laws, and regulations.

Audit Committee: monitors the Group’s accounting practices and external reporting, and reviews the audit reports
covering the Group’s operations and takes appropriate actions / decisions.

Remuneration, Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee: ensures that the Group has coherent remuneration
policies and practices, and that proper successicn plans for board members and senior managers are in place. It is also
responsible to make sure that corporate governance principles and the code of conduct are well established at the Group
to warrant the confidence of shareholders, investors and stakeholders.

The above Board Committees are composed of mostly independent / non-executive members satistying the applicable
best practice requirements. In addition, the Board delegates its day-to-day risk management activities 10 Senior
Management, through the following diverse committees that have been established:

Executive Commitiee: acts under the supervision of the Chairman to ensure execution of all strategic directives
stipulated by the Board and to propose new strategic projects and plans to the Board. Membership is assigned to the
Chairman/General Manager, the Head of Group Censumer Banking Division, the Head of Group Financial Markets
and Financial Institutions Division, the Head of Group Commercial Banking Division, the Head of Group Risk
Management Division and the Head of Foreign Banking Unit.

Central Credit Committee (CCC): 1s the highest credit authority in the Group after the Board. Its mission is to review
and approve high-value amount credit proposals. The intemal lending limit is set at 10% of capital, which requires the
joint approval of the Chairman and the CCC. Credit proposals exceeding the internal lending limit are referred to the
Board (or any delegated committee) for approval. The CCC delegates approval anthority for lower amount credit
proposals o various sub-committees.

Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO): whose mission is to manage the statement of financial position in compliance
with the main objectives of the Group, in terms of growth, liquidity and interest income. Its role encompasses the
review, approval and implementation of the Group's strategies regarding liquidity and interest rate, foreign exchange
and trading activities through decisions on size and duration of mismatched positions and on pricing.

Risk Committee (Management): whose task is to formulate and enforce guidelines and standards with regard to capital
adequacy and risk measurement and management. It also reviews reports and findings identified by the Group Risk
Management and issues related to the implementation of Basel I11 projects. The committee discusses and approves risk
policies, risk measurement tools such as rating and scoring, and risk-based processes including stress testing, economic
capital, and risk-based profitability. It oversees the preparation of risk reports and the framework and results relating to
processes (such as ICAAP, IFRS 9 Impairment, Recovery Planning) before submission to the Board.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.1 INTRODUCTION (continued)

Group risk management structure (continued)

The Group also established two other committees concerned with visk management and compliance, being: The
Operational Risk Management Committee and the Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Committee. The
Operational Risk Committee’s mission is to provide oversight for the Group’s operational risk function, the processes
and the systems developed to assess, monitor and mitigate operational risks. The mission of the Compliance and Anti-
Meney Laundering Committee is to ensure that the Group is in compliance with anti-money laundering laws and
internationally administered sanction laws; and to oversee implementation of the Group's KYC and sanction policies.

Group Internal Audit Division

The Group Internal Audit Division (GIA) is responsible for providing an independent, objective assurance and
consulting activity designed to add value and improve the Group’s operations. [t helps the Group accomplish its
objectives by bringing a systematic disciplined and risk based approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of
risk management, control, and govemance processes. Its role within the Group is to ensure that adequate internal
controls are maintained and where weaknesses are identificd, they are reported to Senior Management and the Audit
Committee along with recommendations for improvement. The GIA assesses all new products and procedures and
changes in systems and reports its recommendations accordingly.

The GIA also ensures that the Group is in compliance with the rules and regulations in different jurisdictions where the
Group is operating, the Central Banks and Banking Control Commission requirements, Board of Directors and
management directives and implemented policies and procedures.

Risk Management

The Group’s risk management function foilows the prudential rules and regulations set forth by the Basel Committee
in the Core Principles for Effective Banking Supervision document (September 2012} and Basel Capital Accord texts
(Basel 1) to measure and assess the risks identified under the pillars I and 1, i.e., the credit, operational, and market
risks, as well as, the interest rate risk in the banking book, the liquidity risk, and credit concentration.

With regard to Basel recommendations relating to best practices in risk management and its objective of capital
measurement and capital adequacy, the Group adopts a phased approach to take more sophisticated steps towards credit
risk and make use of internal ratings based methodology - or 'IRB Approach'- to calculate expected credit loss and
ultimately capital requirements for credit risk. In addition to the market risk capital charge, an explicit capital charge
for operaticnal risk is being accounted for.

As for addressing the capital management issue in the context of Basel III, the Group annually develops a
comprehensive Intemal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) document, disclosing the risk appetite
statement and covering all risks to which the Group is or may be exposed to, as well as risk factors emanating from the
environment in which it operates in. Mild and severe stress scenarios and sensitivity analysis are undertaken within
ICAAP to assess the sufficiency of capital and liquidity in sustaining the Group’s operations and business plans on the
medium term.

Moreover, risk management is engaged in preparing the Recovery Plan process, basing the analysis on plausible and
extreme idiosyncratic and systemic stress scenarios, assessing their impact on key performance/risk indicators, and
considering the menu of available recovery options. Risk management has been cooperating with Finance to manage
the I[FRS 9 Expected Credit Loss (ECL) process and the calculation of the expected credit loss provision. The Group
went through an extensive consultancy to get an evaluation of its readiness in meeting the ECL requiremeunts, including
a review of the Probability of Default (PD) and Loss Given Default (LGD) to reach point-in-time forward-looking
parameters. The Group is also employing intemal capabilities to develop predictive PD and LGD models for the Retail
and Housing portfolios.

‘The overall responsibility for the monitoring and the analytical management of the risk is effectively assigned to the
Group Risk Management division (GRM). The GRM reports to the Chairman and General Manager through the Head
of the GRM division. Risk issues and reports are submitted to the Board regularly through the Board Risk Committee.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.1 INTRODUCTION (continued)

Risk Management (continued)

The GRM has a dedicaled team, Financial and Operational Risk Management Department that fulfils the analytical
part of risk management and is thereby in direct charge of identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling Pillar |
and 2 risks faced by the Group. The department is split into three main functicns:

Credit Risk Policies and Analytics that is responsible for drafting necessary credit risk policies and implementing risk
measurement tools, such as retail scoring and commercial rating systems, and their associated credit risk components
in terms of PD (probability of default), LGD {loss given default) and EAD (exposure at default). The team is responsible
for the preparation and reporting of Basel [II regulatory CAR report, the development of stress testing scenarios, the
write-up of risk reports and ICAAP documents. These units are in charge of the Recovery Plan and IFRS 9 ECL
Processes.

Asset-Liability and Market Risk Management sets the firm-wide framework necessary for the identification,
measurement and management of market risk across the Group, including developing policies, procedures, and risk
measurement methodelogies. Market Risk is also in charge of monitoring the Group’s limits regarding liquidity, interest
rate risk, foreign exchange and securities investment positions, stress test and to report breaches to senior management
and the Board of Directors.

Operational Risk Management is responsible for establishing the necessary framework for identifying, measuring and
managing operational risk across the Group. ORM Unit has established the necessary tools enabling to derive the risk
profile of the Group, starting with spreading risk awareness through regular training, supporting operational risk events
reporting and loss database, conducting operaticnal risk scenarios with the business owners to focus on high risk areas
and the exposure to capital in a way to supplement the assessment of the regulatory capital charge, and developing a
KRI program to establish KRIs that menitor the Group’s exposure to key risks. The ORM Unit facilitates the risk and
control assessment {RCA) for the main Group processes and new products/activities.

Risk Management Framework

The Risk Management Framework is based on a set of principles adopied by the Board through the Risk Charter. These
principles are being reviewed annually or upon need in order to be aligned with the changes related to the internal and
external environment of the Group. The set of basic principles that governs the risk management framework of the
Group are developed based on the following:

Business Line Accountability: Business lines are accountable for managing the risks associated with their activities and
establish tolerances for risk taking. The accountability exists notwithstanding the presence of any support functions
dedicated to risk management activities.

Strategic Level Risk Management, encompasses the risk management functions performed by senior management and
the Board. It includes defining the Group’s risk appetite, formulating sirategy and policies for managing risk and
establishing adequate systems and controls to ensure that the Group’s aggregate risk profile is within acceptable
tolerance levels.

Analytical Level Risk Management, encompasses the risk management, within the authority delegated by the Strategic
Level to identify, measure, monitor and report the risks taken by the Group in a consistent manner across all business
lines and operational units.

Tactical Level Risk Management, encompasses risk management activities performed by individuals who take risk on
the Group’s behalf such as the front office and loan origination functions.

The Risk Charter is complemented by risk specific policies and procedures enabling the unification of the risk culture
and practice. Risk management is applied through the implementation of these risk policies / limits approved by the
Board and that are put in place by the risk management function in cooperation with the business lines. Monitoring of
individual risks is handled upon the initiation and renewal of the risk through a clear and documented decision making
process,
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge their
contractual obligations, including the full and timely payment of principal and interest. Credit risk arises from various
balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures including interbank, loans and advances, credit commitments, financial
guaraniees, letters of credit, acceptances, investments in debt securities (including sovereign) and derivative financial
instruments. Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at any time, limited to those with posilive fair
values, as recorded in the statement of financial position. Credit risk appetite and limits are set at the Group level by
the Board and are cascaded to the entities, which in turn formulate their own limits in line with the Group’s risk appetite.
The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individuzl
counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.

Credit risk is monitored by the credit risk department of the Group’s independent Risk Controlling Unit. It is their
responsibility to review and manage credit risk, including environmental and social risk for all types of counterparties.
Credit risk consists of line credit risk managers who are responsible for their business lines and manage specific
portfolios and experts who support both the line credit risk manager, as well as the business with tools like credit risk
systems, policies, models and reporting. The credit quality review process allows the Group early detections of changes
in assets quality, estimate the potential loss and take early corrective action,

The Group has established various credit quality review processes to provide early identification of possible changes in
the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions of credit files, including ratings and
collateral quality. Counterparty limits are established by the use of a credit risk classification systerm, which assigns
each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are subject to regular revision. The credit quality review process aims to
allow the Group to assess the potential loss as a result of the risks to which it is exposed and take corrective actions.

The Group has also established authorization structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. Credit officers
and credit committees are responsible for the approval of facilities up to the limit assigned to them, which depends en
the size of the exposure and the obligor’s creditworthiness as measured by its intemal rating. Once approved, facilities
are disbursed when all the requirements set by the respective approval authority are met and documents intended as
security are obtained and verified by the Credit Administration function.

During 2019, the economic situation in Lebanon exerted significant pressure on the asset quality of the domestic loan
portfolio. As aresult, credit quality of the Lebanese loan portfolio has declined driven by a weakening in the borrowers’
creditworthiness across various segment types. In order to address the challenging operating conditions, the Group has
implemented a series of remedial actions that included: i) risk deleveraging by reducing its assets size, 1i) increasing
collection capacity across various business lines, iii) increasing provisions for expected credit losses on different
portfolios, and iv) setting-up an independent, centralised and specialised remedial function to proactively manage
borrowers showing weak or deteriorating credit profiles and not yet classified as Stage 3.

49.2.1 Expected Credit Losses

49.2. 1.1 Governance and oversight of expected credit losses

The Group’s [FRS 9 Impairment Committee, which is a commitiee composed of Executive Committee members,
oversees the ECL estimation framework by: i) approving the IFRS 9 impairment policy, ii) reviewing key assumptions
and estimations that are part of the ECL calculations; iii) approving the forward-looking economic scenarios; iv)
approving staging classifications on a name-by-name basis for material exposures and v) reviewing ECL results.

[mpairment policy requirements are set and reviewed regularly, at a minimum annually, to maintain adherence to
accounting standards and evolving business models. Key judgements inherent in policy, including the estimated life of
revolving credit facilities and the quantitative criteria for assessing the Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR), are
assessed through a combination of expert judgment and data-driven methodologics.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)
49.2.1 Expected Credit Losses (continued)

49.2.1. 1 Governance and oversight of expected credit losses (continued)
ECL is estimated using a model that takes into account borrowers’ exposure, internal obligor risk rating, facility
characteristic, macroeconomy, and collateral information among other. Models are, by their nature, impetfect and
incomplete representations of reality because they rely on assumptions and inputs, and so they may be subject to errors
affecting the accuracy of their outputs. To manage the model risks, the Group has established a systematic approach for
the development, validation, approval, implementation and on-going use of the models. Models are statistically
validated by a qualified independent party to the model development unit, before first use and at a minimum annually
thereafter. Each model is designated an owner who is responsible for:
s Monitering the performance of the model, which includes comparing estimated ECL versus actual ECL; and
» Proposing post-model development adjustments to enhance model’s accuracy ot to account for situations
where known or expected risk factors and information have not been considered in the modelling process.

Each model used in the estimation of ECL, including key inputs, are governed by a series of internal controls, which
include the validation of completeness and accuracy of data, reconciliation with Finance data, and documentation of
the calculation steps.

ECL estimation takes into account a range of future economic scenarioes, which are set by economists within the
Group’s Research Department using independent models and expert judgment. Economic scenarios are prepared on a
frequent basis, at a minimum annually, to align with the Group’s medium-term planning exercise, but also in the
event of significant change in the prevailing economic conditions. The scenario probability weights are also updated
when the scenarios are updated

49.2.1.2 Definition of defauit and cure
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held);
the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any maierial credit obligation to the Group.
- it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the
borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligations.

Inputs inte the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to
reflect changes in circumstances.

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Group carefully considers whether the
events listed above should result in ciassifying the exposures in Stage 3 for ECL calculations or whether Stage 2 is
appropriate.

It is the Group’s policy to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 when
none of the default criteria have been present for a specific peried of time and after obtaining the approval of the Credit
Committee. The decision whether to classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage | once cured is dependent on the absence of
SICR criteria compared to initial recognition and is examined on a case by case basis. In case of forbearance under
Stage 2, the borrower remains in this stage untii all the following counditions have been met: i) at least a |2-month
probaticn period has passed, ii) three consecutive payments under the new repayment schedule have been made, i1i) the
borrower has no past dues under any obligation to the Group, and iv) all the terms and conditions agreed to as part of
the restructuring have been met.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (cantinued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK {continued)
49.2.1 Expected Credit Losses (continued)

49.2.1.3 The Group's internal rating and PD estimation process

The Group’s independent Credit Risk Department operates its internal rating models. The Group runs separate models
for its key portfolios in which its customers are rated in 1 to 7 performing bands using nternal grades with “+” and “-”
modifiers. The models incorporate both qualitative and guantitative information and, in addition to information specific
to the borrower, utilise supplemental external information that could affect the borrower’s behaviour. The Corporate
rating model was reviewed in a validation and calibration consultancy that led to the creation in early 2018 of a new
rating and PD scale. The analysis was based on the Group’s historical default history, whereby the central default
tendency was adjusted with conservatism to account for a low default and data portfolie. The final through-the-cycle
(TTC} PD scale was mapped to Moody's Corporate default scale. TTC PDs are then adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL
calculations to incorporate point-in-time (PIT) and forward-leoking information, and the IFRS 9 Stage classification of
the exposure. This is repeated for each economic scenario as appropriate.

Treasury, trading and interbank relationships

The Group’s treasury, trading and interbank relationships and counterparties comprise Lebanese and other sovereign
institutions, financial services institutions, banks, broker-dealers, exchanges and clearing-houses. For these
relationships, the Group’s credit risk department analyses publicly available information such as financial information
and other external data, e.g., available external ratings published by international rating agencies such as Moody’s,
Standard and Poor’s and Fitch, and assigns the external rating. During 2019, sovereign exposures including central bank
balances follow guidelines set out in the Central Bank of Lebanon [ntermediary Circular 543. These are continuousiy
monitored and updated.

Corporate and small business lending

For corporate and investment banking loans, the borrowers are assessed by specialised credit risk employees of the
Group. The credit risk assessment is based on a credit rating model that takes into account various historical, current
and forward-locking information such as:

s Historical financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client, This financial
information includes realised and expected results, leverage ratios, liquidity ratios and any other relevant ratios
to measure the client’s financial performance. Some of these indicators are captured in covenants with the
clients and are, therefore, measured with greater attention.

s Any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating grades
issued by rating agencies, independent analyst reports, publicly traded bond or press releases and articles.

s Any macro-economic or geopolitical information, e.g., GDP growth relevant for the specific industry and
geographical segments where the client operates.

¢  Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client’s management relevant
for the company’s performance.

The complexity and granularity of the rating techniques varies based on the exposure of the Group and the complexity
and size of the customer. Some of the less complex smalt business loans are rated within the Group’s models for retail
products.

Internal ratings are initially assigned by the credit orgination functions (i.e. business lines) and are approved and
validated by the Credit Review and Credit Risk function, which are independent from business lines. Credit Review
and Credit Risk functions are responsible for ensuring that ratings assigned to obligors are accurate and updated at all
times.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

49.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

49.2.1 Expected Credit Losses (continued)

49.2.1.3 The Group’s internal rating and PD estimation process (continued)

Consumer lending and retail mortgages

Consumer lending comprises unsecured and secured personal loans, secured auto loans, credit cards and overdrafts.
These products along with retail mortgages and some of the less complex small business lending are scored by an
automated scorecard too! primarily driven by days past due. Other key inputs into the models are:

»  Consumer lending products: use of limits and volatility thereof, GDP growth, unemployment rates, changes in
personal income/salary levels based on records of current accounts, personal indebtedness and expected
interest repricing.

s Retail mortgages: GDP growth, unemployment rates, changes in personal income/salary levels based on
records of current accounts, personal indebtedness and expected interest repricing,

The Group also relies on account behavior to predict the probability of default within a specific timeframe. This is
primarily based on the repayment history of consumer borrowers.

For the estimation of expected losses for retail products, the Group uses currently the loss approach by product based
on the net flow of exposures from one days-past-due bucket to another. This estimation incorporates a forward-looking
component in line with IFRS 9.

49.2.1.4 Exposure at Default

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure
to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising from
amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For tending commitments,
the EADs are potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical
observations and forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed
exposure when the financial guarantee becomes payable.

49.2. 1.5 Loss Given Defaulf

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD based on the history of recovery
rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. [t is estimated using information on the counterparty, the collateral type
and coverage, recovery costs of any colilateral that is integral to the financial asset and other criteria. For portfolios in
respect of which the Group has limited historical data, credit external opinion benchmark against related regulators is
used to supplement the internally available data.

49.2.1.6 Significant increase in credit risk
The Group continuously monitors all its credit risk exposures. In order to determine whether an instrument or a pertfolio
of instruments is subject to 1ZmECL or LTECL, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition using reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and expert credit assessment including forward-looking information. The Group considers an
exposure to have significantly increased in credit risk by comparing:

- the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with

- the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial recognition of the

exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment expectations).

For determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group uses a quantitative test based on
movement in ORR of the counterparty (which reflects the movement of the PD).

The Group also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for an asset,
such as moving a custometr/facility to the watch list, or the account becoming forborne. In certain cases, the Group may
also consider that events explained in “Definition of default and cure” are a significant increase in credit risk as opposed
to a default. Regardless of the change in credit grades, if contractual payments are more than 3Q days past due, the credit
risk is deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)
49.2.1 Expected Credit Losses (continued)

49.2.1.6 Significani Increase in credit risk {continued)

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets (as set out in “Grouping financial assets
measured on a collective basis™), the Group applies the same principles for assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk by regular
reviews 10 confirm that:
- the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is in default;
- the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due;
- the average time between the identification of a significant increase in credit risk and default appears
reasonable;
- exposures are not generally transferred directly from 12-month ECL measurement to credit-impaired; and

- there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month PD (Stage 1} and lifetime
PD (Stage 2).

49.2.1.7 Expected Life

With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities the maximum period for which the credit losses are
determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument unless the Group has the legal right to call it earlier. With
respect to credit cards and other revolving facilities, the Group does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the
contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over a period that reflects the Group’s expectations of the
customer behaviour, its likelihood of default and the Group’s future risk mitigation procedures, which could include
reducing or cancelting the facilities.

49.2.1.8 Forward Looking Information
The Group incorporates forward-looking information at the level of Probability of Default.

On the PD level, the Group formulates three economic scenarios: & base case, which is the median scenario assigned
with a certain probability of occurring, and two other scenarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a specific
chance of occurring, then, a weighted average PD is generated and used for the calculation of the ECL.

External information considered includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary
authorities in the countries where the Group cperates, organizations such as World Bank and the International Moenetary
Fund, IIF and selected private-sector and academic forecasters. A team of specialists within the Group’s Credit Risk
Department verifies the accuracy of inputs to the Group’s ECL models including determining the weights attributable
to the multiple scenarios of the PD.

The Group has identified the real GDP growth among other, as the key driver of expected credit losses for several
countries where it operates. Using an analysis of historical data, the Group has estimated relationships between this
macro-economic variable and credit losses. The expected credit losses’ estimates have been assessed for sensitivity to
changes to forecasts of the macro-variable and also together with changes to the weights assigned to the scenarios. With
respect to countries other than Lebanon, the impact on expected credit losses is not material. With respect to Lebanon,
the environment is subject to rapid change due to the effects of the economic crisis and uncertainties disclosed in Note
1. Forecasts and scenarios are based on the best available information at the reporting date, combined with expert
judgment. It is not practical at this time 10 determine and provide sensitivity analysis that is reasonably possible.

49.2.2 Overview of modified and forborne loans

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions,
customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An existing
loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the rencgotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in the Summary of significant accounting policies above,
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

49.2.2 Overview of modified and forborne loans (continued)
When modification results in derecognition, a new loan is recognised and allocated to Stage 1 (assuming it is not credit-
impaired at that time).

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties {referred to as ‘forbearance activirties*) to maximise
collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default, Under the Group’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is
granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is
evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected
10 be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of
interest payments and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the
forbearance policy.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance
may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired. A customer needs to demonstrate consistently good
payment behaviour over a period of time before the exposure i3 no longer considered to be credit-impaired/in default
or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to
Stage 1.

From a risk management point of view, once an asset is forbome or modified, the Group’s special department for
distressed assets continues to monitor the exposure until it is completely and ultimately derecognised.

The table below includes Stage 2 and 3 assets that were modified and, therefore, treated as forborne during the year,
with the related medification loss suffered by the Group.

2019 2018
LL mitlion LL million
Amortised costs of financial assets modified during the year 92,738 60,770
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

49.2.3 Financial Assets and ECLs by stage (continued)

The following table represents a reconciliation of the cpening to the closing balance of impairment allowances of loans
and advances to customers at amortized cost:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

LL million  LL million  LL million LL miltion

Balance at 1 January 2019 62,125 18,442 230,378 310,945
Charge for the year (note 12) 59,627 30,687 33,541 123,855
Write-offs (2,308) - (15,838) (18,146)
Other movements - - 24,101 24,101
Recoveries (note 12) (24,102) - (10,026) (34,128)
Transfer to off-financial position (312) - (20,682) (20,994)
Foreign exchange difference (464) 128 393 57
Balance at 31 December 2019 94,566 49,257 241,867 385,690
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

LL million  LL million  LL million LL million

Balance at 1 January 2018 75,006 - 217,547 292,553
Effect of IFRS 9 adoption (7,528) 18,354 - 10,826
Amended balance as of | January 2018 67.478 18,354 217,547 303,379
Charge for the year (note 12) 3,799 4,126 55,319 63,244
Write-offs - - (25,854) (25,854)
Other movements - . 26,960 26,960
Recoveries (note 12) (8.400) (3,978} (17,888) {30,266)
Transfer to off-financial position - - (24,707 (24,707
Foreign exchange difference (752} (60) (999} {1,811
Balance at 31 December 2018 62,125 18,442 230,378 310,645

Net re-measurements and reallocations include re-measurements as 2 result of changes in the size of portfolios,
reclassifications between stages and risk parameter changes.

The following table represents a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of impairment allowances of
balances with central banks:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

LL million LL million LL million LL million

Balance at | January 2019 33,561 203 2,562 36,328
Charge for the year (note 12) 139,162 - - 139,162
Recoveries (note 12) (226) (203) (1,922) (2,353)
Foreign exchange difference (1,379 - - (1,379)
Balance at 31 December 2019 171,118 - 640 171,758
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

49.2.3 Financial Assets and ECLs by stage (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

LL million  LL million  LL million LL million

Balance at 1 January 2018 - - 31,533 31,533
Effect of IFRS 9 adoption as at 1 January 2018 26,402 5 - 26,407
26,402 5 31,333 57,940

Charge for the year (note 12) 7,150 200 - 7,390
Recoveries (note 12) - - (29,024) (29,024)
Foreign exchange difference (3D - 53 22
Balance at 31 December 2018 33,561 205 2,562 36,328

The following table represents a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of impairment allowances of
financial assets at amortized cost:

Stage 7
2019 2018
LL miltion LL million
Raiance as of | January 25,223 -
Effect of IFRS 9 adoption as at | January 2018 - 26,560
25,223 26,560
Charge for the year (note 12) 192,801 1,787
Recoveries (note 12) - {(3,006)
Foreign exchange difference 1,628 (118)
At 31 December 219,652 25223
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)
49.2.5 Credit quality

The Group assesses the quality of its credit portfolio using the following credit rating methodologies:
(i) Externzl ratings from approved credit rating agencies for financial institutions and financial assets.

(ii) Internal rating models that take into account both financial as well as non-financial information such as
management quality, operating environment and company standing.

(i Internally developed scorecards to assess the creditworthiness of retail borrowers in an objective manner
and streamline the decision-making process.

(iv) Supervisory ralings, comprising six main categories: (a) Regular includes borrowers demonstrating geod
to excellent financial condition, risk factors, and capacity to repay. These loans demonstrate regular and
timely payment of dues, adequacy of cash flows, timely presentation of financial statements, and sufficient
collateral/guarantee when required. (b) Folfow-up represents a lack of documentation related to a
borrower’s activity, an inconsistency between facilities’ type and related conditions. (c) Foflow-up and
arrange includes credit worthy borrowers requiring close monitoring without being impaired. These loans
might be showing weaknesses; insufficient or inadequate cash flows; highly leveraged; deterioration in
economic sector or country where the facility is used; loan rescheduling more than once since initiation;
or excess utilization above limit. (d) Swbstandard loans include borrowers with incapacity to repay from
identified cash flows. Also included under this category are those with recurrent late payments and
financial difficulties. {¢) Doubtful loans where full repayment is questioned even after liquidation of
collateral. It also inciudes loans staghating for over 6 months and debtors who are unable to repay
restructured loans. Finally, (f) Bad loans with no or little expected inflows from business or assets. This
category also includes borrowers with significant delays and deemed insolvent.

Sovereign
The Group applies two different PDs based on rating agencies’ external studies. A forward-looking adjustment is

petformed on both PDs via beta regression by considering the relevant macro-economic factors as published by
International data sources. The resulting PiT and forward-looking PDs are then used in the ECL calculation under the
base case. The Group then projects these factors under a lower and upper scenario. This year and in compliance with the
Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediary Circular 543, the Group applied the regulatory ECL’s ceiling for sovereign
exposures (i.e. ECL of 1.89% and 9.45% for Central Bank of Lebanon exposures in foreign currencies and Eurobonds
respectively and ECL of 0% for Central Bank of Lebanon exposures in local currency and Lebanese treasury bills).

Banks and Financial Institutions
The Group considers that the credit spread above 2 given LIBOR rate is a reflective rate for expected credit loss. The
cost of risk is considered as a proxy for PD and LGD.

Debt securities

The Group assigns the second lowest rating amongst the three rating agencies (Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch)
for each instrument. The Group also segregates the country of issuance of these debt securities between Emerging and
Advanced Economies based on the International data sources studies. The Group then conducts a correlation analysis
per rating grade for each of the considered group of Advanced Economies and Emerging Economies. The resulting PDs
are PiT and forward looking. The Group then generated scenarios at the PD level.

Commercial Loans

In accordance to the Group’s policy, default is defined when the borrower is 90 days’ past due, along with other
qualitative indicators on a case-by-case basis. The default definition is reflected in the collection of the default rates on
a yearly basis, to be used in the calibration stage of the PD calculation.
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2019

49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
452 CREDIT RISK (continued)

49.2.5 Credit quality (continued)

Consumer Loans

For the purpose of the loss rate calculation, the Group segregates its Consumer Joans portfolic by product and displays
the portfolio breakdown by DPD bucket. The Group adopts this approach for its Consumer facilities that fall within
Stage 1. The Group then anatyzes monthly net flow rates whereby the loss rate for ¢ach delinquency bucket is computed
by considering the flow into the designated loss bucket at which write-off is assumed to occur. Forward looking loss
rate is then projected through analysis of correlation with macro-economic factors and regressed under lower, base and

upper scenarios.

The table below shows the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets and Contingent liabilities based on internal
credit ratings and stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

Financial asscts

Balances with central banks

Dac from banks and financial insiiiuiions

Loans 10 banks and financial instdutions and reverse repurchase
Net loans and advances 1o customers at amortized cost

Net loans and advances 1o related partics at amortized cost
Financial assels at amortized cost

Financial guaraniees and oiher commitments

Financial assels

Balances with central banks

Dug from banks and financial instnuions

Loans to banks and linancial wstituhions and reverse repurchase
Nel loans ang advances 10 customers at amoriized cost

MNel loans and advances lo relaled partics at amortized cost
Financial assgts at amortized cost

Financial guaraniges and other commitments

2019
Stoge 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
LL million LL million LL mitllon LL million
15,112,764 - (] 15,113,404
2,535,224 12,062 1,805 2,549,091
356,944 - - 356,944
5,739,000 013,744 446,771 7,099,518
21,368 3,361 - 24,729
7,642,188 - . 7,042,188
2,429 867 24,808 - 2,454,675
33,837,355 953,978 449,216 35,240,546

2048
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
LE mullion LL miltion LL mitlion LL milfion
16,350,093 7,795 2,562 16,360,450
3,866,614 1,769 1,841 3,870,224
351,599 12,202 - 363,801
7,397.025 691,898 400,251 8,489,174
22,186 2,804 - 24,990
7,801 499 - - 7,801,499
3,968,614 169,734 - 4,138 348
30,757,630 886,202 404,654 41,048,486
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

49.2.7 Collateral and other credit enhancements
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines
are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

Management monitors the market value of collateral on a regular basis and requests additional collateral in
accordance with the underlying agreement when deemed necessary.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:
o Securities: the balances shown represent the fair value of the securities.

o Letters of credit/guarantees: the Group holds in some cases guarantees, letters of credit and similar
instruments from banks and financial institutions, which enable it to claim seitlement in the event of default
on the part of the counterparty. The balances shown represent the notional amount of these types of
guarantees held by the Group.

o Real estate (commercial and residential}: the Group holds, in some cases, a first-degree mortgage over
residential property (for housing loans) and commercial property (for commercial loans). The value shown
reflects the fair value of the property limited to the related mortgaged amount.

In addition to the above, the Group also obtains guarantees from parent companies for loans to their subsidiaries,
personal guarantees for loans to companies owned by individuals, second degree mortgages, and assignments of
insurance or bills proceeds and revenues, which are not reflected in the below table.

49.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, though solvent, either does not have sufficient financial resources available
to enable it to meet its obligations when they fall due, or can secure them only at an excessive cost. The Group’s
policy with regards to the liquidity risk management is centered on a conservative approach, whereby the liquidity is
managed strongly in normal times and adequate liquidity buffers are maintained, in a way that enables the Group to
withstand a prolonged period of liquidity stress.

Net immediate cash and near cash in foreign currencics are held at sight in prime international banks to keep the Net
Immediate Liquidity above the defined tolerance level by the Board of Directors at all times.

The Group has updated its Liquidity Risk Policy to include Liquidity Standards such as the Liguidity Coverage Ratio
(LCR) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), based on Basel I1] and its own conservative assumptions, The LCR
is kept well above the established internal minimum, ensuring that the Group maintains High Quality Liquid Assets
(HQLAS), both in local and foreign currencies, which allow the Group to cover more than 100% of a potentially
stressed net outflow in a liquidity crisis based on severe internal estimates and haircuts, The NSFR is designed to
ensure that long term assets are funded with at least a minimum amount of stable resources in relation to their liquidity
characteristics.

Moreover, the policy defined a set of Early Warning Indicators (EWIs) along with other liquidity ratios and
monitoring tools that are continuously screened by Senior Management and the Board of Directors.

105



Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019

49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

Monitoring process

Daity

Due to the economic crisis, it is more important to monitor cash flows and highly liquid assets rather than the
supervisory liquidity ratios, because those will ensure the uninterrupted operation of the Group’s activities. On a
daily basis, a report of highly liguid assets showing the change in the position compared to the previous day, and
submits it 1o the members of the ALCO. Also, Group Treasury monitors daily the inflows and outflows in the
main currencies used by the Group.

Weekly
A weekly report of expected outfiows for the current and next quarter as well as of highly liquid assets held during
the reported periods. This report is submitted to the Central Bank of Lebanon.

Monthly
Tables are prepared indicating compliance with internal and regulatory liquidity ratios, for all banking units and
for the Group and submits them to the ALCO.

Quarterly
The Board of Directors is informed of compliance with internal and regulatory liquidity ratios for each banking
unit and for the Group on at least a quarterly basis,

Periodic

The liguidity position is assessed under various scenarios, including simulation of Group-specific crisis and
market-wide crisis. The stress scenarios are applied to both on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet commitments,
to provide a complete picture of potential cash outflows.

As part of the Group's procedures for monitoring and managing liquidity risk, the Group sets out a response in
the event of liquidity difficulties.

As per applicable regulations, the Group must retain obligatory reserves with the central banks where the Group
entities operate.

Liquidity ratios

The liquidity position is assessed and managed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to stress
factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the Group. The ratio of foreign currency liquid
assets to foreign currency total deposits and other lizbilities falling due in the next month is prepared monthly by
the Group Risk Management and monitored by ALCO. Foreign currency liquid assets are defined as foreign
currency bonds and placements with banks, foreign branches and subsidiaries maturing within thirty days.

The Group is not in breach with the regulatory Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) which is calculated in accordance
with Basel 11l liguidity standards as implemented by the Central Bank of each jurisdiction where the Group
operates. It aims at ensuring that each entity has sufficient unencumbered high-quality-liquid assets (HQLA) to
meet its liquidity needs in a 30 calendar day liquidity stress scenario during which the entity is assumed to
experience outflows at a severe stress level. However, due to the ecoromic crises facing Lebanon, as discussed
above, management believes it is more important to monitor daily the inflows and outflows in the main currencies
used by the Group rather than the supervisory liquidity ratios.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

49.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

Sources of funding

Customer deposits were the main funding source of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. The distribution
of sources and the maturity of deposits are actively monitored in order to avoid concentration of funding maturing
at any point in time or from a large number of depositors. The Group monitors the percentage of time deposits
that are renewed every quarter and aims to ensure that this percentage is maintained at high levels.

The Group stresses the importance of customer deposits as source of funds to finance its lending activities. This
is monitored by using the loans to deposits ratio, which compare loans and advances to customers as a percentage

of deposits from customers.

Loans to deposits ratio

Year-end
Maximum
Minimum
Average

Analysis of financial assets and fiabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group's financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2019
and 2018 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. The contractual maturities were determined
based on the period remaining to each maturity as per the consolidated statement of financial position actual
commitments. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately.

Financial asscts

Cash and batances with cenical banks

Due from banks and [inancial institutions

Loans 1o banks and Dnancial mstiutions and reverse
repurchase agreements

Derivative financial instruments

Financial asse1s at fair value through profit or loss

Net loans and advances to cuslomers al amotused cost

Net loans and advances to related pames at amorlised cost

Debiors by acceplances

Financial assels al amortised cost

Financial assets at fair value Whrough other comprehensive
income

Total undlscaunted financial assets

Financial lighilities

Cue to central banks

Due to banks and inancial instilutions
Cerivabve financial msiruments

Cusiomers” deposiis ai amortised cost
Lreposits from related panties at amortised cost
Dbt issued and other borrowed funds
Engagements by aceeplances

Subordinated detu

Total undiscounted financial liabilitics

Net undiscounted financial assets / (liabilities)

2019

25.72%
28.70%
25.72%
27.31%

2018

2947%
30.60%
29.47%
30.06%

2018

Upio fta 3 3 months tws Cheer
{ month months tg ! year years 5 years Total
LL mitilor LL mithon  LL million  LL miltion LL million  LL million
3,330,267 142,471 1,097,066 10,433,352 9,339486 24,342,043
2,354,300 117,131 72,447 3,580 - 2,547,458
136,660 107,374 21,046 22,859 357,939
703 - - - . 703
19 117 2,481 15,487 83,932 102,036
2,677,641 466,007 2,624 2,179,193 1,600,499  7,715964
14,325 209 1,336 2,338 8118 26,526
36,998 66,116 20,608 11,138 - 154,860
24,502 230,000 1,014,066 5,020,342 3,739,281 10,028,591
o8 278 22,470 70,335 223371 316,552
8,395,913 1,129,704 3,114,144 17,758,624 14,994,887 45,593,272
18,611 23,808 124,387 1,329,597 846,881 2,343,284
463,173 198,778 134,628 365,637 162,282 1,324,498
o8 - - - . 08
12,261,361 3,846,706 6,567,450 4,147,633 225,680 27,046,830
143,550 20,712 36,019 113,301 12,276 325,858
- 207 31,638 456,834 . 488,699
57,257 66,116 20,608 11,138 - 155,119
- 7,594 22,047 498,259 - 527,900
12,944,860 4,163,921 6,936,797 6,922,399 1245119 32,213,096
(3,822,653) 10,836,225 13,749,768 13,380,176

(4,348947)  (3,034,217)
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

49.3  LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (continued)

Furancial assels

Cash snd balances with central banks

Due from banks and Bnancial msutulions

Loans to banks and Hinancial tistlutions and everse
repurchase agreements

Crerivative linancial wsiruments

Financial assets af fir valus through prof or Inss

Net loans and advances 1¢ ¢uslomers al amortised cost

Net loans and advanges 16 related partics at amactised cost

Deblors by acceplances

Financial assets a1 amorused cost

Financial assets a1 fair value through other comprehensive
income

Total undiscounted Nnancial assels

Financial hiabihinies

Due o central banks

Due to banks and financial insuulions
Derivanve Minancial nstruments

Customers’ deposuts al amortised cost
Depasits from related panies 21 smorised cost
Debt zsued and other borcowed Tunds
Engagements by acceplances

Subordwated debt

Total undiscounied financial lisbildies

Met undiscounted financial assets / (liabilmes)

2048

Lpto fio3 3 months 135 Over
I moxith maonths to ! vear years 3 yearx Toral
LE mitlhon Lt milfion LEL mitlion LI mulion  LL midhon L pullion
1,908,522 1,410,690 LI70.533 6719985 13,607.940 24317670
3,521,305 277611 56,642 13375 1419 3,870,552
125,689 83938 129,824 26,600 - 366,051
1,899 - - - - 1,899
23 167 2,430 14,938 96,816 114,374
3,599,878 460,598 1,064,767 2454112 1564488 9243843
9219 752 3091 31812 9,994 26,868
143,992 141,506 62,114 13.879 . 362,091
30,261 83087 686,396 5889298 3928802 10617844
45 219 10,166 59,322 183,104 252,856
9341.033 2458568 3286563 15195321 19392363 49674048
13,712 12,697 90673  1,327.034 3011070 4,455,186
611,828 134,992 156,810 273,858 148,538 1326026
1,802 . . - . 1,802
13,124.581 4,127,166 7451013 3129282 323665 28,155,707
159,841 11,835 16,861 60,339 8,855 457,731
. - 31,658 488,611 . 520,269
143,992 141,506 62,714 13,879 362,091
. 7,349 22,210 524,199 553,758
14255756 4,435,545 7831939 5817202 3492128 35833570
13,841 478

(4.914.723)  (L976977)  (4,545376) 9378119 15900435

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitmenis.
Each undrawn loan commitment is included in the time band containing the eartiest date on which it can be drawn
down. For issued financial guarantee coniracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest
period in which the guaranies could be called.

2019
Less than | T3 3012 Tto§ Muore than
meonth months maanths years 5 years Total
LL miffion LL million LL miltion LL million LL miltion LL miflion
Finangial guarantees - - 31,494 115,496 584 147,574
Documentary credits 63,683 155,026 116,009 5,187 - 339,905
Commitmenis lo leng 1,130,645 - - - - 1,130,645
1,194,328 155,026 147,503 120,683 584 1,618,124
2018
Less thon | o3 3012 fiws More than
month months months yeary 5 vears Total
LL mitlion  LL miliion LL muifion LEL miflion LE million LL mithon
Fimancial guaranices - - 19,760 218.395 545 238,700
Documentary credits 66,108 339,681 284,020 39137 - 728,946
Commitmenls to lend 2,198,843 - - - - 2,198,343
2,264 951 339,681 303,780 257,532 545 3,166,489
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.4 MARKET RISK

Market risk is defined as the potential Joss in both on balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions resulting from
movements in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

The market risk governance has been defined in the Security Investment Pelicy, which defines the roles and
responsibilities of the key stakeholders of market risk management, including the Board, the ALCO committec,
the business lines and risk functions.

{t is the responsibility of the ALCO to manage the Group's investment portfolio under the terms of the Security
[nvestment Policy. While striving 1o maximize portfolio performance, the ALCO shall keep the management of
the portfolio within the bounds of good banking practices, satisfy the Group’s liquidity needs, and ensure
compliance with both regulatory and internally set limits and requirements.

The Group Risk Management division sets the framework necessary for identification, measurement and
management of market risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the fair values of the financial
instruments, The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate re-pricing of assets
and liabilities that mature or are re-priced in a given period. The Group manages the risk by matching the re-pricing
of assets and liabilities through risk management strategies. Positions are monitored on a daily basis by management.

Interest rate sensitivity
The following table shows the sensitivity to a reasonably possible to 100 basis points parallel changes in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s income statement.

The impact of interest rate changes on net interest income is due to assumed changes in interest paid and received
on floating rate financial assets and liabilities and to the reinvestment or refunding of fixed rated financial assets
and liabilities at the assumed rates. Given the novel and prolonged nature of current economic crisis and the high
levels of uncertainties, the Group expects lower interest rates during 2020. However, the Group is unable to
determine what would be a reasonably possible change in interest rates, The Central Bank of Lebanon has already
decreased interest rates though issuance of Intermediary Circulars 536 and 544 (refer to Note 1).

The change in interest income is calculated over a 1-year period. The impact also incorporates the fact that some
monetary items do not immediately respond to changes in interest rates and are oot passed through in full,
reflecting sticky interest rate behaviour. The pass-through rate and lag in response lime are estimated based on
historical statistical analysis and are reflected in the outcome.

Besides, the effect on equity resulting from the discount rate applied o defined benefit plan obligations is
disclosed in Note 35 to these consolidated financial statements.

The effect of any future associated hedges made by the Group is not accounted for.

2019 2018

Decrease Effect on net Effect on net

Currency in basis points interest income interest income
LL million LL million

LL 100 basis point 18,890 35,552
US Dollar 100 basis point 12,136 5,268
Euro 100 basis point 1,603 2,268
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

49.4 MARKET RISK (continued)

[nterest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity (continued)

The Group’s interest sensitivity position based on the coniractual re-pricing date at 31 Decernber is shown in the

table below. The expected repricing and maturity dates may differ significantly from the contractual dates,
particularly with regard to the maturity of customer demand deposits.

2019
Non
interest
Upil fwl I months Ite§ Over bearing
month manths to f year JYears $ years ifeng Total
LL mitlion  LL milllon LL million LL mitlign LL mitlion LL pillion LL million
ASSETS
Cash and balances wilh central banks 2,299,482 . - 5697741 5879347 1065076 14,941,646
Due [rom banks and [inanciat insututions 730,732 116,591 71,599 3,580 - 1,622,786 1,545,288
Loans o banks and financial instimions
and reverse repurchase agrecments 135,070 107,853 HL687 23,100 - - 356,710
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 03 03
Financial asscts at fair valug through profit
or loss - - 517 7877 6,608 68,549 83,551
Met Joans and advances to cusiomers at
amoriised cost 3,487,114 593416 1,752,668 373357 140,146 367,124 6,713,825
Net loans and advances to related parties at
amanised cosl 14,293 119 2,579 15 - 7,545 24,556
Debiors by acceptances - - - - - 154,860 154,860
Financial assets al amortised cost - 154,113 664,808 3300402 3,239,008 64,205 7422536
Financial assets al fair value through other
comprehensive income 98 278 15,904 44,518 97.377 84,809 242,984
Tolal 6,066,794 972,370 2,598,762 9450590 9362486 3435657 32,486,650
LIABILITIES
Due ta central banks 21,056 7,056 28,233 891,152 552 832 28,767 1,528,796
Due 16 banks and financial inslitutions 351817 190,135 115,294 187,799 151,233 (43,114 1,239,392
Derivative linancial instruments - - - - - %08 908
Customers’ deposits al amortised cost 8,860,677 3,686,902 5,803,125 3,919,552 200,837 3,491,338 25,968,431
Deposits from related partics at amortised
cost 11,780 - 33,546 64,944 30,763 84,601 225,64
Debt issucd and other horrowed [unds - - - 441,006 - 8§22 441,828

Engagemenis by acceplances - - - - - 155,119 155,11%
Subordinated debt - - - 429,465 - 327 429,792

Total 9251330 3384003 5980,198 6033018 935365 3904996 29,089,900
Total interest sensitivity gap (2,584,536) (2,911,723) (3,381436) 3416672 8427121 (469339) 2,496,759
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
494  MARKET RISK (continued)
[nterest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity (continued)

2018
Non
interest
Upiol ftol} 3 months ftos Over bearing
month maonths to | vear years J years Hems Fotal
L puiltion LL million  LL miffion  LL million  LL mullion  LL million  LL miltion
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 818,243 1,334,138 292,455 2909361 9677346  1,292579 16,324,122
Due from banks and financial institutions 2,526,294 276,139 57,183 13,374 644 991,117 3,864,751
Loans to banks and financial institutions
and reverse repurchase agreements 125,439 82,912 129,896 25,370 16 363,633
Derivative fmancial instruments - - - - - 1899 1,899
Financial assets at fair value through profit
arloss - - 5,066 26.096 59328 90,490
Net loans and advances Lo cuslomers al
amortised cosl 1,644,722 601,137 2,117900 1,274 457 261,839 278,174 8,178,229
Met loans and advances o related parties at
amortised cost 14,240 042 838 1,905 94 6912 24,931
Debtors by acceptances - - . - - 362,00 362,091
Financial asscts at amortised cost 2972 23,626 355959 4181196 3128812 83,711 7,776,276
Financial assels al fair value through other
comprehensive income 45 219 7,100 48,059 24,566 28,440 228 429
Tolal 731,955 2319113 2,061,331 8458788 13179397 3164267 37214851
LIABILITIES
Due 10 ceniral banks 13.518 6,651 21,651 1080562 2,774,792 3,349 1870523
Due 1o banks and financial instiutions 337,650 130,050 233,639 05,672 135974 223,085 1,266,070
Denvative lnancial instrumenis - - - - - 1,802 1,802
Customers” deposiis at amortised cost 10,911,101 3,979,827 6,463,775 2937015 278434 2347986 27418142
Deposits (rom celuted parties at amortiscd
cosl 352,742 11,341 3,282 34 968 - 18,839 421,172
Debt issued and other borrowed funds - - - 450482 - &19 451 301
Engagements by acceptances - - - - - 362,091 362,091
Subordinated debl - - 426,173 - 245 426,418
Total 11,615,011 4,127 869 6,722,351 5,104,872 3,180200 3458216 34217519
(1,808,756) (3.761.020) 3353916 9990,197 (293,949) 2997332

Total interest sensilivity gap [4,483,05_6j

Currency risk

Foreign exchange (or currency) risk is the risk that the value of a portfolio will fall as a result of changes in foreign
exchange rates. The major sources of this type of market risk are imperfect correlations in the movements of
currency prices and fluctuations in interest rates. Therefore, exchange rates and relevant interest rates are

acknowledged as distinct risk factors.

In addition to regulatory limits, the positions by currency are monitored constantly to ensure they are maintained

within established limits.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.4 MARKET RISK (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

Following is the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2019 detailed in Lebanese Lira
(LL) and foreign currencies, translated into LL.

2019
Forelen
currencies in Tatal

LL million LL mitlign LL mitlion
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 2,887,532 12,054,114 14,941,646
Due from banks and financial institutions 149,761 2,395,527 2,545,288
Loans (0 banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreemenis 60 356,650 356,710
Derivative financial instruments 456 247 703
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,588 81,563 83,551
Net loans and advances o customers at amortised cost 1,927,554 4,786,271 6,713,825
Net loans and advances to related parties at amodtised cost 3,506 21,050 24,556
Debtors by acceplances - 154,860 154,860
Financia) assets at amortised cost 4,154,898 3,267,638 7,422,536
Financial assets al [air value through other comprehensive income 21,544 221,440 242 984
Property, cquipmeni and right-of-use assets 269,767 67,239 337 006
Intangible assets 19,222 618 19,840
Non-curtent assets held for sale (7,098) 78,780 71,682
Other assels 103,586 22,022 125,608
TOTAL ASSETS 9,532,376 23,508,419 33,040,795
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due 1o ceniral banks 1,507,102 21,694 1,528,796
Due 10 banks and financial institulions 11,450 1,227,942 1,239,392
Derivative financial insiruments 01 207 208
Customers’ deposits at amortiscd cost 6,441,049 19,527,382 25,968,431
Deposits from related partics at amortised cost 10,791 214,843 225,634
Debl issued and other borrowed funds - 441828 441,828
Engagement by acceplances - 155,119 155,119
Qhiher liabilitics 287.218 69,582 356,800
Provisions for rsks and charges 154,379 28,928 183,307
Suboidinated debt - 4297192 429,792
TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,412,690 22,117,317 30,530,007
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capilal — common shares 684,273 - (84,273
Sharc capital - preferred shares 4,840 - 4,840
Share premium — common sharcs - 229,014 229,014
Share premwm — preferred shares - 591.083 591,083
Non-distributable reserves 636,534 390,031 1,026,565
Distributable reserves 106,623 18,375 124,998
Treasury shares - (8,96 (8,967)
Retained eamings 84,956 11,772 96,728
Revalvation reserve of real cslate 5,689 - 5,689
Change in fair value of financial assets at fuir value through other comprehensive
[ncome 15,527 (55,436) (39,909)
MNet results of the financial period — profit {216,765) 33212 (183,553)
Foreign currency translation reserves {52,918} - {52,918)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 30,349 2,590 32,945
TOTAL EQUITY 1,299,108 1,211,680 2,510,788

TOTAL LIABILITTES AND EQUITY 9,711,798 23,328,997 33,040,795
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.4  MARKET RISK (continued)
Currency risk {(continued)

Following is the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2018 detailed in Lebanese Lira
(LL) and foreign currencies, translated into LL.

2018
Foreign
cHrreacies in Totaf

LL muitfron LL mttion LL million
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 7,153,327 9,170,795 16,324,122
Due ftom banks and Gnancial institutions 185,687 3,679,064 3,564,751
Loans 1o banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agrecrents - 363,633 363,633
Denvalive fnancial instruments 742 1,157 1,899
Financial assels at fair valug through profit or loss 1,990 88,300 90,490
Net loans and advances 1o cusiomers al amortised cost 2280252 5,867 977 8178229
Net loans and advances to related partics at amoitised cosl 4,545 20386 24.93]
Debtors by acceplances - 362,00 362,09
Financial assets al amortised cost 4,371,188 3,405,088 7716276
Fmancial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 22,612 205817 228 429
Property, equipment and right-of-use assels 233076 38,887 271,963
Intangible asseis 17,727 - 17,727
Non-current assets held for sale (7,977 59,382 51,405
Other asseis 120,757 21,125 141,882
TOTAL ASSETS 14,383,926 23,313,902 37,697,828
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Due i¢ central banks 3,841,004 29,519 3,870,523
Due 10 banks and financial institutions 13,892 1252178 1,266,070
Derivalive financial ingirumenis 6835 1,117 1,802
Customers’ deposiis at amortised cost 8,500,620 18.917,522 27418142
Deposits [rom relaled partics al amortised cost 16,897 404,275 421172
Debi issued and other borrowed funds - 451,301 451,301
Engagement by acceptances - 362,091 362,091
Other liabilities 293,130 61,647 354,777
Provisions [or risks and charges 128,077 102,346 230,423
Subordinaled debl . 426418 426,418
TOTAL LIABILITIES 12,794,305 22,008,414 34,802,719
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital — common shares 684273 - 684,273
Share capital — preferred shares 4,840 . 4 840
Share premium - common shares - 229,014 229014
Share premium — preferred shares - 591.083 391,083
Nuon-distributablg reserves 619264 362,776 982,040
Dislnbutable rescrves 0§,622 18,030 116,652
Treasury shares - {7.10%) {7,105)
Retained eamings 77.064 (1) 77.050
Revaluation reserve of real estate 5.689 - 5,689
Change in fair valog of financial assets at fair valug through other comprehensive
income 13,181 (28.643) {15,462)
Net results of the financial period — profit 198,280 40,651 238,940
Foreign currency transialion reserves {50,603) - {50.603)
NON-CONTROLLING [NTERESTS 36,184 2514 38,698
TOTAL EQUITY 1,686,803 1,208,306 2,895,109
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 14,481,108 23.216,720 37,697,828
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.4 MARKET RISK (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

The Group's Fxposure to Currency Risk

The Group is subject to currency risk on financial assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than
the Lebanese Pound. Most of these financial assets and liabilities are in US Dollars and Euros. As disclosed in Note
1, the Group's assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the official exchange rate, and due to the high
volatility and the significant variance in exchange rates between the multiple markets, management is unable to
determine what would be a reasonable possible movement in order to provide useful quantitative sensitivity analysis.
The impact of the valuation of these assets and liabilities at a different rate will be recognized in the consolidated
financial statements once the change in the official exchange rate is implemented by the Lebanese Government.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the value of a portfolic will fall as a result of a change in stock prices. Risk factors
underlying this type of market risk are a whole range of various equity (and index) prices corresponding to
different markets (and currencies/maturities) in which the Group holds equity-related positions.

The Group sets tight limits on equity exposures and the types of equity instruments that traders are allowed to take
positions in. Nevertheless, depending on the complexity of financial instruments, equity risk is measured in first
cash terms, such as the market value of a stock/index position, and also in price seusitivities, such as sensitivity
of the value of a portfolio to changes in the underlying asset price. These measures are applied to an individual
position and/or to a portfolio of equities.

Equity price risk exposure arises from equity securities classified at fair value through profit or loss and at fair
value through other comprehensive income. A 5 per cent increase in the value of the Group’s equities at 31
December 2019 would have increased other comprehensive income by LL 2,102 million and net income by LL
2,459 million (2018: 1.1. 2,233 million and LL 1,982 million respectively). An equivalent decrease would have
resulted in an equivalent but opposite impact.

Prepayment risk
Prepayment risk s the risk that the Group will incur & financia! loss because its customers and counterparties repay
or request repayment earlier or later than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages when interest rates fall.

Market risks that lead to prepayments are not material with respect to the markets where the Group operates.
Accordingly, the Group considers prepayment risk on net profits as not material after considering any penalties
arising from prepayments.

49.5 OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss or damage arising from inadequate or failed intemal processes, people, systems,
or from external events (including legal risks). When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage
to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial losses.

To reduce operational risk, the Group has developed an Operational Risk Management framework with the
objective of ensuring that operational risks within the component of the framework is a set of core operational risk
policies designed to ensure that operational risk has proper govermance, and that it is maintained at an acceptable
level with 2 controlled and sound operating environment. The operational risk publications and guidelines were
placed on the Group’s infranet site for quick access and referrals. The critical operational risk issues were handled
by a separate Operational Risk Committee which meetings are attended by business lines Senior Managers
including the Chief Risk Officer and the General Manager.
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49 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
49.5  OPERATIONAL RISK (continued)

The framework for managing and controlling operational risks encompasses various tools including Risk and
Control Assessment {(RCA), operational risk event reporting and loss database management and key risk indicators
(KRIs). The RCA is performed by each business and support unit 1o identify key operational risks and assess the
degree of effectiveness of internal controls. Inadequate controls are subject to action plans that will help track and
timely resolve deficiencies. This tool is subject to a proactive approach to minimize operational risk loss. This is
reflected in the operational risk assessment of new products/activities/systems, protective information security and
Business Continuity Planning, granular risk analysis for its operating/existing activities, and continuous awareness
sessions.

Operational risk events are classified in accordance with Base! standards and include significant incidents that may
impact the Group's profits and reputations for further mitigation and avoidance. As to key risk indicators, they are
being established to facilitate the operational risk monitoring in a forward looking rnanner with pre-defined
escalation triggers. The Group gives particutar attention 1o preventive measures when it comes to operational risk
management and has established continuing training and awareness programs to fulfill them,

The Group's operational risk mitigation program involves both business continuity management and insurance
management program, whereby the former is set to oversee the business continuity of essential business service
during unforeseen events mainly business disruption and systern failures events - with enterprise wide impact —
along with natural disasters and terrorism/ vandalism events. As to the latter the Group purchases group wide
insurance policies to mitigate significant losses. These policies cover fraud, property damage and general liability,
and Director’s and officers’ liability.

50 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table beiow shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be
recovered or settled. The maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities at 31 December is as follows:

2019
Loss than Maore than
one year one year Total
LL miltion LL millign LL million
ASSETS
Cesh and balances with central banks 3,496,620 11,445,026 14,941,646
Nye from banks and Hnancial insututions 2.541.708 3,580 2,545,288
Loans 1o hanks and financial insttutions and reverse repurchase agreements 334,295 22,415 356,710
Denvalve financial instruments 703 - 703
Financial assets at far value through profit or loss 558 82,993 83,551
Met loans and advances 10 cuslomers 3l amonised ¢ost 3,621,497 3,092,328 6,713,825
Met loans and advances 10 relaled parties a1 amortised cost 15,428 9,128 214,356
Debtors by acceptances 143,722 11,138 154,860
Financial assels al amoised cost 872,441 6,550,095 7,422,536
Finanoal assets at fair valve throngh other cormprehensive income 16,488 226,496 242,584
Propedy, equiprnent and nght-of-use assets - 337,006 337,006
Intangible assels - 19,840 19,840
Mon-current assets held for sale - 71,682 71,682
Other assels 123,358 2,250 125,608
TOTAL ASSETS 11,166,818 21,873,577 33.040,795
LIABILITIES
Due 10 central banks 75,556 1,453,240 1,528,796
Due 1o banks and Mnancial mstitutions 719,352 460,030 1,235,392
Denvative Dinancial instruments 908 - 208
Customers” deposily al amortised cost 22,153,577 3814854 25,968,431
Deposits from related parues al amortised cost 169,833 35,801 225,634
Debt issued and other boccowed lunds 523 441,005 441,828
Engagements by acceplances 143,981 11,138 155,119
hher liabilites 217,813 138,987 356,800
Provisions for nsks and charges - 183,307 183,307
Subocdinated delb k) 429,465 429,192
TOTAL LIABILITIES 23,542,180 6,987,827 30,530,007

NET {12,375,362) 14,886,150 2,510,788
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50 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

2048
Less than More than
ane pear ane year Toial

LE mithon L1 mllion LL millron
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central banks 3,641,373 12,682,749 16,324.122
Dye from banks and (inancial wstiwtions 3.850,765 13,986 3,864,751
Loans 10 banks and (inancizl nstitutions and reverse repurchase agreerents 338263 25370 363,633
Drerivative Npangial instruments 1,599 - |,899
Financial asse1s 2t fair value through proiit or loss 450 90,040 90,490
Net Jouns and advances Lo customers at amortised cost 4,953,444 3224785 8178229
Nt toaris and advances to related parties gt amortised cost 12,664 12267 24931
Deblors by acceplances 348212 13879 362,091
Financial assets at amortised cos) 419,582 7.356.6%4 7,776,276
Finangial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 7,792 220637 228 429
Property, equipment and righi-of-use assets - 27) 963 271,963
[ntanpible assets - 17,727 17,727
Non-curent assels held for sale - 51,405 51,405
Other assets 139,632 2,250 141,882
TOTAL ASSETS 13714076 239583752 37.697 828
LIABILITIES
Due to cenral banks 58139 3812384 3,870,523
Due w banks and Dnancial institutions 907,730 358,340 1,266,070
Denrvalive financial instruments 1.802 - 1,802
Customets” geposits al amornised cost 24435808 29562334 27,418,142
Deposits from relaied panies at amartised cost 385,792 35,380 421,172
Debi 1ssued and other tormowed funds 819 450,482 451,301
Engagements by acceplances 348,22 13,879 362,091
Other tuabilities 198,049 156,728 354,777
Provisions for risks and charges - 230,423 230,423
Subordualed debl 245 426,173 426,418
TOTAL LIARILITIES 26,356,596 8,446,123 34 802,719
NET {12,642 320) 15,537,620 2,895,109

51 LITIGATION RISK

The Group may, from time to time, become involved in legal or arbitration proceedings which may affect its
operations and results. Litigation risk arises from pending or potential legal proceedings against the Group (Note
45) and in the event that legal issues are not properly dealt with by the Group. Since 17 October 2019, the Group
has been subject to an increased litigation tisk level as a result of the restrictive measures adopted by Lebanese
banks. Management has carefully considered the impact of existing litigatien and claims against the Group in
relation to these restrictive measures. While there are still uncertainties related to the consequences of these
restrictive measures, based on the current available information and the prevailing laws and local banking
practices, Management considers that the said claims seem unlikely to have a material adverse impact on the
financial position and capital adequacy of the Group.

52 POLITICAL RISK

External factors which are beyond the control of the Group, such as political developments and government
actions in Lebanon (Note 1) and other countries may adversely affect the operations of the Group, its strategy and
prospects. Other important political risk factors include government intervention on the Group’s activities and
social developments in the countries in which the Group operates, political developments in Lebanon, and the
political and social unrest and political instability or military conflict in neighbouring countries and/or other
overseas areas. Given the above, the Group recognises that unforeseen political events can have negative effects
on the fulfilment of contractual relationships and obligations of its customers and other counterparties which will
result in significant impact on Group's activities, operating results and position.
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53 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent resulting from potential stressed
situations, retain sufficient financial strength and flexibility to mect changes in capital requirements and comply
with national and international minimum regulatory capital adequacy ratios levels at all times. The adequacy of
the Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by the Basel
Commitice on Banking Supervision (BIS rules/ratios) as adopted by the Central Bank of Lebanon, which is the
iead supervisor of the Group.

The Group recognizes that the adequacy of its capital levels may come under increasing pressure should the
deteriorated operating environment be prolonged and depending also on any measures taken by the government
and the regulating authorities.

On 3 February 2020, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued Intermediary Circular 543 in which it decreased the
minimum regulatory capital adequacy ratios levels as reflected in the table below. Under the same circular, the
regulator has increased the risk weight on foreign currency exposures 1o the Central Bank of Lebanon from 50%
to 150%, excluding deposits with original maturities less than one year, which are still subject to a 50% risk
weight. The Central Bank of Lebanon also requires minimum levels of 7%, 10% and 12% for CET|, Tier 1 and
Total CAR respectively for dividends’ distributions eligibility.

The following table shows the applicable regulatory capital ratios:

Common Tier 1

Capital Ratio Tier | Capital Ratio  Total Capital Ratie

Year ended 31 December 2019 7.00% 8.50% 10.50%

Year ended 31 December 2018 10.00% 13.00% 15.00%
2019 2018
LL million LL mllion

Risk-weighted assets:

Credit risk 28,112,794 16,249,878
Market risk 462,819 468,638
Operational risk 1,220,024 1,154,454
Total risk-weighted assets 29,795,637 17,873,010

The regulatory capital as ef 31 December is as follows:

2019 2018

LL million LL mitlion

Tier 1 capital 2,115,101 2,607,124
Of which: common Tier | 1,519,170 2,011,186
Tier 2 capital 783,948 643,258
Total capital 2,899,049 3,250,382
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53 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

The capital adequacy ratio as of 31 December is as follows:

2019 2048
Capital adequacy — Common Tier 1 5.10% 11.25%
Capital adequacy - Tier | 7.10% 14.59%
Capital adequacy — Total capital 9.73% 18.19%

On 4 November 2019 the Central Bank of Lebanon issued [ntermediary Circular 532 requiring Lebanese banks
not to distribute dividends from the profiis of the financial year 2019, and to increase the regulatory capital by
20% of the cornmon equity tier 1 capital as at 31 December 2018 through cash contributiens in US Dollars, in two
phases: 10% by 31 December 2019 and another 10% by 30 June 2020. The Group did not comply with Central
Bank of Lebanon Intermediary Circular 532 towards increasing its regulatory capital by 10% by 31 December
2019; however, the process of increasing regulatory capital was initiated subsequently and put on hold during
COVID-19 crisis.

The capital adequacy ratios as at 31 December 2019 were calculated based on the recorded figures and do not take
into consideration the adjustments that will result from the resolution of the uncertainties reflected in Note 1. In
addition, the Group did not comply with Central Bank of I.cbanon Intermediary Circular 534 towards maintaining
the minimum capital adequacy ratio levels as at 31 December 2019. The Group is carrently assessing the impact
of the future effects of the economic crisis and the restructuring plan on its capital adequacy ratios, based on the
various available scenarios. However, until all uncertainties are resolved the amount of the recapitalization needs
that will be required cannot be determined presently.

54 DIVIDENDS PAID

2019 2018
LL million LL million

Dividends paid during the year

Equity dividends on ordinary shares: LL 212 per share 119,889 119,889
Distributions to preferred shares — 2008 series: US$ 8.00 per share 24,224 24224
Distributions to preferred shares — 2009 series: US$ 8.00 per share 24,224 24224
168,337 168,337
Less: dividends on treasury shares (504) (429)
167,833 167,908

In accordance with the Central Bank of Lebanon intermediary circular 532, the Board of Directors does not
propose the payment of dividends for 2019.

55 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

QOutbreak of COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and continues to have, a material impact on businesses around the world and
the economic environments in which they operate. It has caused disruption te businesses and economic activities
and increased the level of uncertainty in domestic and intemational markets. Regulators and governments across
the globe have introduced schemes to provide financial support to parts of the economy most impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic.
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55 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)

Qutbreak of COVID-19 (continued)

[n the case of the Group, similar to many entities for which the operating environment is mostty in Lebanon, the
impact of COVID-19 cannot be isolated and assessed independently from the economic crisis that the country is
witnessing, which is deseribed in Note 1. COVID-19 will add up 1o the severity of the economic downturn from
a commercial, regulatory and risk perspective. Future impairment charges, already subject to high uncertainty and
volatility due to the severe erisis in Lebanon described in Note 1, may be subject to further uncertainty and
volatility as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and related containment measures. More adverse economic
scenarios and macro-economic variables, with higher probabilities than as at 31 December 2019 will be considered
for Expected Credit Losses financial impact in the first half of 2020.

It remains unclear how this will evolve through 2020 and thereafter, and the Group continues to monitor the
situation closely. Any and all such events mentioned above will add up to the already material adverse prospects
on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations, prospects, liquidity and capital position which
is disclosed in Note 1.

Other subsequent events
Other subsequent events are disclosed in Notes 33, 36 and 37 to these consolidated financial statements.
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